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Company name

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo

Address

Avenida Vitacura 2736,
10th Floor, Las Condes,
Santiago, Chile

Chilean Tax
Identification Number:

92.604.000-6

Type of organization

Public entity created by Law N°9.618.
Republic of Chile is ENAP’s
100% Owner

Phone

(56-2) 280 3000

Fax

(56-2) 280 3199 / 280 3179

Zip code

7550597

Website

www.enap.cl

External auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Securities Register

No. 783, dictated by the Chilean
Securities and Insurance Supervisor
on October 4, 2002.

Line of Business

Hydrocarbon Exploration,
Production, and Sales.

Principal Subsidiaries

Enap Refinerías S.A.
Chilean Identification Number:
87.756.500-9
Securities Register: No. 833,
dictated by the Chilean Securities
and Insurance Supervisor on
June 25, 2004.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Chilean Identification Number:
96.579.730-0
Securities Register: No. 1005,
dictated by the Chilean Securities
and Insurance Supervisor
on June 23, 2008.
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LETTER FROM THE
CHAIRMAN OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) continues to contribute to the diversification of Chile’s energy matrix.

crisis began in the second half of 2011, which was intensely
felt in many European Union countries.

ENAP has successfully assumed the role entrusted to it by
the Chilean State of ensuring the country’s fuel supply and
working toward energy diversification through important
projects and the production of processed products at its
refineries: Aconcagua, Bío Bío, and Gregorio.

Despite all of these problems, ENAP succeeded in maintaining an uninterrupted supply of fuel for the local market
by adapting its refining capacity, increasing investments
in hydrocarbon deposit exploration and production both
in Chile and abroad, and undertaking new projects to
diversify our energy matrix.

In 2011, ENAP faced a particularly difficult scenario. After
a promising first semester with profits of 80.3 million
dollars, highly volatile market situations began to affect
the Company. The prices of crude oil and other products
oscillated greatly, resulting in a sharp drop in refining
margins. In fact, the margins dropped to the lowest levels
seen in 30 years, which strongly impacted ENAP’s results.
In addition to fluctuating prices, the international financial

“Our view of the future
remains optimistic. We seek
to continue advancing toward
our great competitive and
development goals, which
as a State-Owned company
we need to reach.”

Furthermore, through our international subsidiary, Enap
Sipetrol S.A., ENAP partnered with third parties to start
new enterprises in 2011, one of which was the noteworthy signing of the oil exploration and operation contract
for Jambelí Block 3 in the Gulf of Guayaquil, Ecuador, by
Ecuador’s Minister of Non-Renewable Natural Resources
and Chile’s Minister of Energy.
In line with our commitment to sustainability and the environment, we reached another major milestone when we
sanitized 376 pits in the Magallanes Region that contained
crude oil in the past, thus setting an important precedent
in environmental sanitation.
Accomplishing our various strategic objectives did not
happen by accident. It was the result of teamwork by
ENAP executives, professionals, and workers, all aimed at
achieving long-term goals and taking advantage of synergies
and new business opportunities.
In this context, ENAP’s progress in 2011 was satisfactory,
considering that the Company moved forward with its
projects despite the complexity of the international market.
These projects will undoubtedly prosper in the coming years,
thus continuing to contribute to Chile’s energy security.
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In 2012 ENAP must continue to maintain the country’s
fuel supply with gasoline, diesel, kerosene, and derivatives
as well as with Liquefied Natural Gas, LNG, which will be
crucial when energy options are limited.

“Our view of the future remains optimistic. We seek to
continue advancing toward our great competitive and
development goals, which as a Company of the State we
need to reach.”

As our personnel are vital to us at ENAP, this year we were
devastated to lose five of our workers. They died while
performing their duties at the Aconcagua Refinery in the
Magallanes Region and at ENAP Sipec in Ecuador.

You can count on my full support.

We are permanently committed to the safety of our personnel and our facilities. As a Board we will ensure that
all protocols for a company of this size are followed, separating us from the rest as a caring, modern, and efficient
company. We expect all of our workers to return home
safely every single day.
This year ENAP will provide new evidence demonstrating
that we can successfully overcome all obstacles.
While the earthquake in 2010 tested our ability to move
forward and restore operations in our refineries, this
year’s troubles confirmed that we are able to overcome
global problems in the refining business and international
financial constraints.
It’s a big challenge and to achieve it ENAP will have strong
support from its Board and this Chairman as well as from
the government. I take this opportunity to thank ENAP’s
board members for always looking out for the best interests
of the Company.
I’d also like to recognize our executives, workers, and union
leaders for their commitment to the many initiatives that
the Company has undertaken in important matters such as
Cost Management, Competitiveness, and Value Addition.
Lastly, one of the main challenges ahead is the restructuring of ENAP’s corporate governance, a milestone that we
must reach for the Company to remain modern, efficient,
and sustainable.
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LETTER
FROM THE
CEO
During 2011 ENAP faced a complex scenario in international
markets characterized by high volatility and distortions
in the relative prices of crude oils with different characteristics (heavy and light) and a relative appreciation in
the prices of regional crude oil to which mainly ENAP has
access. Also, in the last quarter of the year, sharp declines
in refining margins in the target market, the U.S. Gulf of
Mexico coast, occurred.
Furthermore, ENAP was affected by increases in costs
associated with the rising price of electricity, due to a
year of low hydrology, as well as by increases in prices of
natural gas and other energy sources linked to oil prices.
All of this negatively influenced ENAP’s results during the
second half of 2011, particularly in the refining business.
This situation led ENAP to react immediately by adjusting
refining levels, responding to the relative sustained rise in

“Despite the difficulties,
ENAP reinforced its leadership
in the domestic market,
becoming one of the main
providers of the country’s
energy supply.”

prices of the regional crude oil to which ENAP has access,
and meeting contractual demands by increasing finished
fuel imports.
Moreover, ENAP revised its hedging strategy for crude oil
purchases to face the new market reality characterized by
higher volatility and a separation between the traditional
prices of regional crude oil and the prices prevailing in
international markets (WTI). Lastly, ENAP launched a Cost
Management Plan to make the necessary adjustments to
improve operational efficiency and maintain the business’s
competiveness.
Despite the problems occurring in the markets, in 2011 ENAP
reinforced its leadership in the domestic market, becoming
one of the main providers of the country’s energy supply
by selling natural gas in the energy sector in addition to
selling other fuels (gasoline, diesel, fuel oil, and LNG).
In this context and as part of its Commercial Policy, which
was implemented in all of Chile’s fuel industries, ENAP managed to consolidate its position as the country’s leading
fuel supplier, putting the efforts on selling its products in
areas where its refineries has transportation and storage
facilities.
This has allowed ENAP to demonstrate the existence of an
open and competitive market in Chile, where price is an
alternative to importation, and to reduce costs through
logistics optimization.
At the international level, ENAP strengthened its alliance
with PetroEcuador by signing the exploration and operation
contract for Jambelí Block 3 in the Gulf of Guayaquil with
Ecuador’s Minister of Non-Renewable Natural Resources.
The agreement will allow ENAP to explore an area of 4,000
square kilometers, thus helping to increase potential reserves and adding value to the area’s expected production.
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Also at the international level, Enap Sipetrol in Egypt
reached a new record production of 15,000 barrels in the
East Ras Qattara Block. With this milestone Enap Sipetrol
established itself as one of the most accomplished operators in the African country. It has an excellent exploration
success rate with regard to average industry standards and
a steady growth in production levels and reserves.

in Chile and abroad demonstrated by its project portfolio.
With the contribution of our employees, we are certain
that we will overcome the problems that we faced in 2011.
To achieve this we need to continue building foundations
that allow our Company to prepare itself for short-, medium-,
and long-term challenges, making ENAP an efficient and
reliable company for all Chileans.

Also, one of the cornerstones of the 2011 plan was to explore deeper in the Magallanes Region. We obtained good
results from Teno Well No. 1 in the Arenal Block in Tierra del
Fuego, where gas flows were obtained during production
testing. We also actively worked in the Coirón Block in
partnership with Pan American, declaring it profitable and
implementing development wells at the Los Cerros deposit.
Regarding Finance highlights, ENAP successfully issued
US$ 500 million in bonds in the international debt market
and also signed a US$ 300 million syndicated loan. The
success of both transactions confirms ENAP’s easy access to
debt markets due to the support of local and international
banks, which have always understood our key role in the
domestic economy.
Unfortunately, part of the reason that 2011 was so complex was due to the fatal accidents that took place at our
operations.
We need to continue working hard to produce a culture
of occupational safety and health, which means that our
personnel need to follow established procedures, so that
we don’t have to suffer further losses of life like we did
this year.
To reach this goal, it is essential for us to continue working
together as a team, aiming toward our strategic objectives:
the safety of our personnel and of our facilities, operational and environmental reliability, and to be disciplined in
everything that we do, encouraging our workers to be motivated and enthusiastic about these important objectives.
I cannot pass up the opportunity to point out that in the
Magallanes Region our Company sanitized 376 pits that
contained crude oil, which constitutes the greatest effort
made in the country to date, a precedent for environmental
sanitation. This remediation demonstrates ENAP’s commitment to Sustainability for the Magallanes Community.
Despite the problems that we have faced, ENAP is the
country’s leading fuel supplier, contributing 38% of the
domestic energy matrix. It has a rich history of success both
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MILESTONES
May 6th
ENAP sold 40% of its participating
interest in Empresa Energía Andina
S.A., a company created in October
2008 in association with Antofagasta
Minerals S.A. to develop geothermal
energy projects in Chile. Origin Energy
Geothermal Chile Limitada, an Australian company with significant assets
for global hydrocarbon exploration,
power generation, and geothermal
energy development, bought ENAP’s

participating interest for US$ 12
million.

May 23rd
ENAP announced the discovery of
a well producing natural gas in the
Magallanes Region, Teno Well No. 1 in
the Arenal Block in Tierra del Fuego,
where gas flows were obtained during
production testing. ENAP continues
its exploration plan, which aims to
increase natural gas reserves in the
Magallanes Region with the activity
in this block as well as in the DoradoRiquelme Blocks.

June 29th
ENAP fulfilled its commitment to
supply natural gas to the VIII Region
again by opening a Liquefied Natural
Gas (LNG) Regasification Plant in the
Pemuco District. During the first stage
of the project, 1,000 cubic meters
of LNG will be picked up at the LNG
Terminal in Quintero in 25 tanker
trucks. The fuel will be re-gasified at
the plant and re-injected through the
Gasoducto del Pacífico (gas pipeline)
to ENAP’s Bío Bío Refinery to undergo
the production process. Natural gas
presents many benefits as it is cleaner
and more eco-friendly.
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Regasification
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July 22nd
Rodrigo Álvarez Zenteno was named
Minister of Energy, and consequently,
Chairman of ENAP’s Board. The Secretary of State earned his law degree
from Chile’s Pontificia Universidad
Católica and holds a Ph.D. in Law from
Universidad de Navarra in Spain as
well as a Master’s Degree in Law from
Harvard. Minister Álvarez served as
President of the Chamber of Deputies
from March 2009 to March 2010 and
he was serving as Junior Finance
Minister when he was appointed
Minister of Energy.

45
YEARS

OPERATING SINCE: 1966

100.000

barrels of crude oil
daily

July 29th
Bío Bío Refinery, operating since
1966, celebrated its 45th year. This
subsidiary processes approximately
100,000 barrels of crude oil daily. Bío
Bío Refinery and Aconcagua Refinery,
which belong to Enap Refinerías S.A.,
are the largest refineries in the Latin
American Pacific Coast, supplying
about 75% of Chile’s fuel requirements.
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August 1st

Gulf of Guayaquil. The agreement
will allow ENAP to explore an area
both offshore and on-land of 4,000
square kilometers located along the
southern coast of Ecuador in the
Gulf of Guayaquil. Adding Jambelí
Block 3 to ENAP’s portfolio of assets
in Ecuador markedly increases the
Company’s exploration area, thereby
helping to increase potential reserves
and adding value to the area’s expected
production.

Ricardo Cruzat Ochagavía, a Business
Administrator, became ENAP’s CEO,
replacing Rodrigo Azócar Hidaldgo.
Ricardo Cruzat majored in Economics
at Universidad de Chile and completed
the Senior Management Program at
Universidad de los Andes in Chile.
At the time of his appointment he
was the CEO of Transnet, an electric
transmission subsidiary of CGE Group.

August 23rd
The President of the National Federation of Oil Workers (Fenatrapech) and
ENAP’s Chairman, Jorge Matute, passed
away on August 23rd. The 60-year-old
leader played an important role as a
representative of the workers and as a
spokesman for ENAP’s administration.

September 1st
In September Enap Sipetrol in Egypt
made its 11th successful discovery,
discovering oil in the Shahd-2 well in
the East Ras Qattara Block, which is
located in a mining area of the Western
Desert. The Shahd-2 well was drilled
to a depth of 3,261 meters. During
initial tests the well produced 3,700
barrels per day.

September 12th
ENAP submitted Special Operations
Contracts (SPOC) to the Ministry of
Energy with Geopark, YPF, and Wintershall regarding five exploration
blocks in the Magallanes Region: Isla
Norte, Flamenco, Campanario, San
Sebastián, and Marazzi-Lago Mercedes.
The Secretary of State will decide to
whom the contracts will be awarded
in 2012.

October 3rd
ENAP and Ecuador’s Minister of NonRenewable Natural Resources signed
an Oil Exploration and Operation
Contract for Jambelí Block 3 in the
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November 21st

ENAP signed a US$ 300 million fiveyear syndicated loan, which has been
used to refinance liabilities and pay
operational expenses.
The loan’s applicable annual interest
rate is LIBOR +0.8%.
Thus, ENAP confirmed its access to
debt markets and demonstrated that
the local and international financial
community supports ENAP’s management and the role that ENAP plays in
the Chilean economy.
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November 25th
ENAP made a historic achievement
in environmental matters when the
Company sanitized 376 pits that
contained crude oil. The certifications
were submitted to the Minister of
Environment in Punta Arenas, María
Ignacia Benítez; the Minister of Energy
and Chairman of ENAP’s board, Rodrigo
Álvarez; and farmers in the region.
ENAP took this initiative voluntarily
and proactively, thereby continuing a
history of environmental protection
practices performed by oil companies
since the beginning of oil exploration
and exploitation in the Magallanes
Region.

With this achievement Enap Sipetrol
became one of the most successful operators in the Egyptian industry with
constantly growing production and
reserve levels as well as an outstanding
exploration success rate compared to
average industry standards. To date we
have drilled 28 wells, 19 for exploration
and 9 for development. Out of the
19 exploration wells, 11 turned out
to production, which constitutes a
success rate of almost 58%

This remediation is part of the
Company’s commitment to sustainability and to the Eighth Region’s
community.

December 5th
ENAP successfully issued US$500
million in bonds due in ten years in
the international bond market. The
issue price was 4.75% (coupon) and the
yield was 4.965%, which corresponds
to 285 basis points (2.85%) over 10year U.S. Treasury bonds.

December 28th
Enap Sipetrol in Egypt reached a new
production record of 15,000 barrels per
day in the East Ras Qattara Block after
implementing advanced production
at the Shahd SE-5 well. This block is
located in the Western Desert basin
and it is operated by PetroShahd
Company, a joint venture between
Enap Sipetrol and the Egyptian State’s
Petroleum Company, EGPC.

EGYPT

barrels per day

15.000
AFRICA

East Ras Qattara Block
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THE COMPANY
Company Profile and
Structure
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP),
a leading company in Chile, is vertically
integrated with operations focused
on production, refining, and sales of
hydrocarbons and their derivatives.
Fully owned by the Chilean State,
ENAP fulfills a strategic role in fuel
supply. Through the Company’s sales
of LNG, which arrives at the Quintero
terminal from different markets, ENAP
has become an important supporter
of the country’s energy matrix.

The Company’s operations abroad
include oil and gas production in
Ecuador, Egypt, and Argentina through
partnerships with leading companies
in the oil industry.
In Chile ENAP has two Lines of Business. One is the Exploration and
Production Line (E&P), which involves the search for and production of
hydrocarbons. The Exploration and
Production Line includes bidding for
and executing Special Operations
Contracts (Contrato Especiales de

1 EXPLORATION

Operación Petrolera or CEOP, in
spanish), which create partnerships
with ENAP to explore blocks in the
Magallanes Region. The operations
of ENAP’s international subsidiary,
Sipetrol, depend on this Line. Sipetrol
develops all of ENAP’s operations for
this Line of Business abroad.
ENAP’s other Line of Business is the
Refining Line. This Line includes the
Aconcagua, Bío Bío, and Gregorio
Refineries, at which crude oil is processed to transform it into fuel. This
Line also involves the distribution of
fuels in Peru and Ecuador.
ENAP’s administration is mainly run
from its headquarters in Santiago,
Chile.

2 PRODUCTION

Drilling
Equipment

Beam pump
Vibroseis
Mud pit
Geophone

Ondas de
impacto
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Legal constitution,
ownership, and control of
the Company

Various laws have followed that have
modified Law 9618. Its updated text
was approved by the law-ranking
decree Law No. 1 in 1986 from the
Minister of Mining.

ENAP is owned by the Chilean State.
It was established on June 19, 1950
with the publication of Law No. 9618.
Its statutes were approved by Decree
1208 issued on October 10, 1950 by
the Minister of Economy and Trade
serving at the time.

ENAP’s senior management is made up
of a Board of eight Directors headed
by the Minister of Energy, who is the
Chairman. The Vice President of the
Production Development Corporation
(CORFO), the entity that appoints
three Board Members, occupies the
Vice Chairman position. The final three
members of the board are chosen by
the following private entities: the
Industrial Development Association
(SOFOFA), the National Mining Association (SONAMI), and the Chilean
Institute of Mining Engineers (IIMCH).

The Company operates as a commercial
enterprise under public law and it is
administered independently. It has its
own legal equity and personality and
it communicates with the government
through the Ministry of Energy and
the Ministry of Finance. The latter
deals with budgetary matters.

3 TRANSPORTATION LOGISTICS

4 REFINING

5 DISTRIBUTION
20ºC
GAS

LIGHT GASES
PROPANE

Topping

OIL
400ºC

Oil Tankers

Gas
separation

150ºC
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GASOLINE
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cracker

200ºC
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Hydrodesulfurization

300ºC
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Vacuum
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Hydrogen
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Cracking
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NAPHTA
ETHYLENE
PROPYLENE
GASOLINE
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DIESEL
Blend
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Historic Summary
ENAP’s history is closely linked to
Chile’s development and its particular
geography.
Although the Company was officially
created by the State on June 19, 1950,
it was predicted to be a strategic asset
for Chile long before that.
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Prior to existing as a Company, a
heroic group of CORFO workers, led
by the engineer Eduardo Simián,
brought forth the first jet of oil in
Springhill, Tierra del Fuego, on December 29, 1945. It was Simián’s team
who recommended the creation of a
company to commercially explore oil
wells discovered in the southern zone.
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Thus, from the very beginning, ENAP’s
workers realized that their contribution to Chile’s development would be
more than just hydrocarbons. Over the
years the Company demonstrated that
the Magallanes Region was a strategic
center for development with liquid
fuel production and gas treatment
in small volumes in the Manantiales
area. The Company was ready for the
next step.
On November 12, 1955 under President
Carlos Ibañez del Campo, the Concón
Oil Refinery, which is now the Aconcagua Refinery, was inaugurated. Its
goal was to produce fuels on a large
scale and begin competing in the
commercial and industrial refining
business. When a critical mass of
customers in Central Chile was reached, a Storage Plant in Maipú was
built (1959), which was connected to
a pipeline to carry the oil derivatives
to the Metropolitan Region.

On July 29, 1966 a second refinery was
launched in Talcahuano, which today
is known as the Bío Bío Refinery, and
two storage terminals were built. ENAP
declared itself of age to define itself as
a company dedicated to oil exploration
and exploitation in addition to fuel
refining, storage, and sales.
In 1981 a new Logistics business was
created and the transformation into
a holding company began. Once its
various business areas were consolidated, ENAP opened business abroad
with the creation of the Sociedad
Internacional Petrolera S.A. in May of
1990, which was later named Sipetrol.
Sipetrol has had exploration success
in Ecuador, Argentina, and Egypt. In
2004, the refineries in the V and VIII
Regions, together with the subsidiary
responsible for the storage of fuels,
EMALCO, merged into one company:
Enap Refinerías S.A.

In October of 2009, the Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) terminal in Quintero
was inaugurated, which was the result
of a partnership with British Gas (BG),
Endesa, and Metrogas. It marked a
milestone in ENAP’s development as
an integrated company in the energy
sector. The LNG that arrives in Quintero has been gaining ground in the
domestic energy matrix, demonstrating
that ENAP is a key player in all stages
of the energy business.
In 2007 the Company began a vigorous
exploration campaign to find new oil
and gas reserves in the Magallanes Region through political alliances called
Special Operations Contracts (CEOP).
In 2011 a new stage began when ENAP
submitted contracts to the Ministry
of Energy with Geopark, Wintershall,
and YPF for five blocks, which could
begin operating in 2012
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Remuneration for the
executive staff

Compensations

Variable Remuneration
System

The remuneration paid in 2011 to
ENAP’s executive staff and affiliates
totaled CLP 3,287 million. This included
the following 25 management positions, which existed as of December
31, 2011: CEO, Line of Business Managers, ENAP Headquarter Managers,
Magallanes Region Managers, and
positions at Enap Refinerías S.A. and
Enap Sipetrol S.A.

In 2011 the Company paid its top
executives compensation for years
of service totaling CLP 86 million.

ENAP has a Variable Remuneration
System (VRS), which applies to its
executives. It takes Company results
as well as the completion of individual
and area objectives into account to
determine the incentive.

BOARD MEMBER SALARIES
IDENTIFICATION NUMBER

NAME

POSITION

FIGURES IN PESOS - 2011

FIGURES IN PESOS - 2010

CURRENT BOARD
8.283.133-9

Rodrigo Álvarez Zenteno

Chairman

-

-

6.375.408-0

Hernán Cheyre Valenzuela

Vice Chairman

-

-

7.246.745-0

Felipe Morandé Lavín

Board Member

7,282,389

-

6.902.930-2

Iván Pérez Pavez

Board Member

7,562,629

4,506,838

4.643.327-0

Rodolfo Krause Lubascher

Board Member

9,209,862

8,457,179

5.899.198-8

Ramón Jara Araya

Board Member

-

-

7.033.701-0

Carlos Díaz Vergara

Board Member
24,054,880

12,964,017

Subtotal

IDENTIFICATION NUMBER

NAME

POSITION

-

FIGURES IN PESOS - 2011

FIGURES IN PESOS - 2010

PREVIOUS BOARD MEMBERS
8.170.562-3

Laurence Golborne Riveros*

Chairman

725,287

-

7.006.275-5

Ricardo Raineri Bernain

Chairman

-

-

6.499.284-8

Santiago González Larraín

Chairman

-

-

5.334.581-6

Jorge Matute Matute

Board Member

2,350,095

7,747,802

6.376.183-4

Manuel Francisco Gana Eguiguren

Board Member

3,138,941

3,328,142

7.478.702-9

Axel Christensen de la Cerda

Board Member

-

4,197,140

5.433.767-1

Miguel Moreno García

Board Member

-

4,190,036

Carlos Álvarez Voullieme

Director Board Member

8.970.274-7

-

-

Subtotal

6,214,323

19,469,120

Totales

30,269,203

32,433,137

(*) Both ENAP’s Chairman and Board Member at different times.
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ORGANIZATIONAL
STRUCTURE
ENAP’S BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
CHAIRMAN OF THE
BOARD

Rodrigo Álvarez
Zenteno

AUDIT

María Inés
Garrido Sepúlveda

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Ricardo Cruzat
Ochagavía

CORPORATE
AFFAIRS

COMUNICATIONS

Patricia Silva
Espinosa

Pedro Urzúa Frei

MARKETING
MANAGER
(SALES)

Julio Bertrand
Planella

LEGAL
COUNSEL

Patricio Véliz
Möller

CHIEF OF
EXPLORATION AND
PRODUCTION –
ENAP SIPETROL S.A.

Rodrigo Bloomfield
Sandoval

26

CHIEF
FINANCIAL
OFFICER

HUMAN
RESOURCES
MANAGER

PLANNING AND
CONTROL
MANAGER

Hernán
Errázuriz Cruzat

Christian
Kúsulas Cervelló

Pedro Barría
Schulz

LOGISTICS
MANAGER

SERVICES
MANAGER

Gastón
Schofield Lara

Víctor Silva
Núñez

CHIEF OF REFINING &
LOGISTICS
ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A.

Carlos Cabeza Faúndez

ANNUAL REPORT - 2011
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ENAP’S BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chairman of the Board

Board Members

Rodrigo Álvarez Zenteno
Attorney
Chilean Identification
No. 8.170.562-3
Minister of Energy

Rodolfo Krause Lubascher
Chemical Engineer
Chilean Identification
No. 4.643.327-0
Chosen by the Industrial
Development Association (SOFOFA)

Felipe Morandé Lavín
Economist
Chilean Identification
No. 7.246.745-0
Designated by the Production
Development Corporation (CORFO)
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CHAPTER 1

A COMPLEX YEAR: 2011

ENAP’S INTERNATIONAL PRESENCE

ECUADOR
• MDC and PBHI Blocks
• Primax

EGYPT
• East Ras Qattara Block
• Rommana Block
• 8 Block,
Sidi Abd El Rahman

PERÚ
• MANU
• Primax

CHILE
• Santiago Headquarters
• Aconcagua Refinery
• Bío Bío Refinery
• Maipú, San Fernando,
and Linares Plants
• ENAP in the
Magallanes Region
• Easter Island
Vinapu Fuel Storage
Terminal
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ARGENTINA
• Sipetrol Office in Buenos Aires
• Sipetrol Office in Río Gallegos
• Sipetrol Office in Comodoro Rivadavia
• Austral Basin (CAM is the abbreviation for this
basin in Spanish):
- Magallanes Area Block
- CAM 2-A South
- E2 (formerly CAM 1-CAM 3)
• San Jorge Gulf basin:
- Campamento Central-Cañadón Perdido Block
- Pampa del Castillo-La Guitarra Block
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A COMPLEX YEAR: 2011

ENAP PRODUCTS

Butane
LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM
GAS (LPG)
Propane
97 octane gasoline
GASOLINE

97 octane gasoline
Aviation gasoline

Diesel grade A1
Household kerosene
Diesel B

KEROSENE
Aviation kerosene JET A1

DIESEL

Turpentine
Xylene

Antarctic diesel
SOLVENTS

Marine Diesel

White gas
Fuel oil n°6

Mining
solvents

Marine fuel
IFO 380

FUEL OILS

Ethylene
PETROCHEMICALS

Marine fuel
IFO 180

Propylene
SULPHUR
Industrial and
household
natural gas

Impermeabilizers
ASPHALTS

NATURAL GAS
Natural
Liquefied Gas

Asphalts cements

CRUDE OIL

NATURAL GAS

HYDROCARBONS
Fuels

32

Industrial Products

Petrochemicals and Natural Gas
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Personnel and
Organization
Management
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CHAPTER 2

PERSONNEL AND ORGANIZATION MANAGEMENT

Initiatives associated with the strategic objective “to develop critical
technical skills” cover a wide range of
actions, from designing an external
selection strategy to accommodating
the requirements of each process to
internally develop skills. One initiative
involves defining succession plans by
adjusting the focus on people as well
as the roles or processes according
to the nature of the organization’s
requirements and capacities.

Competencies and skills
In 2011 the critical skills of a group
of people working on three critical
processes, Sales, Production, and
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Exploration, were measured. After
analyzing the results, the focuses
for personnel development in critical
business matters were established
for 2012.
Also, 500 people in supervisory roles
had their managerial skills in core
competencies measured. The results
will allow ENAP to implement actions
to reduce knowledge gaps regarding
requirements for each process.
By measuring the skills of these
supervisors, concrete data was obtained to analyze the effectiveness
of the initiatives that were carried
out previously and to reinforce the
initiatives that had the best results.
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Performance Management
System

generate a succession strategy for
the priority group.

With regard to the Performance Management System, much of the work
in 2011 was focused on implementing
improvements to the technology
platform to ensure the reliability of
the information and provide a source
validated by the rest of the Business
Units.

Each selected critical position will have
a succession strategy with internal
candidates who, by means of specific
development plans, will be ready to
cover future planned vacancies.

Responding to the “Performance Management” strategic objective, ENAP’s
integrated system seeks continuous
improvement of individual and team
performance.

Corporate Managers performed the
survey and analysis of the Line of
Business and the Business Units in
consultation with Human Resources.

In 2011, 2,412 people participated,
corresponding to 95% of the total
workforce as of December 31st.

Succession Management
In 2011 the Succession Management
Model, which was created the year before, was implemented. The model aims
to ensure coverage and continuity of
critical positions in the Organization.
During the first stage, the project
was focused on critically analyzing
120 of ENAP’s executive and highly
specialized positions according to
their contribution to the business
and their vulnerability in order to

35

CHAPTER 2

PERSONNEL AND ORGANIZATION MANAGEMENT

Training
The training focused heavily on
technical and management issues
according to the guidelines established
for 2011. Also, the Company has been
progressively working on its ability
to perform internal training activities
to take advantage of its own experts.
ENAP’s training rate in 2011 was 2.2%.
The total number of participants involved in training activities was 4,528.

ENAP’S TRAINING RATE PER BUSINESS UNIT IN 2011

ENAP Magallanes
Region

TRAINING
RATE

Aconcagua
Refinery

Bío Bío Refinery

ENAP’s Average
Rate in 2011

1.0 % 0.8% 2.3 % 4.7% 2.2%

(*) Training Rate: training hours / total hours hired
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ENAP
Santiago-Sipetrol
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the CORFO InnovaChile fund for its
“Competition to Encourage Innovation
Management in Chilean Companies.”
This contest has the following objectives: to teach comprehensive
innovation skills, to generate a critical
mass of leaders in ENAP’s Business
Units, and to create a project portfolio to incorporate in the Company a
culture aligned with its strategy to
create added value with the defined
initiatives.
The project aims to develop four areas
of action: i) Training, ii) Specialized
Consulting, iii) Dissemination, and
iv) Panel of Experts.
Furthermore, the Innovation Committee was formed, which is presided
over by the CEO and composed of
chief ENAP executives. Its role is to
define and support innovation goals
and innovative projects.

Innovation and
Knowledge Management
ENAP’s Innovation and Knowledge
Center (CICE), which aims to promote and develop innovation and
knowledge methodologies, practices,
and projects, developed a series of
initiatives focused on filling in the
gaps in the participants’ knowledge
and/or strengthening participants’
required knowledge and skills for
the business.
Regarding Knowledge Management,
the CICE, together with Managers
and Lines of Business, designed and
developed the following Training
Programs:
a. Refining Processes Training Program
for Corporate Auditors – conducted in

March by ENAP staff for all corporate
auditors.
b. Strategic Induction Program for
new professionals and executives
–attended by all new employees at
ENAP Santiago and Enap Sipetrol since
August of 2010. The educators of this
program are managers and executives
in Corporate Management and Lines
of Business.
c. Second Workshop Conference on
Risk and Safety at Aconcagua Refinery
and Bío Bío Refinery – developed in
August for Operational Management
professionals at both refineries. The
educators at this workshop were Marsh
executives and technical experts.
Regarding Innovation Management,
ENAP presented the project “Incorporation of Comprehensive Skills for
Innovation Management” and won

The following innovation management
activities were conducted in 2011:
1.-Formation of ENAP’s Innovation
Committee. 2.-Formation of the
Innovation Task Force. 3.-Training in
universities. 4.-Innovation Consulting.
5.-Surveys and interviews with top
executives. 6.-Workshops to define
needs, trends, and capabilities. 7.-Innovation workshop on focus proposals.
8.-Panel of experts. 9.-First Innovation Committee. 10.-Beginning of
dissemination to Manager and Trade
Unions. 11.-Challenge and Validation
Prioritization Workshop for Managers.
Also with regard to innovation management, ENAP participated in the contest
“Awards for Operational Innovation”
organized by Ceop Consulting and
sponsored by CORFO’s InnovaChile.
ENAP’s initiative “Alternative Fuel for
Cement Kilns” earned the “Outstanding
Project” award.
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Regarding Technical Assistance and
Collaboration Networks that contribute
to the positioning of science and technology systems both nationally and
internationally, the CICE organized a
technical program for 20 MBA students
at Houston University , United States
to visit Aconcagua Refinery to learn
about its facilities and its operational
processes.
Also regarding technical training, the
CICE designs and develops Training
and Benchmarking Programs for
companies in the industry. In 2011 it
developed 5 Technical Visit Programs
for 17 executives and professionals
from SONANGOL, Angola’s state
refinery, who work in the following
departments: Senior Management,
Legal, Industrial Safety, Human Resources, Procurement, Information
Technology, and Maintenance.
With regard to ARPEL (the Regional
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Association of Oil, Gas, and Biofuels
Sector Companies in Latin America and
the Caribbean), the CICE continued
to participate actively in the Human
Talent and Knowledge Management
Committee in order to complete the
initiatives set for 2011.
Through the CICE, ENAP participated
in the first “Innovation and Competitiveness Program under Cooperation
between the Chilean Government and
the European Union“ (AGCI or Chilean
Agency for International Cooperation),
by submitting its project “Strengthening the Domestic Energy Market”
(FIPME). The project’s main goal is to
further understanding of the energy
market and develop the institutional
capacity necessary to optimize policies
targeted at improving the country’s
competitiveness by encouraging the
development of a more competitive
and efficient energy market.

ENAP · ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Collective Negotiations
In 2011 seven collective negotiations
occurred at ENAP, five of which were
conducted simultaneously in May.
These negotiations were completed
with the Workers’ Union for ENAP
Santiago, Enap Sipetrol, ENAP-Petrox,
Aconcagua Refinery, and Emalco.
Later, in June, negotiations were
held with the Aconcagua Refinery’s
Professional Union and in September
negotiations were held with ENAP
Magallanes’s Professional Union.
All of these processes were conducted
in an open dialogue, which allowed
the Company to reach agreements in
each situation. New agreements for
a term of 3 years, and in one case 40
months, were signed.

ENAP EXECUTIVES AND WORKERS
ENAP EXECUTIVES AND WORKERS (Chile + Sipetrol Abroad)
LINE OF BUSINESS

MANAGER

DEPARTMENT

WORKERS (Professionals and Techni-

HEAD/DIRECTOR

cians)

ENAP Santiago

9

48

154

211

ENAP Magallanes Region

3

16

772

791

ERSA Aconcagua

5

21

759

785

ERSA Bio Bio

5

19

651

675

Sipetrol

5

13

67

85

International Subsidiaries (1)

4

22

323

349

ENAP Total

31

139

2726

2896

(1) Includes ENAP’s subsidiary Manu Perú and Sipetrol subsidiaries in Argentina, Ecuador, and Egypt.
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TOTAL
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BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

International market
situation
In 2011 the global demand for oil
grew by one million barrels per day
(MMbpd) compared to 2010, totaling
88.1 MMbpd. Meanwhile the supply
increased from 0.5 MMbpd to 87.6
MMbpd. The 500,000 bpd deficit was
supplied by inventory destocking.

WORLD OIL MARKET FROM 2010-2011

Figures are expressed
in million of oil barrels
per day

2010

2011

DEMAND

88.1

87.1

1.0

OECD

45.7

46.1

-0.4

Non-OECD

42.4

41.0

1.4

SUPPLY

87.6

87.1

0.5

Former Soviet Union

13.4

13.2

0.2

Non-OPEC

38.4

38.6

-0.2

5.9

5.5

-0.4

OPEC crude oil

29.9

29.8

0.1

INVENTORY VARIANCE

-0.5

0.0

OPEC LNG and Condensed
gases

VARIANCE

Source: U.S. Department of Energy, “Short Term Energy Outlook, January 2011”

LGlobal demand grew following the
expansion of global economic activity
in 2011 by approximately 2.9% according to the U.S. Department of Energy.
The growth in demand is concentrated in emerging economies with an
increase of 1.4 MMbpd, while the
consumption of the Organization for
Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), which represents the
most developed countries, fell by
400,000 bpd.
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As for the oil supply, OPEC’s total
supply of crude oil, condensed gases,
and natural gas liquids increased by
500,000 bpd, while the non-OPEC
supply did not grow
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Price of crude oil
In 2011 Brent crude oil averaged
110.90 US$/bbl at the London Intercontinental Exchange (ICE), an
increase of 38.1% from the level in
2010 (80.30 US$/bbl).
Also in 2011 the price of oil reached a
record high both in terms of current
dollars and constant 2010 dollars,
surpassing levels seen in 2008.

PRICE OF OIL 1971 - 2011 (1971 – 1983 Arab Light, 1984 – 1999 Dated Brent, 2000 – 2011 ICE Brent)
Current US $

US $ in 2010

120
100

US$/bbl

80
60
40
20
0
2011

2009

2007

2005

2003

2001

1999

1997

1995

1993

1991

1989

1987

1985

1983

1981

1979

1977

1975

1973

1971

Sources: 1971 – 1999: BP Statistical Review of World Energy 2011; 2000 – 2011: Produced in-house

The Brent price, expressed in 2010 dollars, reached 107.50 US$/bbl in 2011, up from 98.50 US$/bbl in 2008.

43

CHAPTER 3

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

Brent vs. WTI

at the U.S. Gulf of Mexico coast. Consequently, the WTI price commanded
a premium relative to Brent and other
crude oils of similar quality to induce
the flow of oil from the international
market to the U.S. Midwest.

In 2011 the North Sea crude oil marker,
Brent, regained prominence as a unique
reference to the price of oil in the global
market due to a structural oversupply
in the U.S. Midwest. Since then, the
West Texas Intermediate marker (WTI)
has been selling at a discount to Brent,
instead of the premium at which this
crude American oil had usually traded
relative to Brent.

In the past two years unconventional oil
production has increased significantly
in the Midwest. Shale oil, which has
sold almost entirely in the Cushing
area, has weakened the WTI price due
to its increased supply in the area. In
early 2011 there was an also increase
in the offer of crude oil in the Midwest
when new oil pipelines began to bring
in substantially more Canadian crude
oil to Cushing, thereby competing
directly with the WTI.

WTI crude oil is produced in Texas,
stored in a large storage facility in
Cushing (Oklahoma), and sold in the
U.S. Midwest, mainly in Illinois and
Kansas. Historically, local production
and imports from Canada were not
sufficient to meet refinery demands in
the region. The shortfall was supplied
from the international market and
transported via pipelines from oil ports

excess crude oil from the Midwest to
the major refining center at the U.S.
Gulf of Mexico’s coast.
As a result, the WTI price was out of
line with the prices of international
market crude oils, which are usually
transported by sea and are not subject
to logistical constraints. WTI oil, which
historically was traded at a slight premium over Brent, was now traded at
times at a discount of over 26 US$/bbl
relative to Brent. On average in 2011,
the price of WTI was lower than Brent
by 15.80 US$/bbl.

All of the above led to a depreciation
in WTI oil, due to the oversupply and
the lack of infrastructure to take the

WTI (NYMEX) MINUS BRENT (ICE) 2010-2011
5

Dec-11

Nov-11

Oct-11

Sep-11

Aug-11

Jul-11

Jun-11

May-11

Apr-11

Mar-11

Feb-11

Jan-11

Dec-10

Nov-10

Oct-10

Sep-10

Aug-10

Jul-10

Jun-10

May-10

Apr-10

Mar-10

-10

Feb-10

US$/bbl

-5

Jan-10

0

-15
-20
-25
-30

Thus, although the price of WTI crude oil increased along with the rest of the oil market, its increase was much smaller than
that of crude oils in the international market. It increased 19.5%, from 79.60 US$/bbl in 2010 to 95.10 US$/bbl in 2011.
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Changes in crude oil
prices throughout the
year
Although a comparison between years
shows a large increase in oil prices,
three sub periods are clearly marked
during 2011: (i) The January-April
period, during which a steep upward
period prevailed, bringing the price
of Brent from 94.80 to 125.90 US$/
bbl (the highest value of the year was
recorded on April 29th), with an average of 109.70 US$/bbl. The increase
reflected a strong economic recovery
in the U.S. with regard to demand, a
high growth in Asia’s emerging economies, and an insufficient supply due
to Libya’s civil war. (ii) The May-July
period, during which the price fell

sharply from its peak in April to an
average level of 115.30 US$/bbl. This
was due to the deceleration of the
U.S. economy and the worsening of
Greece’s fiscal crisis, which produced a
stagnation in Europe. Meanwhile, the
lack of Libyan crude oil could not be
offset by increased production from
other sources, and (iii) The period from
August to December, during which the
price dropped, stabilizing at around
109.40 US$/bbl. The price fluctuated
greatly at times while the European
fiscal crisis continued without a solution and the U.S. economy showed
signs of a recession, thereby reducing
demand. Also, the greatest amount
of Arab crude oil production began
to enter the market, mitigating the
lack of Libyan crude oil.

BRENT PRICE (ICE) 2011

140
130

The Greek fiscal crisis affects
other countries and a replacement
for Libyan crude oil is not found

The crisis affects all of Europe,
the States slows, and more Arab
production enters the market

The Arab Spring and
the Libyan Revolution

US$/bbl

120
110
100
90
80
Jan
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Prices of the main fuels
derived from oil in 2011
The prices of fuels refined from oil
in the U.S. Gulf Coast’s international
market rose between 2010 and 2011, in
general following the Brent crude oil
price trend, although the percentage
increases were smaller.
For gasoline the price rose 33.6%,
from 86.20 to 115.20 US$/bbl. The
price of diesel went up 37.6% from
90.70 to 124.80 US$/bbl. The price
of No. 6 fuel oil increased 37.2% from
69.80 to 95.80 US$/bbl.

PRICE OF FUELS IN THE U.S. GULF OF MEXICO COAST MARKET IN 2011
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Domestic market

year. Again, higher consumption is
explained by the increase in the GDP,
since the real price for the end user
went up by 11%.

In 2011 the domestic consumption
of refined oil products reached 18.34
million cubic meters, equivalent
to 316,000 barrels per day (bpd),
which was an increase of 3.4% over
the previous year. The increase in
consumption is mainly explained by
the expansion of economic activity. It
is estimated that the real growth of
Chile’s GDP in 2011 was 6.3%, which
offset the negative impact of higher
prices for different products.
By analyzing the variation of consumption per product in relation to
2010, we see an increase in gasoline
consumption as well as in the consumption of the rest of the products,
although with significant differences
in the growth rates.
In 2011 total diesel consumption rose
1.5% to 8.94 million cubic meters
(154,000 bpd), thus remaining the
most individually consumed product
in Chile. The real price of diesel for
the final consumer increased 16% in
2011, which partly explains why this
fuel’s demand grew much less than
the GDP.
Domestic consumption of vehicle
gasoline was the second highest individually consumed product with 3.67
million cubic meters (63,200 bpd), up
2.2% from 2010’s level. The increase
of 12% in the real price of gasoline
for the final consumer had a negative
impact on supply, although less than
its positive effect on economic growth.
Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) became
the third most important product
with regard to consumption with 2.09
million cubic meters (36,000 bpd),
an increase of 1.8% over the previous
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Fuel oil consumption in 2011 increased
by 7.9% to 1.86 million cubic meters
(32,100 bpd). Increased domestic activity made the consumption of fuel
oil grow in industrial uses by 11.2%
and the consumption of marine fuel
by 4.2%.
Total kerosene consumption increased by 5.1% in 2011 to 1.19 million
cubic meters (20,500 pbd). Aviation
kerosene was mainly responsible for

the increase, which went up by 7.4%,
while domestic kerosene consumption
decreased by 7.6%.
Lastly, the consumption of non-fuel
industrial products, such as solvents,
olefins (basic raw materials for the
petrochemical industry), asphalt
products, and others, totaled 0.59
million cubic meters (10,100 bpd)
with an increase of 38.2% from 2010.
This resulted in an overall increase in
the consumption of different types
of products, thereby recovering from
the low levels seen in 2010 as a result
of the earthquake and tsunami on
February 27th of the same year.

DOMESTIC CONSUMPTION
2011

2010

VARIATION

Mm3

Mm3

2011/2010

Liquefied petroleum gas

2,090

2,053

1.8%

Vehicle gasoline

3,667

3,588

2.2%

Kerosene

1,192

1,134

5.1%

Diesel

8,936

8,802

1.5%

Fuel Oil

1.864

1.727

7,9%

586

424

38,2%

1,864

1,727

7.9%

Industrial products and others
TOTAL
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
Strategy
Sustainable Development is one of the
four cornerstones of ENAP Holding’s
Strategic Plan. ENAP’s value proposition aims to be integrated with the
community and to be environmentally
responsible.
To accomplish its mission ENAP aspires
to “to be recognized as a leader in
sustainable development” and to foster
corporate management that maximizes
economic, social, and environmental
value creation.
To meet its Sustainable Development
strategic objective, ENAP has adopted
the Corporate Social Responsibility
(CSR or RSE, in spanish) management
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approach, which aims to strengthen
ENAP’s relationship with its stakeholders in the areas where it operates,
both in Chile and abroad, under shared
guidelines previously defined by all
involved. Thus, ENAP has established a
Corporate Sustainability Policy, which
was approved by the Sustainability
Committee in 2011 and submitted to
the Board of Directors for approval in
the January 2012 session.
The Policy sets the framework for
Sustainability Development and CSR
management based on global standards and international certification
protocols. The framework consists
of thirteen commitments regarding
legal compliance; ethical behavior;
creating shared value; occupational
health and safety; societal contribu-

tion; community involvement and
development; customer satisfaction;
fair operational and labor practices;
respect for human rights; and safe, socially- and environmentally-responsible
operations, all of which form part
of a precautionary and eco-efficient
approach.
In 2011 the Company was provided
with a structure that comprehensively addresses CSR’s management by
strategically creating Social Responsibility Committees and Sustainability
Offices at the Aconcagua and Bío Bío
Refineries. The Company depends on
these groups, who report to corporate
offices, to ensure compliance with
ENAP’s policies and strategies for
sustainability.
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Sustainability
Reports
Since 2005 ENAP has annually published its Sustainability Report under
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)
standard. The 2010 Report, which was
released in 2011, reached the highest
level of GRI application, A+, which
was verified externally.
ENAP’s published Sustainability Report
contains more information regarding
economic, social, and environmental
performance. It is available at www.
enap.cl.

Support for external
initiatives
Since 2006 ENAP has adhered to the
United Nations Global Compact and its
ten principles regarding Human Rights,
Labor Practices, the Environment, and
Anti-Corruption. ENAP has annually
reported its progress applying each
principle through a Communication
on Progress (COP). Locally, ENAP is
a member of the Board of Directors
of the Global Compact Focal Point in
Chile and participates actively in its
different committees.
In 2011 ENAP joined Acción RSE
as an active partner. This Chilean
foundation’s mission is “to create
awareness and get companies to
manage their businesses in a socially
responsible manner by helping their
leaders and collaborators to include
Sustainable Development Logic in
their strategy.” Acción RSE’s vision
is “to contribute to making Chile a
developed, sustainable, and inclusive
country with a better society and a
happier population.”
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Consultation and
participation of
stakeholders
ENAP has established formal spaces
for dialogue and involvement in order
to build and maintain relationships
of trust and mutual benefit with its
stakeholders.

Meanwhile, in the Fifth Region
Aconcagua Refinery has a Tripartite
Environmental Round Table, which
it created in 2003. This round table
includes representatives from the
Community, the Municipality, and the
Company. These three parties meet to
promote dialogue, build confidence,
and to work together to address issues
regarding the Company’s operation.

For example, the Bío Bío Refinery’s
Tripartite Environmental Round Table
created in 1997 is one of the first of
its kind in the country and ENAP
Holding’s first. Local authorities, company representatives, and community
representatives participate in it. In
2011 it maintained its duties, which
include monthly meetings, visits to the
plant, and the issuance of bulletins.
At the same time, a review process of
the round table was initiated in order
to expand its local representation.

During these meetings, they agreed
to five guided tours of the refinery for
community residents and leaders. This
initiative forms part of the relaunch
of Aconcagua Refinery’s open door
policy and ongoing dialogue with the
community, which aim to improve
communication with the community
and to educate residents regarding
the refinery’s main operations, environmental management, Emergency
Response System, among other matters
of interest to residents.

Another opportunity for dialogue in
the Eighth Region is at the round table
held by Bío Bío Artisanal Fishermen’s
Federation, which was initiated in
2007. Representatives from San Vicente Bay’s artisanal fishermen and
from the Bío Bío Refinery participate
in the round table to strengthen
their relationship by collaborating in
development facilitation and in the
promotion of projects that benefit
the artisanal fishing sector.

During October and November, Aconcagua Refinery set up three days of
visits to the plant, during which
members of the community could
learn about the Refinery’s operations

and express their concerns regarding
its operations and their impact on the
environment. They were able to tour
the plant, including the control room.
In the Magallanes Region managing
community relations primarily involves communicating with farmers
in the region, in particular with the
owners of the land on which ENAP
operates. Dialogue processes are
developed, which aim to ensure that
oil and gas activities are conducted
in harmony with livestock activities
by strengthening relationships with
community members and managing the
environmental and social risk impact
associated with the Company’s activities in the region of influence (ROI).
The year’s highlights include negotiating with farms in the area to get 34
servitudes to drill wells, 20 servitudes
to build pipelines, and 11 servitudes
to construct roads on Tierra del Fuego
Island and on the mainland. They also
negotiated to get authorizations to
implement about 16 pipelines repair
activities.

All of the development projects
agreed upon had been completed,
but periodic meetings were still held
in 2011 between FEREPA Bío Bío and
ENAP to create a new plan for future
tasks. ENAP also assisted with the
seminar that FEREPA Bío Bío held in
August in the Eighth Region called
“Challenges in the Fishing Sector due
to New Legislation.”
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Global Flyway Network South America.
Their research is key to revealing the
reasons for the decline of this migratory species and it is also generating
the information needed to plan its
recovery and conservation.
The program was conducted in partnership with the Ministry of Environment,
Santo Tomás University, and Chile’s
Wildlife Conservation Society. It has
facilitated workspaces and technical
support to complete a Management
Plan, which is unprecedented in Chile,
as well as to define strategies and
programs for effective conservation
of the area for the next ten years.

Biodiversity
As part of its Corporate Sustainability
and environmental protection plan,
ENAP has focused on biodiversity conservation by creating a Program for the
Sustainable Use of Wetlands in 2007.
This initiative aims to promote the
effective conservation of wetlands in
regions of influence affected by ENAP
operations (Aconcagua: Aconcagua
River estuary wetland, Bío Bío: Lenga
wetland, and the Magallanes Region:
Lomas Bay wetland).
To conserve the Lomas Bay wetland,
decisions were made to devise a
Management Plan, support scientific
investigation, and implement the “Lomas Bay Center” project. ENAP signed
a co-management agreement with
Primavera Municipality, Santo Tomás
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University, and the Manomet Center
for Conservation Sciences in the U.S.
and these parties became the project’s
Management Committee, providing
support and strategic guidance to run
the Center. The Center’s objective is
to serve as a forum for the promotion
and implementation of science, education, and local development measures
associated with the conservation of
this globally important wetland.
Furthermore, with regard to scientific investigation, the Program has
continued to supply logistical support
for field campaigns and aerial surveys
to monitor a nearly endangered bird
called the Red Knot (Calidris cannutus
rufa) in Lomas Bay. Hours of helicopter flights, lodging, and meals have
been provided for senior researchers
from the National Wildlife Research
Center, Environment Canada, and

The program’s initiative aims to
strengthen environmental conservation capabilities. It has sponsored and
technically supported the sixth and
seventh editions of the “Conservation
of the Metropolitan Region’s Wetlands
Workshop,” held at the Faculty of Ecology and Natural Resources at Andrés
Bello University. The initiative has
trained over 300 people, including
public service representatives, municipal government staff, companies’
employees, professionals from different
disciplines, and university students.
ENAP has also partnered with the
Ministry of Environment and Concón
Municipality to build the foundation
of an effective conservation process
for the Aconcagua River estuary wetland. It has established three strategic
goals: 1) to have this estuary wetland
declared a municipal natural reserve 2)
to develop an environmental zoning
for the area, and 3) to implement a
Wetland Education and Marine Wildlife
Rehabilitation and Rescue Center.
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Environmental Liabilities
Sanitation
In 2011 the Company reached a major
milestone by sanitizing 376 pits that
contained crude oil. The certifications
were submitted to the Minister of
Environment in Punta Arenas, María
Ignacia Benítez, the Minister of Energy
and Chairman of ENAP’s Board, Rodrigo
Álvarez, and farmers in the region.

The certification ceremony for the
sanitization of the pits was held
in Punta Arenas. The Mayor, Arthur
Storaker, attended as did members
of parliament, community leaders,
businessmen, and of course, representatives of the Magallanes community.
The Sanitation of Environmental
Liabilities Program began in 2005.
This initiative was started voluntarily
and proactively, thereby continuing a

history of environmental protection
practices performed by oil companies,
both nationally and internationally,
in the areas that they operate since
the beginning of oil exploration and
exploitation.
It is the largest environmental sanitation effort ever made in the country, thereby setting a precedent. At
the same time, the media campaign
“Managing Changes in HSE” created
a cultural shift within ENAP. The
campaign promotes cultural, behavioral, and operational changes by
internalizing good environmental,
health, safety, and quality practices
according to the policies established
by the Company to produce business
sustainability.
The Program was developed with the
assistance of various institutions and
organizations, such as environmental
authorities, la Universidad de Magallanes, CORFO’s InnovaChile, and
Fundación Chile, among others. The
owners of the livestock feedlots also
supported and continuously participated in the program’s development.
A universe of 1,010 pits was analyzed and 50% of them were found to
contain hydrocarbon levels within the
reference standard used in Alberta,
Canada. In order to sanitize the pits
that exceeded the reference limits,
a bioremediation process was used,
which resulted in the biostimulation of
microflora in the soil. Microorganisms
were also added, which are capable of
degrading hydrocarbons so as to avoid
altering the physical and chemical
characteristics of the soil.
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Clean Production
Agreement
ENAP, represented by Enap Refinerías
S.A., the Minister of Environment, the
National Council for Clean Production,
and ten companies from the Puchuncaví and Quintero industrial areas signed
a letter of commitment to develop a
Clean Production Agreement (CPA).
They agreed to work together with
the public sector to contribute to the
territory’s sustainable development
through concrete commitments, not
required by law, in the environmental,
energy use, and occupational health
and safety fields under a Clean Production Agreement.
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PRIZES AND DISTINCTIONS
ENAP in Ecuador
is recognized for
integrating people with
disabilities
The Vice President of Ecuador and
the Ecuadorian General Foundation
recognized Enap Sipetrol Ecuador for
its contribution to the inclusion of
people with disabilities. The Company
was honored as one of the 25 companies in the country with the best
practices for social and occupational
integration of people with disabilities.
Enap Sipetrol has four people with
disabilities working to date.

SENCE recognized ENAP
Magallanes for training
conducted in 2010
The Magallanes Region’s government
and the National Training and Employment Service (SENCE) recognized
ENAP Magallanes for its use of the
tax exemption state benefit. This
tax exemption corresponds to a percentage of employees’ gross salaries
at the subsidiary, which should be
used to train the region’s vulnerable
population in tasks associated with
the hydrocarbon industry.
The tasks in which both men and
women are trained are: maritime
security, welding, and shipping tasks,
among others. ENAP Magallanes was
honored as the company that made
the most pre-contracts of every kind
once training was finished.

Casa Abierta awarded for
contributing to Concón’s
cultural development
Casa Abierta, located in the Aconcagua
Refinery, which was inaugurated in
2005, has become the main meeting
place and cultural, training, and
recreational development center for
Concón’s community. Its goal is to
contribute to social and cultural development of the community through
the development of social skills in
their various forms and expressions.

In 2011 the José Manuel Balmaceda
Cultural Center in Concón recognized
Casa Abierta for its contribution to
cultural development of the area
and its residents. This is the Casa
Abierta’s third distinction after
being given the Corporate Social
Responsibility Award by ASIVA in
2006 and 2007, which was decided
by Concón’s municipality.
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National Safety Council
recognizes Aconcagua
Refinery
As part of the 49 th Annual Safety
Competition, the National Safety
Council gave Aconcagua Refinery the
Risk Prevention Prize Effort Award and
the National Safety Council Award.
Both distinctions were given to the
subsidiary because of its commitment
to reducing the accident rate.
The Risk Prevention Effort Award
was given to Aconcagua Refinery for
reducing its Frequency Rate by more
than 25% compared with its average
from the previous two years and the
National Safety Council Award was
given to the refinery for reaching the
lowest frequency rate in its category.

ENAP Magallanes
received the Quality of
Life Award 2011 from Caja
de Los Andes
ENAP Magallanes was awarded the
Quality of Life Award 2011, which
is given annually by the Los Andes
Compensation Fund to four leading
companies in the southern part of
the country for labor practices and
support of workers’ welfare.
Among other variables, the Quality of
Life award takes into account health
facilities and services, education
scholarships, extracurricular activities
(arts and cultural), and the promotion
of sports and healthy living.
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Logistics Management
The main annual Logistics Management
achievements in 2011 were aligned
this area’s role and focus at ENAP. The
following achievements stand out:
1. A COMMITMENT TO SAFETY,
QUALITY OF LIFE, AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION.
• Days without accident at Department
of Oil Storage and Pipelines (DAO in
Spanish) plants: Maipú Plant, 1,444
days without a lost time accident;
San Fernando Plant, 1,947 days; and
Linares Plant, 1,577 days.

• On January 19th, the DAO’s Safety
and Occupational Health Management
System was certified by the Chilean
Safety Association (GPS-ACHS) as
Level Two.
• 55% of the DAO’s clean product tanks
were maintained and certified. Therefore, they met Chile’s Superintendency
of Electricity and Fuels’ (SEC) standards
for a 10-year period. In 2012 ENAP
plans to finish certifying the rest of
the clean product tanks.
• With regard to the contracts managed by the Ground Transportation
Department, transportation companies’

safety management system reported
zero accidents.
• Newer and more hi-tech Time Charter
ships were hired, which decreased operational and environmental risk. A bid
was opened on a 71,000 cubic meter
special purpose ship for transporting
products and crude oil in 2008.
• A Ship and Marine Terminal Vetting
Manager was hired, who will perform
a thorough analysis of maritime policies and procedures, both operational
and contractual, thereby mitigating
potential operational and environmental hazards.
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2. DEVELOPING LOGISTICS
MANAGEMENT AND SOLUTIONS
TO ACHIEVE COMPETITIVE
ADVANTAGES AND COST SAVINGS.
• Opening bidding on land transportation resulted in significant savings:
15-30% in clean fuel transportation
spot prices, 30% in LPG and propylene transportation, and 10% in coke
transportation. This bidding also
allowed us to require the same safety
standards and evaluations for all of the
Company’s transportation providers.
• In May the shipping fleet was reduced

by one ship, by replacing two ships
with one, which generated rent and
fuel consumption savings.
• A bid on agency and towing services
was opened. This reduced costs by 35%
and 2%, respectively, which resulted
in greater management control.
• Ship operators were hired at ENAP
Headquarters, who took over the management and operation of the ships.
• Difference control of crude oil and
products. They are being handled
within recognized industry ranges
(+/-0.5%). Based on an average of 1
million imported cubic meters per month of crude oil and products, average
adjustments of 600 meters are made
in the Company’s favor. Likewise, on
sales of approximately 1 million cubic
meters per month, average adjustments
of 600 meters were made against us.
These adjustments are associated with
the operation (except for importation)
and they match industry standards.
In summary, as of November US$
542,772 has been charged off. This
amount appears rather small when
compared to the 2005-2009 period,
in which an average of US$ 31,615,381
was charged off.
• Through inspection ENAP participates
in every custody transfer movement,
thereby controlling quantity and
quality. With regard to domestic
movements, the Company has worked
diligently on quality control requirements. These requirements have
emerged for ground transportation
due to new industrial business. Despite
all of the aforementioned activities
the Company was able to maintain
competitive rates.
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3. DEVELOPING MARKETORIENTED LOGISTICS
MANAGEMENT AND SOLUTIONS.

4. DEVELOPING INTERNAL
CUSTOMER-ORIENTED LOGISTICS
MANAGEMENT AND SOLUTIONS.

• The DAO assists in selling industrial
products by loading trucks at the Maipú, San Fernando, and Linares Plants.

• Successful administration of LNG,
LPG, Propylene, and Coke ground
transportation.

• 20 trucks (8 in the central zone and
12 in the south) and 30 drivers assigned
solely to clean fuel transportation.

• The Pemuco LNG Regasification Plant
now depends on Logistics Management.
The DAO will manage the Pemuco
Plant’s operations, maintenance, and
administration.

• Together with the freight yards, logistics were set to the same standards
as the distribution companies. This
led to new business progress.
• High percentage of quality, quantity, and punctuality compliance with
regard to deliveries to customers.

• A second location for coke storage
(Servimar) was set up in the Eighth
Region and 80,000 tons of coke were
moved from the Bío Bío Refinery to
Servimar. This eliminated the impact
of coke storage at the Bío Bío Refinery.
• From February to November Barcaza
Yagana helped repair ENAP Sipatrol
Argentina’s AM-2 platform in the
Magallanes Area, which had been out
of commission since September of
2010, thereby restoring production
in December of 2011.
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Investments
LINES OF
BUSINESS
MMUS$

Refining

Exploration
and Production

Total

127.1 137.3 264.4

Disbursements associated with investment projects implemented by the Company
in 2011 reached US$ 264.4 million, with the following breakdown by country:

COUNTRY
MMUS$
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Argentina

Ecuador

Egypt

Chile

Total

41.6 38.7 22.6 161.5 264.4
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Comprehensive Risk
Management
ENAP’s Comprehensive Risk Management Policy has been in effect since
2009. It aims to establish criteria and
guidelines so that critical risks, which
could affect compliance with strategic
objectives and/or ENAP’s value, can be
quickly identified, reported, assessed,
mitigated, and monitored.
ENAP defines Critical Risk as the likelihood that an event will occur that will
threaten the business’s viability and/
or sustainability and will negatively
impact the staff, the environment,
the facilities, production, heritage,

image, and/or the implementation
of the Company’s strategic business
plan. The event could affect a Business
Unit and/or Line of Business or it
could affect the entire Organization.
ENAP’s Risk Management Committee,
chaired by the CEO and composed
of corporate managers from both
Lines of Business, is responsible for
ensuring the implementation of the
Comprehensive Risk Management
Policy in a consistent manner with
the Strategic Business Plan.

sures agreed upon by the Committee,
executing the Policy’s implementation
plan, and monitoring compliance with
mitigation plans.
Operating Units are responsible for
managing risks and designing their
own mitigation plans. The Risk Management Division provides common
methodological support on the basis
of a continuous cycle plan, which
includes everything from risk identification to mitigation plan design,
implementation, and monitoring,
according to the following diagram.

The Risk Management Division reports
to Planning and Management and is
responsible for implementing the mea-

COMPREHENSIVE RISK MANAGEMENT METHODOLOGY

Process
Identification

Identify Key Risks
• What could go wrong
• Lost opportunities

Risk and Control
Identification
COMMUNICATE
AND CONSULT

MONITOR AND
REVISE
Risk and Control
Assessment

Risk Mitigation
Treatment
and Plans

Analysis / Steps
• Evaluate the impact and the
probability
• Assess the controls
Assessment
• Establish priorities
Treatment options
• Reduce, Avoid, Transfer,
or Retain
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Risks are identified based on a critical risk matrix, which includes the
following risk categories:

both internally and externally, and
with the preparation and publication of reliable financial statements.

Mitigation plans were also designed
for each unit, except for Ecuador and
Egypt’s operating units.

Strategic Risks are related to the
Company’s Mission, which include
strategic planning, market, reputation, and environmental risks.

Annually, the critical risks of each
business unit and/or management
area are analyzed, mitigation plans are
defined, and a follow-up is conducted.
The results are presented to the Risk
Management Committee.

In 2010 the maps and plans for the Bío
Bío Refinery and E&P in the Magallanes
Region were completed. Then the Risk
Management Committee approved
them. They were put into effect in
July and October respectively.

With regard to the Comprehensive Risk
Management Policy, in 2010 all risk,
cause, and control identification was
completed as well as risk and control
assessment. Risk maps were made for
the following operating units:

In 2011 the Risk Management Committee approved the rest of the mitigation
plans and monitored bimonthly the
progress of their implementation.

Operational Risks are related to
the effective and efficient use
of resources, including the risks
associated with cost, performance, production, technology, and
protection of people and assets.
Compliance Risks are related to
compliance with the laws and regulations to which the Company
is subject, including internal rules
of procedure.
Financial Risks deal with the reliability of the information provided,

Bío Bío Refinery
E&P in the Magallanes Region
Aconcagua Refinery
Department of Oil Storage and
Pipelines (DAO in Spanish)
Vinapu Terminal
Magallanes Region Refining
Sipetrol Argentina

In the last quarter of 2010, a process
to identify risk events, causes, and
cross-organizational controls was initiated with the Finance Management
Department. In 2011 the process was
continued with the Logistics, Services,
and Human Resources Departments.
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Market Risk Factors

With regard to imported products, the
hedges are mainly used to mitigate
exposure to price changes of imported
products from the time of purchase
to the time of sale.

ENAP is dedicated to the exploration
for and production of hydrocarbons
as well as refining, transportation,
storage, and marketing of products
derived from petroleum.
Of these activities, a substantial part
of the Company’s operations are the
refining and marketing of its products
in Chile. ENAP leads the domestic
market supply with a market share
that historically has fluctuated between 70-80%. Also, in recent years the
Company has expanded its activities
to include the exportation of these
products mainly to Latin American
countries.
ENAP accesses the international
market for its crude oil and products.
This allows the Company to ensure
supply and fulfillment of its trade
commitments. ENAP’s supply of crude
oil is obtained mainly from South
America and the North Sea. Its main
suppliers are Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador,
Argentina, and the UK.
The Company’s Refineries have the
necessary facilities to receive and store
this raw material. As for the origin of
the imported refined products, during
the last year these products came
mainly from the U.S. Gulf of Mexico
Coast, Korea, and Canada.
Relevant risks to the business are
essentially price fluctuations in international oil markets and products,
for which hedges are used. In the case
of crude oil, the hedges offset the
negative change in price of crude oil
shipments from the time when the
crude oil is purchased to the time
when the refined products made from
the crude oil are sold.
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In “normal” inventory cycles this risk is
mitigated by fixing sales prices under
import parity, since the purchase price
is fixed with the same methodology
as the sales price. Therefore, this instrument is only used in cases in which
a decrease in demand is expected or
the inventory is over the target level.
The exchange rate is another business
risk factor because the majority of the
accounts receivable are billed in pesos
and the corresponding payables to
foreign suppliers of oil are in dollars.
This imbalance in dollars is minimized
by the exchange rate hedging policy
on accounts receivable and on the
prices of products that are based on
import parity indexed in dollars.
In terms of interest rate risk, the
Company maintains a mix of fixed
rate (primarily long-term bonds) and
variable rate debt (mainly bilateral
loans, syndicated loans, short-term
bank loans, and forfaiting).
To mitigate this risk ENAP has signed several interest rate derivatives
contracts, swapping variable-rate
long-term obligations, mainly LIBOR
plus a margin, for fixed-rate ones. Of
the total existing financial debt as
of December 31, 2011, considering
the hedging instruments in effect
on that date, 16.5% corresponded to
variable-rate uncovered debt, mainly
represented by regular bank debt.
ENAP also maintains a position in
derivative instruments of the cross
currency swap type for bonds issued

in the domestic market in October of
2002 and January of 2009 to convert
from UF to US$ and to mitigate exposure and exchange rate risks.
Similarly, in July of 2005, a cross
currency swap was used to convert
the total cash flow from the 13-year
mortgage lease on the corporate
headquarters, which matures in 2018,
from UF to dollars.

Results summary
ENAP’s result as of December 31,
2011 after applying the tax rate of
20% was a loss of US$ 95 million.
After applying the special tax rate
for public companies of 40% (Decree
Law No. 2398), the loss decreased to
US$ 67 million.
The business’s profitability measured
on average assets and on the basis of
the result after income tax is -1.6%
(negative return) for 2011 and 1.5%
in 2010 (-1.1% and 1.3% for the same
years, measured over the last line).

Income Statement
Accumulated consolidated total revenue
increased by 32.5% from US$ 8.18 billion
in 2010 to US$ 10.835 billion in 2011.
This is mainly due to the increase in the
annual average selling price, which went
up from US$ 89.90 per barrel to US$
122.10 per barrel, an increase of 35.8%
Revenues were affected by the 6.4%
decrease in the total volume of sales,
both domestically and internationally,
from 13,396.7 Mm³ in 2010 to 12,533.9
Mm³ in 2011. They were also affected
by the cessation of operations due to
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the earthquake in February of 2010.
Exploitation costs increased by 34.4%
from US$ 7.934 billion to US$ 10.663
billion, due primarily to a higher average
crude oil price, which rose by 35.5%
from US$ 79.20 per barrel in 2010 to
US$ 107.30 per barrel in 2011, to which
a 9.3% sales volume increase is added.
Gross margin as of December 31, 2011
increased to a profit of US$ 172 million.
This margin compared negatively to the
US$ 246 generated as of December 31,
2010. The business contribution margins
were 1.6% and 3.0% respectively.
This was due to greater volatility in
refining margins, which was reflected
in a minimum of US$ 3.62 in 2011
versus US$ 5.01 in 2010, and a trend
break in the Brent marker prices, from
an uptrend to a downtrend in April of
2011 and until the end of the year.

of December 31, 2010. This is due to
lower earnings from swap derivative
settlements and higher capitalized
interests.
Equity in associate earnings (losses)
and joint ventures, calculated using the
equity method, reached US$ 37.2 million
in 2011, a positing increase from US$
14.5 million, which is a 64.3% increase
compared from US$ 22.6 million in 2010.
Mainly GNL Quintero S.A. influenced
this variation from a loss of US$ 5
million in 2010 to a profit of US$ 8.4
million in 2011.
Exchange rate differences had a negative effect in 2011 of US$ 43 million,
which compares to a profit of US$ 49
million in 2010.

Administrative expenses at a consolidated level decreased by 18.8% to US$
85 million in 2011, which compares
favorably to US$ 104 million in 2010.
This decrease occurred due to the
Company’s layoffs in the second half of
2010 and the current Administration’s
cost management policy.
Other function expenses increased
by US$ 42 million between December
of 2011 and 2010, mainly due to the
abandonment of dry exploratory wells
and exploratory campaigns in Chile and
Egypt, which is recognized directly
in earnings in accordance with the
Company’s accounting policy.
The financial costs decreased by 3% to
US$ 175 million as of December 31, 2011
versus US$ 181 million accumulated as
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Assets
Total assets as of December of 2011
reached US$ 6.203 billion, a 12.1% increase compared to the previous year.
The main reasons for this variation are
the following:
Cash and cash equivalents increased by
355%, reaching US$ 284 million in 2011
from US$ 62 million in 2010.
Accounts receivable from related parties
increased by 133%, reaching US$ 125
million in 2011 from US$ 54 million in
2010. The main influences here were
GNL Chile because of natural gas purchases and GNL Quintero because of a
decrease in equity.
Inventory increased by 36% in 2011
compared to the previous year, reaching US$ 1.487 billion in 2011 versus
US$ 1.090 billion in 2010. This was a
reflection of crude oil inventory’s higher
value, mainly due to the increase in
inventory volume as well as the effect
of the increase in international crude oil
prices and the higher value of product
inventory.
Non-current assets classified as held for
sale increased by US$ 51 million due to
the decision to sell 49% of its stake in
Empresa Nacional de Geotermía S.A.
and 48.6% of its stake in Geotérmica
del Norte S.A.

assets for geothermal investments.
These decreases were offset by a results
recognition of US$ 37 million.
Deferred taxi assets increased by 34% to
US$ 395 million in 2011 versus US$ 295
million in 2010 mainly due to tax losses,
which increased to US$ 298 million in
2011 from US$ 183 million in 2010.

Liabilities

Other non-current financial assets fell
61% to US$ 32 million in 2011 versus
US$ 81 million in 2010, mainly due to
hedge derivatives and exchange rate
hedges (cash flow hedges).

As of December 2011, non-current
liabilities reached US$ 5.822 billion,
up 15% compared to the previous year’s
total of US$ 5.076 billion.

Investments calculated using the equity
method decreased by 24% to US$ 140
million in 2011 from US$ 184 million
in 2010, mainly due to GNL Quintero
S.A.’s equity decrease and transfer of

Other current financial liabilities
increased 62.4% to US$ 1.052 billion
in 2011 from US$ 648 million in 2010,
due to the maturity of bank liabilities
and obligations to the public.
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The increase in trade payables and
other payables by US$ 183 million
was mainly due to the increases in
inventories associated with higher
crude oil prices between one period
and another.
Other current provisions increased by
US$ 24 million, mainly provisions for
contracts worth US$ 10 million and
US$ 140 million, due to GNL Quintero
S.A.’s negative equity generated after
the capital reduction made during
the year.
The decrease in current provisions for
employee benefits of US$ 37 million
between December of 2010 and 2011
is mainly due to the decrease in the
allowance account for Years of Service, which fell by US$ 21.6 million
compared to 2010 due to layoffs made
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during the first quarter of 2011.

Equity

Non-current liabilities increased 5.9%
from 2010’s total to US$ 167 million
due to debt restructuring, which
contemplated obtaining a syndicated
loan of US$ 300 million and a bond
under rule 144-A of US$ 5000 in the
American market in December of
2011 in order to address long-term
obligations. These obligations mature
in 2012 and the Company will need
to fully repay these funds.

As of December 2011 the equity
amounted to US$ 381 million a 16.5%
drop from the previous year’s total of
US$ 456 million. This decrease was
mainly due to recognition of the loss
generated throughout the year.

EXCHANGE RATE – OBSERVED DOLLAR 2011

540.00

Obs US$ VALUE 2011
530.00
520.00
510.00
500.00
490.00
480.00
470.00
460.00

Dec-11

Nov-11

Oct-11

Sep-11

Aug-11

Jul-11

Jun-11

May-11

Apr-11

Mar-11

Feb-11

Jan-11

450.00

69

CHAPTER 4

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

Procurement

savings, and operational continuity,
which will ensure that ENAP is able
to fulfill its commitments to its suppliers and contractors and efficiently
manage inventories.

In 2011, ENAP’s Management Services
generated savings of US$ 28.5 million,
surpassing the goal made for the year
of US$ 27.5 million.
ENAP continued to consolidate Chile’s
procurement model. In the second
quarter the Company implemented
this model at its international subsidiaries in Ecuador and Argentina,
thus segregating the purchasing and
contracting functions. These functions
are responsible for applying procurement methodologies and strategies
with a focus on internal customers,
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Complying with an important part of
this plan, guidelines were established
to govern the procurement process.
These Procurement Service Regulations for the subsidiaries in Argentina
and Ecuador were presented to and
approved by the Board.
These regulations standardized the
procurement process among ENAP
group’s subsidiaries.
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Information,
Communication, and
Automation Technology
(ICAT)
The ICAT Department reports to
Service Management. ICAT’s role is
to add value to ENAP through the
implementation of information and
system technologies contributing
to the automation and availability
of strategic information. In 2011 it
executed various initiatives. The most
significant of these initiatives was the
migration of data processing centers
located in each Business Unit to an
external data processing center, which
complies with world-class standards.
This measure ensured the operational
continuity and safety of the systems
and the associated technical infrastructure.
Additionally, the Incident Investigation System was implemented, which
records incidents, accidents, and
non-conformities. This tool will be
key for preventative management, as
it will determine the conditions and
circumstances that caused the event
by identifying tis root cause so that
preventative and corrective measures
can be taken.
Another important contribution was
the Contract Management System, a
solution that makes exclusive information readily available about ENAP
contractors. This information is used
during the procurement process at
ENAP group’s subsidiaries.

71

CHAPTER 4

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

Suppliers

Insurances

In 2001 Enap Refinerías S.A. covered
almost all of its crude oil requirements
with imports from South America
(90%) and Europe (10%) due to crude
oil prices and quality.

ENAP and Enap Refinerías S.A. have
fire and terrorism insurance policies
to cover their facilities, buildings,
machinery, stock, losses due to operations interruption, and other physical
losses with the following two insurance
companies: Chartis Chile Compañía de
Seguros Generales and Compañía de
Seguros Generales Penta Security S.A.

In part crude oil purchases were made
through contracts with international
and state companies, but mainly
through spot market purchases.
The main suppliers in 2011 were:
Petrobras, Chevron, Glencore, British
Petroleum, Occidental, Ecopetrol, Shell,
and Pan American, among others.

72

Among ENAP and its subsidiaries’ main
insurance policies for 2011 are Liability
and Transportation policies hired from
Compañía de Seguros Generales Penta
Security S.A., Catastrophic Health
policies for executives and workers
hired from BICE Vida Compañía de
Seguros S.A., and marine insurance
from Gard.
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SUBSIDIARY PROPERTIES
AND EQUIPMENT
Exploration and
Production Line of
Business
Magallanes Region

Enap Sipetrol S.A. Subsidiary

ENAP has production camps and service
facilities in Cerro Sombrero and Cullen
on Tierra del Fuego Island and in Posesión, Gregorio, Cabo Negro-Laredo,
and Punta Arenas on the mainland.

ENAP’s International Subsidiary, Enap
Sipetrol S.A. has the following assets:

It has concessions for exploration
and exploitation of oil and natural
gas deposits in this region, which
are geographically distributed in
three areas: Tierra del Fuego Island,
mainland, and Strait of Magallanes.
The Company has an extensive network of oil, gas, and multipurpose
pipelines in the Magallanes Region
(approximately 4,000 kilometers)
with their respective easements.
These pipelines transport crude oil
and natural gas from production areas
to gas processing plants, Gregorio
Refinery, terminals, and storage and
distribution centers, both on Tierra
del Fuego Island and on the mainland.
Its industrial facilities also include
gas processing plants in Cullen and
Posesión, a fractionation plant and
refinery in Cabo Negro and Gregorio
Terminal; a Port Complex and shipyard
in the Cabo Negro-Laredo Industrial
Park; as well as two administrative
buildings in Punta Arenas.

Argentina
Shares in the following blocks: Magallanes Area (50%), South CAM 2
A (50%), Pampa del Castillo (100%),
and Campamento Central (50%). It
also has shares in exploration studies
in Argentina at the E2 Block (33.3%),
formerly called CAM 1 and CAM 3.

Ecuador
Enap Sipetrol S.A. has contracts with
Petroproducción and specific service
contracts for crude oil development and
production in the Mauro Dávalos Cordero
(MDC) camps and in Paraíso, Biguno,
Huachito, and Intracampos (PBHI) in
the Ecuadorian Amazon Region, which
operates under Enap Sipetrol Ecuador.
Enap Sipetrol Ecuador controls 100% of
these assets. It is important to mention
that ENAP signed an oil exploration and
operation contract for Jambelí Block 3
in the Gulf of Guayaquil for a 4,000
square kilometer area.

the Rommana Block (40%) and Sibi
Abd El Rahman Block (30%).
For the abovementioned hydrocarbon
exploration and production activities abroad, Enap Sipetrol S.A. has
the proper industry equipment and
machinery.

Egypt
The Egyptian Subsidiary of Enap Sipetrol S.A. has shares in exploration
and production in the East Ras Qattara
Block (50.5%). It also has shares in
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Refining Line of
Business

Aconcagua Refinery
At this refinery the main crude oil
and complementary load processing
plants are: Topping and Vacuum I,
Topping and Vacuum II, Visbreaking,
Catalytic Cracking, Continuous Catalytic Reforming, Hydrocracking,
Gasoline Hydrodesulfurization, Diesel Hydrotreatment, Isomerization,
Alkylation, DIPE, Sulfur Plant, and
Delayed Coker Complex.
Also, there is a sulfuric acid regeneration plant, a sulfur fixation plant,
a kerosene treatment plant, a liquid
gas and fuel gases plant, an effluent
treatment plant; closed cooling system;
Quintero Maritime Terminal Refinery
oil pipeline; internal piping facilities
for intermediate and final products
from pool areas to processing plants
and from these plants to pools; pumping areas to send products from the
refinery; pumping areas and maritime
terminals, including one single buoy
in Quintero; a chemical laboratory;
headquarters for the Fire Department
for 24 shifts; pump carts, equipment,
and elements to fight fires; specialized
maintenance and repair workshops at
all of the plants; emergency electrical
equipment based on diesel and gas fuel;
natural gas interconnection system for
use as fuel in boilers and to generate
steam; and contractor facilities.
The Company also owns the following
real estate in Concón: Avenida Borgoño
25777 building, which will be used for
the industry; C-9 Sports Field Lot;
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S-Sonacol Lots, industry; Lot E7/B6,
vacant; Calle 2 Norte, Lot R-3, industry;
Tierra del Fuego Magallanes corner,
health; Lot 16 PC14 A1, Mantagua,
vacant; Vía 2 to 5, Lot R-5, vacant;
ERSA Aconcagua private road, Lot R/4,
vacant; Lot R-6-1, vacant; Lot R-6-2,
vacant; Lot R-7, vacant, Dos Norte
1015, Interior Lot, Fundo Colmito; Plot
1 Well 23, vacant; Plot 1 Lot 2 Interior
Road, Fundo Colmito; Plot 1 Well 25,

vacant. It also owns parking lot 152
on the street Blanco 625 in Valparaíso
and two others on the street Avenida
Manantiales LT 3B and ST 420.
There are the following properties in
Quintero: Camino Quintero 5425, Avda.
Tres Marías Lot 117 (vacant); Camino
Quintero 5245, Avda. Tres Marías Lot
172 (vacant); and Vía 56 Costanera
Turística Quintero (vacant).
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2; Gasoline Cracking Desulfurization;
Hydrocracking; Benzene Saturation;
Isomerization; Propylene Separator and
Purifier; CHT Hydrogen Plant; Delayed
Coking (Coker) and Diesel Hydrotreatment, property of Petropower
Energía Limitada; Bío Bío Hydrogen
Plant, co-owned with Sigdo Kopper
S.A.; Soft Hydrocracking Plant of Gas
Oil (MHC); and Pemuco LNG Plant.
There are also the following types of
plants: Merox Kerosene treatment,
Gasoline and Liquid Gas, Sodium
Hydrosulfide; Sulfur Recovery; Gas
Treatment; Acid Water Treatment;
Oily Water Treatment; Cooling Water
Supply; Steam and Electric Energy;
crude oil storage pools; intermediate
and final products.
The Company’s network of oil, gas, and
multipurpose pipelines in the Magallanes Region is 4,000 kilometers long.

Bío Bío Refinery
At this refinery the main crude oil and
complementary load processing plants
are: Topping and Vacuum I; Topping
and Vacuum II; Visbreaking; Catalytic
Cracking; Continuous Catalytic Reformation; Ethylene; Diesel Hydrotreatment 1; Diesel Hydrotreatment

Other industrial facilities include: oil
pipelines for transporting finished
products from the refinery to San
Fernando city, where they connect
with the Sonacol oil pipeline (San
Fernando-Maipú); pumping stations
at Bío Bío Refinery, Chillán, and Molina; oil pipelines from the Refinery
to San Vicente Maritime Terminal for
transporting crude oil and finished
products; internal pipelines from the
pool zones to the processing plants and
from the plants to the intermediate
and final product pools; a gas pipeline
for receiving and delivering liquid gas;
pumps in San Vicente for shipping
products by sea and for receiving
imported crude oil by sea; chemical
laboratory; Emergency Response Brigade facilities and headquarters, which
is run by full-time volunteer workers;
specialized workshops for addressing
maintenance and repair issues at all

plants; emergency electrical diesel- and
natural gas-powered equipment and
natural gas interconnection system to
be used as fuel in boilers and furnaces
(steam generation).
In the Eighth Region Enap Refinerías
S.A. owns the following properties:
Bío Bío Refinery’s land, a building
located on Camino a Lenga 2011,
Hualpén District, which will be used
for the industry; Faja Fundo Las Golondrinas, Hualpén; Cerro Las Pulgas,
which will be a pool area, Hualpén;
San Vicente Terminal: real estate and
Lot A-1 Talcahuano; Bocatoma Bío Bío
land, located in Hualpén District; rest
of Lot C and Lot A1, both are next to
the Refinery; Chillán Terminal Lot 7,
Route 5, Chillán; Molina Terminal, Talca;
Hijuela Rucalhue, San Pedro de la Paz
District (vacant); Lot B6, subdivision
of Lot B of Fundo Hualpén, Hualpén;
land at the Talcahuano General Cemetery, used for cathodic protection of
the oil pipeline at facilities; Lot B-2,
subdivision of Lot B, San Miguel de
Diguillín, Pemuco District; usufruct
for a period of 99 years of part of the
estate located in Talcahuano, patch A.
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Distributable earnings
Chile’s Treasury, through the Ministry
of Finance, can order the transfer of
ENAP’s advances and/or profits to the
State’s General Revenue Account, as
stipulated in article 29 of Decree Law
No. 1,263 from 1975.
Through the Ministry of Finance’s
resolution No. 64 issued on January
23, 2009, the policy for transferring
ENAP’s profits to the Treasury was
temporarily suspended for 2009 due
to losses incurred in 2008. The profit
transfer policy was established in the
Ministry of Finance’s resolution No.
25 on August 11, 2005. It stipulates
that ENAP must transfer a minimum
amount of resources to the Treasury,
either as income tax (40%) and/or as
advanced profit sharing consisting of
14% of profitability over equity, calculated with retained earnings from
prior periods.
Considering the impact that low
international refining margins and
the earthquake from 2010 had on
this period’s results, the Ministry of
Finance authorized ENAP to capitalize
on profits from 2007 of US$ 49.632
billion in resolution No. 1,495. The
Ministry of Finance temporarily suspended the transfer of these profits
to the Treasury in resolution No.
1,272 in 2007.
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Dividend Policy

100% of ENAP subsidiaries’ annual
dividends, corresponding to the period
that ended on December 31, 2008.
Subsequently, the Minister of Finance
authorized the capitalization of the
profits generated by Enap Sipetrol
S.A. through resolution No. 1,495 on
December 23, 2010.

In resolution No. 25 from August 11,
2005, the Ministry of Finance established a net income capitalization
policy for the following five years, as
of the first accounting period in 2006,
which is governed by the regulation
summarized below:
ENAP must transfer a minimum amount
of resources to the Treasury, either
as Income Tax (40%), by applying
law 2.398, and/or as advanced profit
sharing according to the following
specifications:
• If profits¹ are less than 14% of
profitability over equity²: 100%
• If profits¹ are over 14% of
profitability over equity²:
• For an amount not exceeding
14%: 100%
• For an amount that exceeds
14%: 50%
However, the Ministry of Finance, in
resolution No. 64 on January 23, 2009
temporarily suspended the policy of
transferring ENAP’s profits to the Treasury, which was initially established
in resolution No. 25. The transferring
of profits was completely suspended
in order to satisfy 14% of profitability
over equity, calculated with retained
earnings from prior periods.
The current dividend policy was suspended to reduce financing requirements for 2009 and to provide support
to the national and international
financial system and risk ratings.
Furthermore, resolution No. 64 temporarily suspended the transfer of
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On March 31, 2009 in resolution No.
307, the Minister of Finance authorized
the capitalization of Enap Sipetrol
S.A.’s profits during the 2009 financial period.
1 Corresponds to the profit calculated after the exploitation
right, foreign taxes, and the 17% income tax; and before the
40% income tax established in the Decree Law No. 2,398
according to ENAP’s Consolidated Financial Statements and
audits in US$ as of December 31st of each year.
2 Corresponds to the total equity according to ENAP’s
Consolidated Financial Statements and audits in US$ as
of December 31st of each year.

DIVIDENDS PAID TO THE TREASURY
Definitive profit from
last period MM US$

Net income advance
from the period MM US$

Total transfers

2011

0.0

0.0

0.0

2010

0.0

0.0

0.0

2009

0.0

0.0

0.0

2008

38.3 (*)

0.0

38.3

2007

0.0

0.0

0.0

2006

56.4

0.0

56.4

2005

0.0

0.0

0.0

2004

1.97

95.33

97.30

2003

14.36

146.14

160.50

2002

2.34

70.02

72.35

2001

0.62

59.79

60.41

2000

18.28

62.32

80.60

(*) Profit charged from previous years, calculated using the compensation mechanism authorized in Decree 148 on January
31, 2008.
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EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION
LINE OF BUSINESS
Management Summary
During 2011 ENAP’s Exploration and
Production Line of Business (E&P)
produced 17.1 million barrels of oilequivalent hydrocarbons (MMboe),
down 16.4% from its production in
2010. This was due to the natural decline rate, delays in the implementation
of investment projects (Platform AM-2’s
launch in Argentina), union problems
that affected normal operation in the
Gulf of San Jorge Basin (Argentina), the
minor contribution of the exploratory
projects in the Magallanes Region, and
other operational difficulties.
On the other hand, starting production
of six new oil discoveries in Egypt and
beginning drilling at the enhanced
recovery project in the Mauro Dávalos Cordero Block (MDC) in Ecuador
contributed positively to the Line of
Business’s results.
In Chile E&P’s Line of Business continued to advance initiatives that
address the complex stage of gas deliverability in the Magallanes Region.
Following the investment plan, 24 new
wells were drilled (18 for exploration
and 6 for development). The Arenal
Block operated by ENAP had especially
significant results, positive in 5 of 8
of the exploratory wells. Also, other
operational initiatives were conducted
to maintain the residential and industrial supply during the winter, when
natural gas consumption increases.
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Throughout the year ENAP participated
by 50% with foreign companies in a
Special Operations Contract (SPOC)
concerning the following exploratory
activities in the Magallanes Region:
Coirón Block, operated by Pan American
Energy; Caupolicán Block, operated by
Greymouth; and Lenga Block, operated
by Apache.
In September of 2011 ENAP submitted
Special Petroleum Operation Contracts
to the Department of Energy with
Geopark, YPF, and Wintershall to intensify efforts to increase reserves and
production in the Magallanes Region
in five areas: Tierra del Fuego island,

Campanario Block, the Flamenco Block,
San Sebastián Block, and Marazzi-Lago
Mercedes Block. This represents the
culmination of a process that began in
December 2010. Upon signing the five
operations contracts (SPOC) with the
Chilean government, the companies
committed themselves to investments
of at least US$ 145 million over the
next three years.
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ENAP’S PRODUCTION OF OIL AND GAS 2011 AND 2010
2010

COUNTRY

OIL
[MBBLS]

2011

GAS
[MBOE]

TOTAL
[MBOE]

OIL
[MBBLS]

VARIATION 2011/2010

GAS
[MBOE]

TOTAL
[MBOE]

Argentina

3,587.0

1,754.4

5,341.4

3,237.6

898.9

4,136.5

Ecuador

4,968.9

-

4,968.9

4,556.8

-

Egypt

1,258.7

-

1,258.7

1,427.9

-

International E&P

9,814.6

1,754.4

11,569.0

9,222.4

Magallanes Region

905.1

8,038.5

8,943.6

905.1

8,038.5

10,719.7

9,792.9

OIL

GAS

TOTAL

-9.7%

-48.8%

-22.6%

4,556.8

-8.3%

-

-8.3%

1,427.9

13.4%

-

13.4%

898.9

10,121.2

-6.0%

-48.8%

-12.5%

833.6

6,192.0

7,025.6

-7.9%

-23.0%

-21.4%

8,943.6

833.6

6,192.0

7,025.6

-7.9%

-23.0%

-21.4%

20,512.6

10,056.0

7,090.9

17,146.8

-6.2%

-27.6%

-16.4%

(Chile)
Domestic E&P
Total E&P
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Oil production

in Ecuador due to the drilling delay
at the MDC Block; greater production
in Egypt due to discoveries in East
Ras Qattara.

The volume of oil produced by ENAP
abroad in 2011 was 9.2 million barrels,
6% less than the previous year. This
decrease was due to the following
combined effect: (i) reduced production due to the natural decline rate;
(ii) reduced production after work
stoppage due to labor conflicts and
the partial stoppage of platform AM-2
in Argentina; (iii) reduced production

9.2
Millons barrels
oil produced by ENAP
abroad in 2011

Oil production in Chile, Magallanes
Region reached 833, 592 barrels in
2011, 7.9% less than 2010, but more
than the projected amount for 2011.
The decrease in production compared
to 2010 was mainly due to the natural
decline rate in the area.

ENAP SIPETROL’S MONTHLY OIL PRODUCTION IN 2011 (in thousands of barrels)
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Natural gas production

repaired in November of 2011.

ENAP’s production of natural gas
abroad reached 153 million cubic
meters (898,865 barrels equivalent),
falling 48.8% from 2010. This decrease
was due to the natural decline rate
as well as the stoppage of the AM-2
platform in Argentina, which was
damaged in September of 2010 and

Meanwhile, natural gas production
in Chile (Magallanes Region) reached
1.052 billion standard cubic meters (6.2
million barrels equivalent), 23% less
than the previous year. The decrease in
production is mainly associated with
the natural decline in the deposits and
less contribution from the exploratory
projects than expected.

898,865
barrels equivalent

ENAP's production of natural
gas abroad

ENAP SIPETROL’S MONTHLY NATURAL GAS PRODUCTION IN 2011 (in thousand barrels of oil equivalent)
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Domestic exploration
and production

9 were purely exploratory and 6 were
to develop prior discoveries.

ENAP’s exploration activity in Chile
continued to develop through its
active drilling, particularly in the
Magallanes Region.

During this drilling campaign an
exploratory well turned out to be a
gas producer, 8 wells are still pending
classification until technical testing
can be done, and 6 wells were found
to be dry.

• DORADO-RIQUELME: ENAP is the
operator of this block with a 50%
participating interest in partnership
with Methanex Chile. Both partners
and the State of Chile signed the
Special Operations Contract (SPOC)
in May of 2009.
The goal of the project is to search for
the presence of gas and develop the
commercial reserves that are found to
ensure fulfillment of the cities in the
area’s gas needs and also to contribute
to Methanex Plant’s gas demands.
In 2011, 15 wells were drilled, of which
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• INTRACAMPOS: ENAP fully owns
this block. In 2011 an exploratory well
was drilled, Fortuna-1, which is under
evaluation.
• ARENAL: ENAP fully owns this
block. In 2011 the exploratory campaign in this block continued with
the drilling of 8 new exploratory
wells. The results reflect a success
rate of 83% with 5 producing wells
(Teno 1, Punta Baja Sur, Tinguiririca
1, Chañarcillo Sur 1, and Madrugada
3), two wells under evaluation, and
one abandoned well.

ENAP · ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Special Operations
Contracts (SPOC)
from 2007
• CAUPOLICÁN BLOCK: The Special
Operations Contract (SPOC) for Caupolicán Block signed by the State of
Chile, PetroMagallanes Operaciones
Limitada, and ENAP came into effect
on April 28, 2009.
This block is operated by PetroMagallanes with a 50% participating interest
in partnership with ENAP, which has
the other 50%.
Today the Caupolicán SPOC Block is in
its third contractual year of the first
exploratory period. The minimum exploratory commitment is still pending,
which consists of the acquisition,
processing, and interpretation of
300km2 of 3D seismic data and the
drilling of two exploratory wells.
• COIRÓN BLOCK: Pan American
Energy (PAE) is the operator of and
has a 50% participating interest in this
block in partnership with ENAP, which
has the other 50%. The operator (PAE)
is 100% in charge of the financing of
exploratory activities in this block,
while the financing of development
activities is handled by PAE and ENAP
according to their participation in
the consortium.
Due to exploration operations performed in 2010, in May of 2011 the
consortium submitted a Declaration
of Commercial Discovery for the Los
Cerros sector to the State of Chile.
Development is planned to begin in
2012, which includes drilling various
wells (the first of which will be the
Los Cerros 2 development well) and
building surface production facilities.

Also, during the first exploration period
in December of 2011, the consortium
began drilling exploratory well El
Fierro 1 to search for the presence of
hydrocarbons (gas and petroleum) in
the Tertiary stratigraphy.
• LENGA BLOCK: The Apache company
operates and has a 50% participating
interest in this block in partnership
with ENAP, which has the other 50%.
The financing of exploratory activities
in this block is 100% the responsibility
of the operator (Apache).
During 2011 operations were developed
to evaluate the productive potential
of the exploratory well Carmen A-1X,
which was drilled in 2010, as well as
exploratory well Carmen B-1X, but
the results found that there was no
economic interest.
Although the results of studies in the
area were not conducive to traditional
hydrocarbon exploration, they do suggest the possibility of developing an
exploration plan aimed at assessing
the potential of using the area for
unconventional purposes (shale gas/
shale oil).

Special Operations
Contracts from 2010
In December of 2010 ENAP initiated
the process of inviting prestigious
international companies to buy
shares in five blocks on Tierra del
Fuego Island. This process ended in
September of 2011 with the signing
of partnership agreements with the
following companies: Geopark TdF
SpA for Isla Norte, Campanario, and
Flamenco Blocks; YPF Chile S.A. and
Wintershall Chile Ltda. for the San
Sebastián Block; YPF Chile S.A. for the
Marazzi-Lago Mercedes Block. ENAP

and the aforementioned companies
submitted their Special Operations
Contracts (SPOC) for their respective
blocks to the Ministry of Energy.
When the State of Chile signs these
Special Operations Contracts, it will
mean an investment of over US$ 145
million in a period of three years, which
will hopefully speed up hydrocarbon
exploration and production activity
in the Magallanes Region as well as
decrease the risk exposure associated
with this activity.
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Geothermal energy
ENAP is involved in developing geothermal energy sources through its
participating interest in Sociedades
Geotérmica del Norte S.A (48.6%) and
Empresa Nacional de Geotermía S.A.
(49%), both of which are associated
with the Italian company ENEL.
Empresa Geotérmica del Norte (GDN)
is in charge of the Apacheta grant
(Cerro Pabellón Project), which is in
the exploitation phase. The plan is to
construct a 40 MW condensing plant
and a 10 MW binary unit.
The exploratory stage finished successfully. Four wells were drilled to
depths of between 1300 and 2000
meters. The first two wells were op-
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timal for production (8 MW). It was
decided that the third will would be
deepened in a development stage and
the fourth well is considered suitable
for reinjection.
In 2011 activities were conducted to
prepare for the approval of the Cerro
Pabellón Project, such as submitting
the necessary paperwork to be able to
present the Environmental Impact Study about the plant, wells, and electrical
lines to the relevant authorities as well
as beginning the international bidding
process for drilling equipment, main
equipment, and plant construction.
In 2011 at the Polloquere-Licancura
and Necul concessions, which belong
to Empresa Nacional de Geotermía
S.A. (ENG), superficial geological,
geochemical, and geophysical studies

were conducted during the exploration
stage at these concessions.
By conducting a competitive sales
process led by BNP Paribas investment
bank, on May 5, 2011 ENAP sold its
40% participating interest in Empresa Energía Andina S.A. This company
was created in October of 2008 in
conjunction with Antofagasta Minerals
S.A. to develop geothermal energy
projects in Chile.
ENAP’s participating interest was acquired by Origin Energy Geothermal Chile
Limitada for US$ 12 million. Origin is
an Australian company with significant
assets for hydrocarbon exploration,
power generation, and geothermal
energy development.
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INTERNATIONAL E&P
Latin America
ARGENTINA
The subsidiary Enap Sipetrol Argentina
acts as operator with the 50% participating interest in the exploitation
concessions at the Magallanes Area
deposit and at CAM 2/A Sur (Poseidon
Lot). It also acts as operator with
33.33% in the exploration permit E2
(formerly CAM-1 and CAM-3), all of
which are in Austral Marine Basin.
In the San Jorge Gulf Basin, the
subsidiary fully owns and operates
the Pampa del Castillo-La Guitarra
exploitation concession. It participates
as a partner and not an operator in
the Campamento Central-Cañadón
Perdido exploitation concession, with
a 50% participating interest, where
the operator is YPF S.A.
In 2011 the activities related to development drilling campaigns in Pampa
del Castillo and Campamento CentralCañadón Perdido made a significant
contribution to the results achieved
during the year.
This Subsidiary is implementing an
Operational Integrity Management
System. The main objective of the
system is to ensure operational continuity by reducing risks and continuously improving the way in which
it operates. The system contributes
to improving the subsidiary’s business
results and managing safety risks for
the staff, environment, processes, and
operational facilities.

With regard to regulatory policy, since
2010 restrictions on the oil industry
have been more relaxed as a way of
encouraging activity in the Argentine
provinces and territorial waters and
generating favorable investment
conditions, which has resulted in an
increase in domestic prices.
To date the Argentine Department
of Energy’s Resolution No. 394 from
November 2007, which establishes
a withholding system on exports of
crude oil and derivatives, remains
in effect. This has led to the setting
of maximum prices for the domestic
market, misaligned with international
prices.
Labor relations during most of 2011
were marked by disputes, which
resulted in activity downtime and
roadblocks. This significantly affected
operations and the implementation
of activities in investment projects,
mainly in the assets of San Jorge
Gulf Basin.
• MAGALLANES AREA ARGENTINA
Enap Sipetrol Argentina’s production
at the Magallanes Area deposit totaled
378,930 barrels of oil and 152.74 million
cubic meters of natural gas (898,865
boe), which yields an aggregate total
of 1.3 million barrels equivalent (boe)
for 2011.
These results represented a decrease
from 2010, which was due to the fire
at offshore platform AM-2’s habitation model in September of 2010.
Production was restricted exclusively
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to platform AM-3 until the wells from
AM-2 were incorporated on November
26th of 2011. Later the wells from
AM-6 were also added on December
26, 2011.
The platforms AM-3 and AM-6 are currently in production. Platform AM-2
was repaired and it is operational after
an intense schedule of activities was
conducted during the year.
• CAM 2/A SUR
The Poseidon Platform in the CAM 2/A
Sur Area has been out of production
since December of 2010 due to major
maintenance. Also, as a result of the
reservoirs’ dynamic behavior, it has
not been possible to put the site back
into production.
After conducting case studies with
Enap Sipetrol’s partner, YPF S.A., the
decision was made to reverse the flow
back to the Tierra del Fuego province. This process is underway and a
reduction of costs is also being done
in line with applicable regulations.
• E2 AREA (FORMERLY CAM-1 /
CAM-3)
Enap Sipetrol Argentina is the operator of Area E2 in the Austral Basin
(abbreviated as CAM in Spanish) under
the Association Agreement signed in
September of 2006 with the Argentine state company, Energía Argentina
Sociedad Anónima (ENARSA), and with
YPF S.A. This confirmed the previous
agreement signed in February of 2006.
Subsequently, the E2 Joint Venture
Agreement, which regulates the relationship between the companies that
participate in this alliance and ratifies
Enap Sipetrol Argentina as operator of
the E2 Area.
In 2011 geological studies were performed to determine the area’s remaining
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exploratory potential and support the
return of 50% of the area to ENARSA at
the end of the first exploratory period.
• PAMPA DEL CASTILLO-LA GUITARRA
Enap Sipetrol Argentina’s production at
the Pampa del Castillo deposit reached
2 million barrels, 1% less than in 2010.
This was due to the natural decline
rate as well as other reasons, such as
labor conflicts, and to a lesser extent,
operational drawbacks.
In 2011, 9 development wells were
drilled, 1 is still pending from the 2010
drilling campaign, and 8 wells were
drilled in the 2011 campaign, of which
all were producers. This translates to
a drilling success rate of 100%.
In 2011, the Environmental Management System was certified as ISO
14.001 compliant again for a period
of 3 years.

• CAMPAMENTO
CENTRAL-CAÑADÓN PERDIDO
Enap Sipetrol Argentina’s production
at the Campamento Central - Cañadón
Perdido deposit totaled 823,273 barrels
of crude oil in 2011, down 3.7% from
2010. The exploratory campaign in
2011 was mainly affected by labor
problems and the delay in drilling.
In 2011 the 2010 drilling campaign
was completed. Also, 9 wells from the
2011 campaign were drilled, of which
5 were producers. One was abandoned,
two are pending abandonment, and
one is under evaluation. The drilling
success rate was 78%. In addition, 9
primary wells were repaired, which
as a whole added to production and
reserve assets.
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ECUADOR
The year 2011 was marked by the
intense and growing development of
the relationship between Ecuador and
Chile. The highlight was the signing
of the Oil Exploration and Operation
Contract for 4,000 square kilometers
in the Jambelí Block 3 in the Gulf of
Guayaquil by Ecuador’s Minister of
Non-Renewable Natural Resources
and ENAP’s President and Chairman
of the Board, Rodrigo Álvarez.
In operational terms, on April 1, 2011
the second stage of power generation
was completed using gas in the MDC
Block (Mauro Dávalos Cordero) as
fuel to generate the power necessary
for the PBHI Block (Paraíso, Biguno,
Huachito, and Intracampos), thereby
replacing the diesel power previously
used at that block.
This change involved constructing a
31-kilometer transmission line from

MDC to PBHI and an investment of US$
11 million to reduce the operational
costs at PBHI by 15% by replacing
diesel electricity generation.
This project established Enap Sipetrol
Ecuador as a leader in sustainable development in Ecuador. Replacing the
diesel system reduced greenhouse gas
emissions, specifically carbon dioxide
(CO2) and methane (CH4), which had
been produced in the combustion
of the diesel used in the PBHI Block
(approximately 7.6 cubic meters daily).
• MDC AND PBHI DEPOSITS
On November 23, 2010, new service
contracts were signed with the Ecuadorian State in Quito. The contracts
took effect on January 1, 2011. Among
the new areas it is worth mentioning
that the Intracampos Block, adjacent
to the PBHI Block, was incorporated.
In August of 2011, the drilling of the
MDC-19 well was initiated in the Mauro
Dávalos Cordero Block, which is part

of the enhanced oil recovery project
agreed upon during the 2010 negotiation. The project involves drilling
nine new wells and also reinjecting
water into various wells in the field
to generate an extra push to help
the oil flow.
This project began its conceptual
stage over two years ago. Today it
is a reality with the drilling of the
MDC-19, MDC-20, MDC-21, and MDC-22
wells. The drilling success rate is 100%.
The production of both deposits (MDC
and PBHI) reached 4.6 million barrels
in 2011, a decrease of 8.3% from the
previous year.
In other news, Enap Sipetrol Ecuador
was recognized on January 27, 2011 for
integrating people with disabilities.
The company hired four people with
disabilities. Two work in the field in
HSE and Production and two work
in Quito’s offices in Logistics and IT.
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in paying oil revenues as a result of
the political revolution’s impact on
the country’s economy.

EGYPT
Enap Sipetrol currently operates two
concessions in Egypt: East Ras Qattara
and Rommana, with a participating
interest of 50.5% and 40% in each
block, respectively.
The volume of crude oil produced by
Enap Sipetrol Egypt was 1.43 million
barrels, up 13.4% from 2010. This
increase was due to the replacement
of reserves with discoveries from
exploration. Recently there have been
numerous discoveries in East Ras
Qattara. Here there is a cumulative
success rate of 58%, which is above
the industry average.
In 2011 two significant milestones
were realized in terms of production.
A historic cumulative production of
one million cubic meters of crude oil
was achieved at the East Ras Qattara
Block and 15,000 production barrels
per day of crude oil was reached in
late December of 2011, both of which
constituted a new record for ENAP
operations in Egypt.
Despite political tension and social
conflicts after Hosni Mubarak was
ousted as President of Egypt in 2011,
the oil industry in Egypt has remained
on the sidelines in terms of production and operational continuity at
the deposits.
An example of this continuity was
seen during the revolution when
there were no production losses or
delays. There was no interruption
in production or drilling. An effect
that international oil companies did
feel was the Egyptian State’s delay
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Despite the delay in payments, Enap
Sipetrol Egypt fulfilled 100% of the
payment commitments that it made
to the Egyptian State’s Petroleum
Company, EGPC, achieving a positive
cash flow at the end of 2011.
• EAST RAS QATTARA BLOCK
Enap Sipetrol is the production operator of the East Ras Qattara Block with
a participating interest of 50.5%, in

partnership with Kuwait Energy, which
has the remaining 49.5%.
In the East Ras Qattara Block, various
discoveries have been made since 2007
together with Enap Sipetrol’s joint
venture partner with the operating
company Petroshahd.
In 2011 there were two dry wells at
the beginning of the year, Karma-1
and Saady-1 (exploratory wells), but
these negative results were offset by
the results from the Shahad-2ST well
and the successful exploration of the
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Shebl-1 and Shebl East-1 wells.
Due to these positive results, the
final exploratory phase was extended
from the time period established in
the contract by six months to explore
the block’s potential before returning
the undeveloped areas. During the
development campaign three wells
were drilled, Rana-2, Shahd SE-4, and
SE-5, which also rendered good results.
The Shahd-2ST well is the eleventh
successful discovery in the block,
where 30 wells have been drilled to

date, of which 19 are exploratory and
11 are development wells. Of the 19
exploratory wells, 11 are producers,
which translates to a 58% success rate.
The total number of oil reserves
increased by 75% compared to 2010,
which is considered a great success
since it ensures business sustainability
in the medium term.
• ROMMANA BLOCK
This block is located in the northern
part of the Sinai Peninsula. It was
assigned to the association between

PTTEP (30%), Céntrica (30%), and
Enap Sipetrol (40%), which operates
it. It was given to Enap Sipetrol in
the bidding rounds conducted by
the Egyptian company EGAS in 2007.
In 2011, after the development of the
second seismic acquisition campaign,
which defined potential prospects in
the block, three wells were drilled during the first exploratory phase (Moon
Sinai-1, Opal Sinai-1, and Jasper-1). No
evidence of hydrocarbons was found,
which led to the abandonment of the
wells. In 2012 the continuity of operations in the block will be evaluated.

ENAP Sipetrol S.A.
Period Results
In this period the company earned
US$ 51.3 million profit after taxes.
This result is higher than the US$
37.3 million earned in 2010.
The results for 2011 are divided into
a positive gross profit of US$ 81.3
million (US$ 104 million in 2010)
and other losses of US$ 15.6 million
(a loss of US$ 46.7 million in 2010).
The revenue increased by 5.6% from
US$ 319 million in 2010 to US$ 337
million in 2011. On the other hand,
the cost of sales increased by 18.9%
from US$ 215 million in 2010 to US$
255.7 million in 2011.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.’s results translated
to an EBITDA of US$ 138 million in
2011, which is a 10% decrease from
2010.
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in Chile
In Chile the investment of this Line
was focused mainly on gas exploration
and exploitation in the Magallanes
Region. The investment reached
US$ 34.4 million, which was focused
primarily on:

LINES OF BUSINESS

DORADO RIQUELME
TERTIARY SPOC
(Exploitation and Exploration
Project, ENAP as operator,
50% participating interest)
15 wells were drilled (9 exploratory
and 6 development) and facilities were
built for the production and development. A fracturing campaign was
conducted, as a result of well studies.
The plan for 2012 involves drilling
4 exploratory wells, 2 development
wells, acquiring 103 km2 of seismic
3D data, and fracturing 3 wells.
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ARENAL
(Exploration Project,
ENAP as operator,
100% ownership)

In 2011, 8 exploratory wells were
drilled and the Cabañas 1, Cabañas 2,
and Punta Baja Sur 1 wells fractured.
The first two were successful.
The plan for 2012 involves drilling 10
exploratory wells and starting production at successful wells, according to
the order in which they were drilled.
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E&P Investments
abroad

PAMPA DEL CASTILLO (PDC)
(Exploration Project, Enap
Sipetrol as operator, 100%
ownership)

CAMPAMENTO CENTRALCAÑADÓN PERDIDO (CCCP)
(Exploitation Project, Enap
Sipetrol, 50% participating
interest)

The following investments were made:
9 development wells were drilled, 2
wells were repaired, and 16 extraction
improvements were made, which as
a whole added to the production and
reserve assets.

9 development wells were drilled and
9 primary wells were repaired, which
as a whole added to production and
reserve assets.

ARGENTINA
The E&P investment in this country
is focused on:

The plan for 2012 involves adding
reserves with a new development
campaign, which includes drilling,
repairing, and improving extraction
of producing wells. It also provides
for studies to be conducted of the
deposits to optimize production.

EGYPT
The E&P investment in this country
is focused on:

EAST RAS QATTARA (ERQ)
(Exploitation and Exploration
Project, Enap Sipetrol as
operator, 50.5% participating
interest)

The following investments were made:
9 development wells were drilled, 2
wells were repaired, and 16 extraction
improvements were made, which as
a whole added to production and
reserves assets.

The plan for 2012 involves adding
reserves with a new development
campaign, which includes drilling
producing wells, a secondary recovery
project, and moving forward with
studies to optimize production and
improve secondary recovery.

ROMMANA
(Exploration Project, Enap
Sipetrol as operator, 40%
participating interest)

In 2011, 3 exploratory wells were
drilled during the first exploratory
phase of the block.

The plan for 2012 is to continue adding
reserves with a new development
campaign, which includes drilling,
repairing, and improving extraction
of producing wells. It also provides
for studies to be conducted of the
deposits to optimize production.
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is focused on:
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MDC-PBHI
(Exploitation and
Exploration Project,
Enap Sipetrol as operator,
100% ownership)

BLOQUE 3
(Exploration Project,
Enap Sipetrol as operator,
100% ownership)

In 2011 at the MDC project (enhanced
recovery project), the platform expansion was completed, a new platform
was built, and a new access road was
made. Four wells were drilled and
completed, the conversion of a well
to water producer was conducted,
and the drilling of an injection well
was begun.

Consists of exploring the area located
on the coast of the Gulf of Guayaquil
to find new prospects and potential
reserves, mainly petroleum ones.

The plan for 2012 mainly involves the
drilling of a petroleum producing well,
completing the drilling of the MDC-23
injection well, converting a producer
into a water injector, and constructing
and installing production, injection,
and generation facilities.
At the PBHI project, progress was made
in the bidding process to acquire 3D
seismic data. Also, the Environmental
Impact Study was submitted to authorities whose approval is necessary
to obtain an Environmental License
to initiate 3D seismic activities in
the block.
In 2012 the Environmental License will
be obtained from Ecuador’s Minister
of Environment. A 3D seismic survey
will be performed of the 300 km2 and
the data will be processed as per the
commitment.
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In 2011 a bid was opened for the
drafting of the Environmental Impact
Study. Progress was also made in the
bidding process for the acquisition of
2D seismic data for the block.
In 2012 the Environmental Impact
Study is expected to be approved
and the Environmental License will
be obtained. Also, 500 kilometers of
2D seismic land data will be acquired
and processed and 1,500 kilometers
of 2D offshore seismic data will be
reprocessed.
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REFINING LINE OF
BUSINESS
Management Summary

to 60% of ERSA’s purchases, became
relatively more expensive.

The year 2011 was marked by high
volatility and instability in the market
for crude oil and products, including
various geopolitical conflicts, an international economic crisis, and an
energy crisis, among other issues. This
combination of scenarios significantly
and specifically affected the refining
business, including margins.

Another factor that worked against
the business was the drop in margins
due to the high volatility in prices.
ENAP fulfills its supply commitments
by supplementing production with
imports. The production level is based
on the business’s economic optimum.
Thus, every month the production and
importation levels are determined.

Starting in January the spread widened between WTI and Brent crude oil
prices. WTI had been the crude oil
benchmark for Enap Refinerías (ERSA),
but Brent became the new benchmark.
The WTI-Brent negative differential
continued to increase until September,
when the trend changed dramatically
and WTI crude oils, which correspond

Said economic optimum depends on
international refining margins, among
other variables. The refining margins
decreased, which forced the refineries
to operate at a lower trading volume
and to increase imports to fulfill the
domestic demand. The aforementioned
situation reduced expected losses.

Refining

CRUDE OIL

%

Light

1,225

10

Medium

3,553

30

Heavy

5,247

45

Complementary Loads
TOTAL
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REFINING TOTAL
3

Mm

1,721

15

11,746

100
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Not counting complementary loads
in 2011, the Aconcagua, Bío Bío, and
Gregorio Refineries processed 10
million m3 of crude oil, mainly from
South America (90%).

ORIGIN OF REFINED CRUDE OIL
NATIONAL 2%
EUROPE 8%

SOUTH AMERICA 90%

Production of fuel and other products
in 2011 totaled 11.2 million cubic meters. Of this total, gasoline (27%) and
diesel (34%) stand out. The period’s
volumetric yield was 95%.
At the Aconcagua and Bío Bío Refineries, the average utilization rate was
76.4% and operational uptime reached
94%, lower percentages than in 2010.
This utilization level is consistent with
the operational policy of maximizing
the margin given the current international refining business scenario,
which in periods of tight margins
does not necessarily increase the

refining volume, but on the contrary,
decreases the load.

PRODUCTS

REFINING TOTAL
3

%

Liquid Gas

1,197

11

Gasoline

3,104

27

Kerosene

793

7

Diesel

3,767

34

Petroleum Fuel

1,389

12

Industrial products & other
TOTAL
Volumetric Yield

Mm

998

9

11,158

100

95%
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Sales and
Market Share
SALES
The total sales volume of ENAP’s refined oil products in 2011 was 12.58
million cubic meters (216,700 bpd),
down 6.8% from 13.49 million cubic
meters sold in 2010.
Of the total, 12.02 million cubic meters (207,100 pbd) were sold to the
domestic market and the remaining
0.56 million cubic meters (9,600 bpd)
were export sales.
In 2011 both domestic market and
export sales decreased as a result of
the policy to concentrate sales efforts
on markets in which the Company is
most competitive. Thus, exports fell
by 164,000 cubic meters and sales
to the northern part of the country
decreased by 632,000 cubic meters,
while sales in the southern zone
increased by 307,000 cubic meters.
Although the main sales channel
continued to be wholesale fuel distributors, as part of the same policy
mentioned above, the direct sales to
end customers increased from 42,000
cubic meters in 2010 to 387,000 cubic
meters in 2011.
DOMESTIC MARKET
ENAP sold 12,02 million cubic meters
in the domestic market, reaching a
market share of 65.5%. The remaining
34% of national consumption was
supplied by direct imports from oil
refineries’ private distribution companies abroad.
ENAP’s domestic market sales were
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distributed as follows: 5.15 million
cubic meters of diesel with a market
share of 57.6%, 3.05 million cubic
meters of gasoline with a market
share of 83.1%, 1.44 million cubic
meters of fuel oil with a market share of 56.0%, 791,000 cubic meters
of kerosene with a market share of
66.4%, and 0.42 million cubic meters
of industrial products with a market
share of 72.2%
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EXPORTS
ENAP’s exports totaled 558,000 cubic
meters in 2011. The product distribution was the following: 282,000 cubic
meters of diesel (51% of the total);
123,000 cubic meters of gasoline
(22%), 74,000 cubic meters of fuel
oil (13%), and 79,000 cubic meters
of industrial products (14%).

ENAP’S SALES VOLUME, DOMESTIC AND EXPORT MARKET SHARE
Figures in Mm3

Domestic Sales

Domestic Consumption

Market Share

Import Sales

Exports

LPG

1,171

2,090

56.0%

5

-

Vehicle Gasoline

3,046

3,667

83.1%

129

123

791

1,192

66.4%

-

-

Diesel

5,151

8,936

57.6%

1,385

282

Fuel Oil

1,435

1,864

77.0%

84

74

Kerosene

Indust. Prods./Other
TOTAL

423

586

72.2%

-

79

12,017

18,335

65.5%

1,603

558

REFINING ABROAD
Enap Refinerías S.A. (ERSA) has the
subsidiary MANU to handle fuel imports from Peru. ERSA also develops
retail activities in Peru through its
affiliate Primax S.A. and in Ecuador
through its affiliate Primax Holding.
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REFINING IN THE MAGALLANES
REGION
• FUEL SUPPLY FOR THE
MAGALLANES AND CHILEAN
ANTARCTIC REGIONS
In 2011, ENAP’s Refining Business
Line sold a total volume of 197,000
cubic meters of liquid fuels in the
Region (diesel, aviation kerosene, and
gasoline) and 8,000 cubic meters of
liquid gas, thereby supplying 100%
of the regional demand with ENAP’s
products, which represents a 3% increase from 2010.

LINES OF BUSINESS
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• CABO NEGRO PLANT
In 2011 the Cabo Negro Plant processed a volume of 672,000 cubic
meters of LPG, down 20% from 2010.
This decrease was due to the reduced
availability of LPG from Argentina
mainly because of the unavailability
of export permits.
LPG shipments from Cabo Negro totaled 630,000 cubic meters, of which
604,000 cubic meters went to supply
the central zone and the remaining
26,000 cubic meters corresponded to
butane shipments by the Consorcio
Cuenca Marina Austral.

Mm3

LPG FRACTIONATION - CABO NEGRO
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• GREGORIO REFINERY
Regional production of crude oil
was 246,000 cubic meters, of which
207,000 cubic meters were refined
in the Gregorio Topping Refinery,
allowing ENAP to satisfy the regional
demand for aviation kerosene and
marine diesel.

PROCESSED CRUDE OIL COMPOSITION BREAKDOWN IN Mm3
DOMESTIC

IMPORT

18
227
2010

246
2011
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QUALITY MANAGEMENT

which is manifested in a high degree of
employee commitment and compliance.

This year two ISO 9001:2008 Surveillance Audits have been conducted, one
for the Refining & Logistics Quality
Management System and one for
ENAP Magallanes’s support processes.
The result of the audits renewed ISO
certification until November of 2012.
The internal auditing program defined
by the Quality Committee was also
conducted, which included seven audits of critical operational procedures
and six administrative audits.
All of the audits showed that the
Quality Management tool has been
used increasingly more in daily work,
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TRAINING AND LEARNING
Approximately 5,800 training hours
were completed, up 69% from the
previous year. In 2011 special emphasis
was given to operator retraining of
various processes. Around 3,520 hours
were spent on this retraining. Internal
training was also prioritized, especially
risk identification and mitigation and
compliance of regulations such as
the DS 160 and Emergency Response.
RISK MITIGATION
Lastly, with regard to risk identification

and mitigation at ENAP Magallanes’s
Refining and Logistics, a risk map was
developed using information gathered
in the HAZOP, safety inspections,
compliance with standards like the
DS160 from the SEC, environmental
and personnel safety regulations,
among others.
This work program significantly
reduced the exposure level of some
operational areas and resulted in design
of a multi-year work plan.
Among these risk mitigation initiatives
and cost savings, the start-up of the
Gregorio Crude Oil Unloading Area
was noteworthy.
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INVESTMENTS
For this Line of Business the majority
of the resources invested, US$83.3
million and US$ 43.8 million, went to
the Aconcagua and Bío Bío Refineries,
respectively, which belong to Enap
Refinerías S.A.
The main projects associated with
the Refining Line of Business are the
following:

and unloading crude oil and products,
which will replace the existing submarine terminals. The main objective
is to increase environmental safety
at San Vicente Bay, thereby reducing
risks associated with current operations. This pier is part of the Bío Bío
Refinery’s pier assets and involves a
total estimated expenditure of US$
158 million.

In 2011 the pile driving was completed. The pier and pipe structures
were almost finished except for some
electrical and instrumentation work.
In the second quarter of the year
the pier construction and interconnections with the land terminal are
expected to be finished.

• CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW
ALKYLATION UNIT - ACONCAGUA
REFINERY
This project aims to produce high
octane alkylates with a low steam
pressure and free of sulfur, benzene,
aromatics and olefins. These alkylates
will use olefin butane availability to
create a gasoline of certain specifications, which today is exported to
Pacific Coast markets.
This projects represents a total expenditure of US$ 248.7 million with
a NPV (10%) of US$ 32.7 million.
In 2011, the following was completed:
engineering planning, equipment
and material acquisition, and development of civil construction and
electromechanical plans for the unit.
Interconnections were begun.
In the first half of 2012 the civil
construction and electromechanical
assembly of the unit is expected
to be completed as well as the interconnections, precommissioning,
commissioning, and start-up.
• SAN VICENTE OIL PIER - BÍO BÍO
REFINERY
The project consists of the construction of a pier with above ground
pipelines for simultaneously loading
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which considered different alternatives.
Today, after more than four years of
studies, analyses, and learning, the
conclusion is that there is a unique
opportunity in Chile to offset liquid
fuel deficits with a high quality fuel
based on local raw materials. This is
an opportunity that the country must
take sooner or later.
Biocomsa S.A. is conducting a series
of studies and activities to ensure
biomass supply for the project. These
activities include considering the
following: non-traditional lignocellulosic biomass types, post-harvest
waste, energy crops, municipal waste, natural forest management, and
agricultural waste.

Biofuels
ForEnergy S.A. is a national project
that will contribute to Chile’s energy
independence. It has the following
goals: to make use of forest biomass,
to contribute to the development of
rural communities, to create energy
crops, and to establish a quality fuel
with low emissions to significantly
reduce the greenhouse gases.
This project has made commitments
with international technology providers, created work teams, and sought
funding to carry out activities.
In 2011, ForEnergy S.A. focused its
activities on the search for new
gasification technologies, thereby
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All promised technical and financial
reports were submitted to InnovaChile
CORFO, which approved the reports and
authorized the second installment of
funding for the project, a contribution
from CORFO.
contacting international companies,
such as German companies Choren[1]
Industries GmbH and UHDE and a
Finnish subsidiary of Foster Wheeler.
The company Biocomsa S.A., a technology consortium formed by Enap
Refinerías S.A., Consorcio Maderero,
and Universidad de Chile, researches
forest biomass technology, development, and uses. Biocomsa S.A.
performed studies related to wood
biomass exploration, development,
and conversion into diesel in Chile.
Conceptual engineering related to
gasification technology and secondgeneration biodiesel production was
conducted with Jacobs Consultancy
using Fischer Tropsch technology.
Project assessments were also made,

• LNG SATELLINE REGASIFICATION
FOR THE EIGHTH REGIÓN
The project will supply the Bío Bío
Refinery with LNG from the Quintero
Terminal. Benefits include reducing
energy costs and reducing environmental emissions.
The project presented a total estimated
expenditure of US$ 37 million with a
NPV (10%) of US$ 473 million.
In June of 2011 plant construction,
commissioning, and start-up were
finished. The Plant began operations
injecting into the Pacific pipeline. In
2012 adjustments were made to reach
a total gasification of 600,000 cubic
meters per day.
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Enap Refinerías S.A.

million, which includes the results
of its subsidiary in Peru and special
purpose companies.

RESULTS
In 2011, Enap Refinerías S.A. suffered a consolidated loss of US$ 113.2

This result is mainly due to the deterioration in international refining
margins, which severely affected the
business, causing the closure of many
refineries around the world.
Despite this situation, Enap Refinerías
S.A. was able to decrease the negative
effects on its results by coordinating
and strengthening its units.
The gross income was a loss of US$
30.1 million, representing a variation
over the 2010 period of US$ 40.4
million. This negative variation was
mainly due to the narrow margin
recorded in the international market.
The was measured by the spread between refined product sales prices and
crude oil or raw material costs, which
directly affected the sales margin of
both domestic and imported products.
Administrative expenses at the consolidated level decreased by US$ 12.3
million, dropping from US$ 39.5 million
accrued in December of 2010 to US$
27.2 million for the same period in 2011.
At the operational level, the refining
volume, including crude oils and complementary loads, reached 10.9 million
cubic meters. Meanwhile, production
was 10.3 million cubic meters, of which
the main products were diesel (36.2%)
and gasoline (29.0%).
The refineries’ utilization rate was
76.4% and plant uptime was 94.0%
(average for Aconcagua and Bío Bío
Refineries).
The total volume of domestic sales was
11.8 million cubic meters, representing
a market share of 64.4%. Meanwhile,
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exports totaled 0.6 million cubic
meters, representing 4.5% of total
products sold by Enap Refinerías S.A.
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES
MANU Peru’s consolidated net income,
including its participating interest
in Primax, was US$ 20.9 million, up
from US$ 15.2 million in 2010. This
difference was mainly due to a higher
sales volume.
Meanwhile, Primax S.A. in Peru’s
net income, of which MANU has a
participating interest of 49%, was
US$ 29.3 million. The sales volume
of liquid fuels was 1.84 cubic meters
and an annual market share of 23.7%.
These figures are higher than those
achieved in 2010, which yielded a net
income of US$ 22.6 million and a sales
volume of 1.73 million cubic meters.
Primax in Ecuador had a sales volume
of 1.28 million cubic meters and a
market share of 16.3% in 2011. Its net
income was US$ 1.3 million, up from
US$ 1.1 million in 2010.
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ENAP’s participation in companies
Affiliate Companies
(2)

36.25%

A & C PIPELINE
HOLDING

32.00%
BIOCOMSA S.A.

(1)

40.00%

(2)

49.00%

40.00%
22.80%

COMPAÑÍA
LATINOAMERICANA
PETROLERA S.A.

EMPRESA
NACIONAL DE
GEOTERMIA S.A.

FORENERGY S.A.

GASODUCTO
DEL PACÍFICO
(ARGENTINA) S.A.

(3)

48.60%
22.80%

25.00%

GASODUCTO
DEL PACÍFICO
(CAYMAN) LTD.

GASODUCTO
DEL PACÍFICO
(CHILE) S.A.

33.33%
GEOTÉRMICA DEL
NORTE S.A.

GNL CHILE S.A.

40.00%
20.00%
GNL QUINTERO S.A.

GOLFO DE GUAYAQUIL
PETROENAP COMPAÑÍA
DE ECONOMÍA MIXTA

(1)

42.00%
25.00%
INNERGY
HOLDINGS S.A.

NORGAS S.A.

35.79%

35.83%

OLEODUCTO
TRASANDINO
(ARGENTINA) S.A.

OLEODUCTO
TRASANDINO
(CHILE) S.A.

(2)

49.00%
15.00%
PETROPOWER
ENERGÍA LTDA.

PRIMAX S.A.

Other companies
(2)

(1)

(3)

49.00%

PRIMAX HOLDING S.A.

10.06%

12.97%

10.00%

15.00%

13.79%

SOCIEDAD
NACIONAL DE
OLEODUCTOS S.A.

SOCIEDAD NACIONAL
MARÍTIMA S.A.

COMPAÑÍA DE
HIDRÓGENO
DEL BÍO BÍO S.A.

ELECTROGAS S.A.

TERMINALES
MARÍTIMAS
PATAGÓNICAS S.A.

(1) Includes ENAP and its subsidiaries' participating interest.
(2) Subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A.’s participating interest.
(3) Subsidiary Enap Sipetrol S.A.’s participating interest.
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ENAP’s Affiliate Companies in 2011

COMPANY

CREATION
DATE

CAPITAL
INVESTMENT

BUSINESS
PURPOSE

COMPANY’S
BOARD
CHAIRMAN OF
THE BOARD

BOARD
MEMBERS

ALTERNATE BOARD
MEMBERS

A&C PIPELINE
HOLDING COMPANY

December 22,
1992

MM USD 900

General investment and financing company.
Owns Oleoducto Trasandino (Argentina) S.A
and Oleoducto Transandino (Chile) S.A. stock.

Gabriel Grzona

Gabriel Grzona,
Carlos Cabeza,
Guillermo Rocchetti,
Gustavo Chaab
and Claudio Aldana

Mariel Augusto,
Patricio Véliz,
Ricardo Aguirre,
Raúl Rodríguez,
Gastón Schofield

BIOCOMSA S.A.

August 18, 2009

MM USD 903

Research and transfer of technology for the
production of biofuels using lignocellulosic
biomass materials and their use with
hydrocarbons and their derivatives.

Pedro Barría

Pedro Barría,
Paulina Valenzuela,
Pablo Vargas,
Juan José Cueto
and Manuel Rodríguez

Gerardo Paseron,
Álvaro Hercolani,
Antonio García,
Javier González

COMPAÑÍA
LATINOAMERICANA
PETROLERA S.A.

December 31,
1992

CLP
3,101,208

Foreign exploration and exploitation projects
for oil, gas and their derivatives, as well as the
purchase, sales, import and export of these
products.

Lorenzo
Gazmuri

Lorenzo Gazmuri,
Arturo Natho,
Andrés Robertson,
Rodrigo Bloomfield
and Ali Shakhtur

Ramiro Méndez,
Juan Carlos Carrasco,
Frederic Chaveyriart,
Lisandro Rojas
and Álvaro Hercolani

EMPRESA
NACIONAL DE
GEOTERMIA S.A.

January 5, 2001

MM USD
16,024

Research, exploration, development and
exploitation of geothermal energy, including all
of their complementary activities.

Rafael Sotil

Valerio Cecchi,
Giuseppe Turchiarelli,
Rafael Sotil
y Rodrigo Bloomfield

Fernando Ramírez,
Óscar Valenzuela,
Álvaro Hercolani
and Ali Shakhtur Said

FORENERGY S.A.

August 10, 2007

MM USD 691

Generic technical, economic, legal and
financial feasibility studies for a secondgeneration biodiesel production project using
forest biomass, including viability studies
and pilot plant installation, construction, and
development.

Pablo Vargas

Pedro Barría,
Víctor Briano,
Rafael Sotil,
Peter Heler,
Juan José Cueto
and Pablo Vargas

Gerardo Paseron,
Fernando Promis,
Álvaro Hercolani,
Antonio García

GASODUCTO
DEL PACÍFICO
(ARGENTINA) S.A.

August 25, 1995

MM USD
55,396

This company and their related companies’
purpose is to operate the natural gas pipeline
running from Argentina (Loma de la Lata) to
Chile’s border (Paso Buta Mallin) and perform
all of the activities related to this service.

Hugo Martelli

Benoit Gauvin,
Hugo Martelli,
Pablo de Rosso,
Eduardo Cabello,
Marcelo Lamesa,
Rodolfo Freyre,
Mario Tellez, Rosa Herrera,
Rafael Sotil and Dante
Kogan

José María Eyzaguirre,
Gabriel Leon,
Felipe Bahamondez,
Roberto Piriz,
Carlos Peebles, Gerardo
Cood, Carmen Figueroa,
Fernando Promis,
Ana Teresita Alonso

GASODUCTO DEL
PACÍFICO CAYMAN
S.A.

August 22,1995

USD 50,000

General investment and financing. Owns
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Argentina) S.A. stock.

Felipe
Bahamondez

José María Eyzaguirre,
Gabriel León,
Eduardo Cabello,
Carmen Figueroa,
Gerardo Cood, Claudio
Honauer, Rosa Herrera,
Rafael Sotil
and Dante Kogan

Paul Miller, Benoit
Gauvin, Donald J.
Degrandis, Roberto Piriz,
Lorenzo Davico, Alejandro
Espinoza, Pablo Sobarzo,
Fernando Promis
and Ana Teresita Alonso

GASODUCTO DEL
PACÍFICO (CHILE)
S.A.

August 7,1995

MM USD
105,842

Construction, ownership, exploration and
technical and commercial operation of a
pipeline system in Chile for transporting
natural gas from the Neuquén province
in Argentina, to the 8th Region in Chile.
This includes any expansion, extension, or
interconnection of the pipeline system and its
installation within the 8th Region.

Felipe
Bahamondez

José María Eyzaguirre,
Gabriel León, Eduardo
Cabello, Carmen Figueroa,
Gerardo Cood, Claudio
Honauer, Rosa Herrera
and Rafael Sotil

Paul Miller, Benoit Gauvin,
Donald J. Degrandis,
Roberto Piriz,
Lorenzo Davico,
Alejandro Espinoza,
Pablo Sobarzo
and Fernando Promis

GEOTÉRMICA DEL
NORTE S.A.

December 29,
2000

MM USD
112,836

Research exploration, development and
exploitation of geothermal energy and all of its
complementary activities

Rafael Sotil

Valerio Cecchi,
Luca Rossini, Rafael Sotil
and Rodrigo Bloomfield

Fernando Ramírez,
Óscar Valenzuela,
Álvaro Hercolani
and Ali Shakhtur

GNL CHILE S.A.

November 16,
2005

MM USD
3,026

Import of LNG and sales of natural gas.
Contract with GNL Quintero S.A. to receive,
store, and regasify all LNG to natural gas.

José Venegas

José Venegas,
Eduardo Morandé
and Rafael Sotil

Juan Oliva,
Gonzalo Patricio
and Rosa Herrera
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MAIN
EXECUTIVES

ENAP’S
PARTICIPATING
INTEREST

ENAP’S EXECUTIVES
IN AFFILIATED COMPANY

COMMERCIAL
RELATIONSHIPS

AGREED ACTS
OR CONTRACTS

INVESTMENT TO TOTAL
ENAP ASSETS RATIO

36.25%

Principal Directors:
Claudio Aldana and Carlos Cabeza
Alternate Directors:
Patricio Véliz and Gastón Schofield

No commercial relationships

Álvaro Urzúa,
CEO

32%²

Principal Directors:
Pedro Barria and Paulina Valenzuela
Alternate Directors:
Gerardo Passeron and Álvaro
Hercolani

Ramón Concha,
CEO

40%¹

Principal Directors:
Rafael Sotil and Rodrigo Bloomfield
Alternate Directors:
Álvaro Hercolani and Ali Shakhtur

Commercial partners
in foreign projects for
exploration and production
of hydrocarbons

Guido Cappetti,
CEO

49.00%

Principal Directors:
Pedro Barria, Víctor Briano and
Rafael Sotil
Alternate Directors:
Gerardo Passeron, Fernando
Promis, and Álvaro Hercolani
General Manager:
Paulina Valenzuela

Technical consulting and
services contracts

Paulina
Valenzuela,
CEO

40%²

Principal Directors:
Rafael Sotil and Rosa Herrera
Alternate Director:
Fernando Promis

Gabriel León,
CEO

22.80%

Principal Directors:
Rafael Sotil and Rosa Herrera
Alternate Director:
Fernando Promis

No commercial relationships

0.116%

Gabriel León,
CEO

22.80%

Principal Directors:
Rafael Sotil and Rosa Herrera
Alternate Directors:
Alfonso Yáñez and Fernando Promis

No commercial relationships

0.000%

Gabriel León,
CEO

25.00%

Principal Director:
Rafael Sotil
Alternate Director:
Rosa Herrera

No commercial relationships

0.080%

Guido Cappetti,
CEO

48.60%

Principal Directors:
Rafael Sotil and Rodrigo Bloomfield
Alternate Directors:
Álvaro Hercolani and Ali Shakhtur

Technical consulting and
services contracts

Alejandro
Palma, CEO

33.33%

Principal Director: Rafael Sotil
Alternate Director: Rosa Herrera

0.002%

0.003%

0.005%

Technical consulting and services contract

0.016%

0.004%

Technical consulting and services contracts

0.773%

Gas Sales Agreement between ERSA and GNL
Chile S.A. (GNLC)
SPA between ERSA, GNLC, and BG LNG Trading

0.000%

1 Includes ENAP and its subsidiaries’ participating interest 2 Enap Refinerías S.A.’s participating interest
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COMPANY

CREATION
DATE

CAPITAL
INVESTMENT

BUSINESS
PURPOSE

COMPANY’S
BOARD
CHAIRMAN OF
THE BOARD

BOARD
MEMBERS

ALTERNATE BOARD
MEMBERS

Claudio Iglesis

William Jude, Diego
Hollweck, Claudio Iglesis,
and Rafael Sotil

Francisco Gazmuri, Rosa
Herrera, Juan Oliva, and
Patricio Silva

Rodrigo Bloomfield,
Eduardo Tapia, A Series:
Rear Admiral Luis Jaramillo,
Engineer Francisco Rosero,
Engineer Luis Cabrera. B
Series: Germán Rébolo,
Julio Bertrand

Diego Díaz, German
Rebolo, A Series:
Commander Miguel
Córdova, Commander
Pablo Caicedo. B Series:
Lupercio Arteaga

GNL QUINTERO
S.A.

March 9, 2007

MM USD
114,058

To develop, fund, design, engineer, supply,
build, setup, test, finalize, operate, and
maintain a liquefied natural gas regasification
terminal, including future expansions.

GOLFO DE
GUAYAQUIL
PETROENAP
COMPAÑÍA DE
ECONOMÍA MIXTA

September 15,
2008

MM USD 100

To perform in all or any of the activities of
the oil industry that aim to optimally use
hydrocarbons, which are an inalienable and
imprescriptible heritage of Ecuador. This
includes the scientific research, generation
and transfer of technology, for which it will
execute all the legal acts and contracts.

INNERGY HOLDING
S.A

January 23,
1998

MM USD
191,513

Stockholding in companies whose purpose
is to buy, sell, and supply natural gas, as well
as to build, exploit, and operate networks for
the transportation of natural gas. To provide
management and administrative consulting
to its own subsidiaries or to third parties.

Carmen
Figueroa

Carmen Figueroa, Gerardo
Cood, Claudio Hornauer,
Benoit Gauvin, Felipe
Bahamondez, Gabriel León,
Rafael Sotil, Rosa Herrera,
and Eduardo Cabello

Lorenzo Davico,
Alejandro Espinoza,
Pablo Sobarzo, Rodrigo
Álvarez, Sergio Concha,
Paul Miller, Fernando
Promis, and Roberto
Piriz

NORGAS S.A.

August 12,
1996

CLP
2,758,365

Import, export, and purchase of LPG. Sale to
wholesale distributors in the First and Second
Regions of Chile.

Luis Felipe Silva

Luis Felipe Silva, Rafael
Sotil, Fernando Promis,
Ángel Mafucci, and Jesús
Castañer

Luiz Guzmán, Yasna
Ross, and Alison Saffery

OLEODUCTO
TRANSANDINO
O (ARGENTINA) S.A.

December 22,
1992

MM USD
34,686

To build and operate the Argentinian side of
an oil pipeline between Argentina and Chile.

Gabriel César

Gabriel Cesar Claudio
Aldana, Gustavo A.
Chaab, Carlos Cabeza, and
Guillermo Rocchetti

Mariel Augusto, Patricio
Véliz, Gastón Schofield,
Raúl A. Rodríguez, and
Ricardo Aguirre

OLEODUCTO
TRANSANDINO
(CHILE) S.A.

December 11,
1992

MM USD
8,621

To build and operate, itself or in association
with third parties, the Chilean side of an oil
pipeline running between Chile and Argentina

Carlos Cabeza

Carlos Cabeza, Gabriel
César, Guillermo Rocchetti,
Vito Camporeale, and
Claudio Aldana

Gustavo Chaab, Gastón
Schofield, Ricardo
Aguirre, Francisco
García, and Patricio Véliz

PETROPOWER
ENERGÍA LTDA.

December 22,
1992

MM USD
70,461

To produce energy and to process fuel by
means of the development, building and
operation of a delayed coker plant, including
a hydro-treatment unit and a co-generation
electricity, vapor, and demineralized water
plant, as well as some interconnection
systems.

Anthony Scerbo

Anthony Scerbo, Martín
Karpenski, Ramón
Zubizarreta, Carlos Cabeza,
and Ariel Azar

Alison Saffery
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No commercial relationships

-Sale Agreement between ERSA and GNLQ
-Stock Options Agreement between ENAP and
GNLQ
-Environmental Permit Agreement between ENAP
and GNLQ
-TUA Direct Agreement between ERSA and GNLQ,
among others
-Umbrella Arbitration Agreement
-Company Guarantee from ENAP to CB&I
-Second Amendment to Umbrella Arbitration
Agreement
-Fast Track Operational Protocol
-Granting, Acceptance, and Other: Engineering,
Supply, and Construction Agreement and
Umbrella Agreement for Engineering, Supply, and
Construction from ENAP and Metrogras to GNL
Quintero S.A., dated June 15, 2010 with Montaje
Industrial Consorcio Echeverría Izquierdo, Parés y
Álvarez Ltda.

0.000%

Memorandum of Understanding between
Shareholders of Empresa Golfo de Guayaquil
Petroenap Compañía de Economía Mixta for the
40th block subscribed on September 16, 2008.

0.000%

Purchase of natural gas contract

0.000%

Antonio
Bacigalupo,
CEO

20.00%

Principal Director: Rafael Sotil
Alternate Director: Rosa Herrera

Pablo Cisneros,
CEO

40.00% 4

Principal Directors:
Rodrigo Bloomfield and
Eduardo Tapia
Alternate Directors:
Germán Rebolo and
Lupercio Arteaga

Patricia
Palacios, CEO

25.00%

Principal Directors:
Rafael Sotil and Rosa Herrera
Alternate Directors:
Fernando Promis.

Purchasing of natural gas,
including delivery service

Miguel
Morales, CEO

42.00%

Principal Directors:
Rafael Sotil and Fernando Promis
Alternate Directors:
Yasna Ross and Alison Saffery

Bulk purchase of gas.
Diverse transportation
services.

0.056%

Mario Pablo
Leder, CEO

35.79%

Principal Directors:
Claudio Aldana and Carlos Cabeza
Alternate Directos:
Patricio Véliz and Gastón Schofield

No commercial
relationships

0.045%

Jaime Pulido,
CEO; Ana
Charles, CFO;
Elias Bartulovic,
Regional
Manager

35.83%

Principal Directors:
Claudio Aldana and Carlos Cabeza
Alternate Directors:
Patricio Véliz and Gastón Schofield

Transportation services for
crude oil, cargo services,
oil pipeline rental services,
and crude oil storage pool
rental.

Ramón
Zubizarreta,
CEO

15.00% 1

Principal directors:
Carlos Cabeza and Ariel Azar
Alternate Director:
Alison Saffery

Electrical energy sales,
water sales, coke
processing mandates,
property rights and
guarantees.

Rental services of pools and pipes

0.067%

1- Partner Agreement
2- Processing Service and Supply Agreement
dated January 15,1996
3- Usufruct and Easement Agreement
4- Arbitration Agreement dated February 7,
1996
5- Electric Energy Agreement dated May 2, 2000

0.323%

1 Includes ENAP and its subsidiaries’ participating interest 2 Enap Refinerías S.A.’s participating interest
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COMPANY

CREATION
DATE

CAPITAL
INVESTMENT

BUSINESS
PURPOSE

COMPANY’S
BOARD
CHAIRMAN OF
THE BOARD

BOARD
MEMBERS

ALTERNATE BOARD
MEMBERS

PRIMAX S.A. (Perú)

August 16,
2004

MM USD
62,820

Sales of liquid fuels derived from
hydrocarbons, such as gasoline, kerosene,
diesel, and other residuals, as well as
lubricants through wholesale sellers and
more than 270 company-owned and thirdparty-owned service stations.

Fernando
Romero

Fernando Romero, Luis
Romero, and Luis Barría

Rafael Sotil and Ariel
Azar

PRIMAX HOLDING
S.A. (Ecuador)

July 25, 2006

MM USD 800

Purchase of stock shares, stockholding and
rights holder of companies in Ecuador and
abroad. Holding and stockholding company.

Fernando
Romero

Fernando Romero, Luis
Romero, and Pedro Barría

Rafael Sotil and Ariel
Azar

SOCIEDAD
NACIONAL DE
OLEODUCTOS S.A.

May 31, 1957

MM USD
114,745

Acquisition, building, maintaining, operating,
and exploiting one or more oil pipelines for
the transportation of gasoline, kerosene, oil,
and other products transportable in those
pipelines.

Jorge Garnham

Jorge Garnham, Lorenzo
Gazmuri, Frederic
Cheveyriat, Alejandro
Álvarez, Juan Juanet,
Juan José Piñeiro, Gastón
Schofield, Rodrigo Infante,
and José Odone

Carlos Lonza, Ramíro
Menez, Juan Carlos,
Arturo Natho, Patricia
Figueroa, Luis Melo,
Igrejas López, Rafael
Sotil, Alan Sherwin, and
Eduardo Navarro

SOCIEDAD
NACIONAL
MARÍTIMA S.A.

September 1,
2005

MM USD
9,281

Transportation of crude oil and its derivatives
by sea.

Jorge Garnham

Dag Von Appen, Enrique
Ida, Michael Schroder, Jorge
Garnham, Lorenzo Gazmuri,
Gastón Schofield, and
Rodrigo Infante

Richard Von Appen,
Enzo Ragazzone, Sergio
Vial Faúndez, Alejandro
Álvarez, José Odone,
Rafael Sotil, and Alan
Sherwin

COMPAÑÍA DE
HIDRÓGENO DEL
BÍO BÍO S.A.

February 17,
2003

MM USD
6,597

Building and operating a high purity hydrogen
production plant from natural gas. The
plant is located within Enap Refinerías in
Talcahuano.

Juan Eduardo
Errázuriz

Juan Eduardo Errázuriz,
Daniel Ibarra, Naoshi
Matsumoto, and Alejandro
Marti

Alison Saffery

Other Companies 2011
ELECTROGAS S.A.

October 14,
1996

MM USD 61,
832

Closely-held corporation whose purpose
is to provide transportation of natural gas
and other fuels on its own of through third
parties. To achieve this goal it will build,
operate and maintain gas pipelines, oil
pipelines or multi-purpose pipelines and their
complementary facilities.

Claudio Iglesias

Claudio Iglesias, Rafael Sotil,
Juan Eduardo Vázquez,
Enrique Donoso, and Pedro
Gatica

Rosa Herrera, Ricardo
Santibáñez, Jorge
Bernando Larraín,
Cristian Morales, and
Juan Oliva

TERMINALES
MARÍTIMAS
PATAGÓNICAS S.A.

January 6, 1994

MM ARS
14,360

Storage and shipping of hydrocarbons,
including its receptions, loading, unloading,
storage, and dispatching, as well as any other
complementary activities.

Fernando José

Fernando José, Claudio
Aldana, Carlos Germán,
Laurent Denis, Rodolfo
Eduardo, and Néstor Hugo

Gastón Schofield, Luis
Francisco de Ridder,
Guillermo José Campos,
Javier Gutiérrez, Roberto
Hector Hopson, and
Marcelo Horacio
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49.00%2

Principal Director:
Pedro Barría
Alternate Directors:
Rafael Sotil and Arial Azar

Purchase and reception
of Enap Refinerías S.A’s
products to be distributed
through Distribuidora
Primax S.A.’s distribution
network.

Liquid fuels and hydrocarbon derivatives supply
agreement

1.173%

Marcelo Freire,
CEO

49.00% 2

Principal Director:
Pedro Barría
Alternate Directors:
Rafael Sotil and Ariel Azar

Roberto Hetz,
CEO

10.06%

Principal Director:
Gastón Schofield
Alternate Director:
Rafael Sotil

Transportation services of
oil products through its
pipelines.

Oil derivatives transportation and related
services agreements

0.250%

Roberto Hetz,
CEO

12.97%

Principal Director:
Gastón Schofield
Alternate Director:
Rafael Sotil

Delivery and maritime
transportation.

Delivery services and related services agreements

0.050%

Juan Pablo
Alboitiz, CEO

10.00%1

Principal Director:
Daniel Ibarra
Alternate Director:
Alison Saffery

Processing services for the
production of hydrogen
using natural gas and other
loads at Enap Refinerías
S.A. - Bío Bío

Agreements with Enap Refinerías S.A., processing,
operation, and maintenance services agreements.
Land assignment agreement

Special purposes
company

Carlos
Andreani, CEO

15.00%

Principal Director: Rafael Sotil
Alternate Director: Rosa Herrera

Gas transport and
consulting services

Transportation of gas agreement

Daniel Scalise,
CEO

13.79%

Principal Director: Claudio Aldana
Alternate Director:
Gastón Schofield

Provide storage and
shipping of hydrocarbons

No legal relationship, because tariffs are set by
Argentina’s Energy Department

0.008%

1 Includes ENAP and its subsidiaries’ participating interest 2 Enap Refinerías S.A.’s participating interest
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

CHAPTER 6

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND DECEMBER 31, 2010
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

Note
N°

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

7
8
9
10
11
12
13

283.863
3.677
12.385
851.698
124.844
1.486.655
105.139

62.422
10.993
882.585
53.658
1.089.615
184.017

2.868.261

2.283.290

50.508

23

2.918.769

2.283.313

31.536
10.642
19.370
9.433
140.155
3.084
2.672.175
2.055
395.298

81.341
12.779
24.905
11.942
3.084
183.727
2.634.479
2.061
294.550

Total non-current assets

3.283.748

3.248.868

TOTAL ASSETS

6.202.517

5.532.181

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets
Other non-financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Due from related companies
Inventories
Current tax assets
Total current assets other than assets classified as held for sale
Non current assets or group of assets classified as held for sale

14

Total current assets
Non-current assets:
Other financial assets
Other non-financial assets
Rights receivable
Due from related companies
Intangible assets other than goodwill
Investment in associates measured using the equity method
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Deferred tax assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND DECEMBER 31, 2010
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

Note
N°

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

21
22
11
23
13
24

1.051.917
1.309.544
26.800
36.894
54.576
35.594
588

647.877
1.126.828
17.664
13.346
82.529
72.833
382

2.515.913

1.961.459

2.985.136
9.958
96.498
102.265
109.916
1.826

2.818.588
5.850
79.444
93.503
114.771
2.114

Total non-current liabilities

3.305.599

3.114.270

Total liabilities

5.821.512

5.075.729

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Other current financial liabilities
Trade debtors and other accounts payable
Due to related companies
Other short-term accruals
Current tax liabilities
Current accruals for employee benefits
Other non-financial liabilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Other financial liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Other long-term accruals
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current accruals for employee benefits
Other non-financial liabilities

21
22
23
13
24

Equity:
Paid-in capital
Accumulated earnings (losses)
Other reserves

25
25
25

1.232.332
(722.545)
(142.259)

1.232.332
(651.972)
(135.986)

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company
Non - controlling interest

26

367.528
13.477

444.374
12.078

381.005

456.452

6.202.517

5.532.181

Total equity

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

Revenues from ordinary activities
Cost of sales
Gross margin
Other income, per function
Administrative expenses
Other expenses, per function
Other income
Financial income
Financial expense
Participation in the earnings of associates
Exchange differences

Note
N°

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

28

10.834.843
(10.662.555)
172.288
36.007
(84.667)
(89.248)
29.245
4.244
(175.315)
37.166
(42.620)

8.179.889
(7.933.844)
246.045
32.543
(104.226)
(47.062)
34.029
3.639
(181.131)
22.625
48.826

29
15
31

Income (loss) before taxes
Income tax benefits
Net income (loss)
Attributable income (loss)
Income (loss) attributable to equity holders of parent
Income (loss) attributable to non - controlling interest
Net income (loss)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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26

(112.900)

55.288

45.942

14.844

(66.958)

70.132

(68.798)
1.840

61.394
8.738

(66.958)

70.132
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ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

12.31.2011
ThUS$
Net income (loss)
Components from other comprehensive income, before taxes
Currency translation differences
Currency translation differences, before taxes
Other comprehensive income, currency translation differences, before taxes
Financial Assets Available For Sale
Income (loss) from new measurements of financial assets held for sale, before taxes
Other comprehensive income, before taxes, financial assets held for sale

(66.958)

12.31.2010
ThUS$
70.132

(3.167)

(82)

(3.167)

(82)

-

1.190
1.190

Cash Flow Hedges
Income (loss) from cash flow hedges, before taxes

18.015

(50.829)

Other comprehensive income, before taxes, cash flow hedges

18.015

(50.829)

Share of the other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using the equity method
Other components from other comprehensive income, before taxes

(15.318)

-

(470)

(49.721)

538
(5.944)
(5.406)
(5.876)

10.963
10.963
(38.758)

Total comprehensive income (loss)

(72.834)

31.374

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to
Result of income (loss) attributable to owners of parent company
Result of income (loss) attributable to non - controlling interest

(74.676)
1.842

30.864
510

Total comprehensive income (loss)

(72.834)

31.374

Income taxes related to exchange differences from translation of other comprehensive income
Income taxes related to currency translation differences of other comprehensive income
Income taxes related to cash flow hedges of other comprehensive income
Sum of income taxes for components of other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income (loss)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

Changes in other reservers

Reserves for
exchange
Revaluation differences for
Surplus
translation

Issued
capital
ThUS$

Notes

Opening balance at 01/01/2011

ThUS$

25 b)

Reserves for
cash flow
hedges

Reserves of
income or
losses in the
remediation of
financial assets
held for sale

Other
reserves

Retained
Net equity
earnings and attributable to
accumulated the owners of the
losses
Parente Company

Subtotal
Other
reserves

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

25 c)

25 c)

25 c)

25 c)

25 c)

25 d)

(77.152)

1.190

Total
Equity

ThUS$

ThUS$

26

1.232.332

-

-

-

1.232.332

-

(70.765)

(77.152)

1.190

-

-

(2.629)

(3.249)

-

-

(5.878)

(68.798)
-

(68.798)
(5.878)

1.840
2

(66.958)
(5.876)

-

-

(2.629)

(3.249)

-

-

(5.878)

(68.798)

(74.676)

1.842

(72.834)

Increase (decrease) due to transfers and other changes

-

-

(19.383)

-

18.988

(395)

(1.775)

(2.170)

Total changes in equity

-

-

(2.629)

(22.632)

-

18.988

(6.273)

(70.573)

(76.846)

(73.394)

(99.784)

1.190

(70.683)

(45.514)

Increase (decrease) for reclassification
Restated initial balance
Comprehensive income
Income (loss)
Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income

Final balance at 12/31/2011

1.232.332

Opening balance at 01/01/2010

1.182.700

-

-

-

1.182.700

-

Increase (decrease) due to correction of errors
Restated initial balance
Comprehensive income
Income (loss)

(70.765)

ThUS$

Non controlling
interest

-

-

(70.683)

-

(45.514)

-

10.741 (135.986) (651.972) 444.374
-

-

-

-

10.741 (135.986) (651.972) 444.374

12.078 456.452
-

-

12.078 456.452

(443)
1.399

(2.613)
(75.447)

29.729 (142.259) (722.545) 367.528

13.477 381.005

-

19.763

37.618 443.840

-

-

-

19.763

(96.434) (680.044) 406.222
-

-

-

(96.434) (680.044) 406.222
61.394

61.394

-

-

37.618 443.840
8.738

70.132

Other comprehensive income

-

-

(82)

(31.638)

1.190

-

(30.530)

-

Comprehensive income

-

-

(82)

(31.638)

1.190

-

(30.530)

61.394

30.864

510

31.374

49.632

-

-

-

-

-

-

49.632

-

49.632

-

-

-

-

-

49.632

-

(82)

(31.638)

1.190

(9.022) (39.552)

1.232.332

-

(70.765)

(77.152)

1.190

10.741 (135.986) (651.972) 444.374

Increase for other constributions by owners
Increase (decrease) due to transfers and other changes
Total changes in equity
Final balance at 12/31/2010

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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(9.022)

(9.022)

(33.322)
28.072

(30.530) (8.228) (38.758)

(42.344) (26.050) (68.394)
38.152 (25.540)

12.612

12.078 456.452
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ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS, DIRECT METHOD
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

Statement of Cash Flows, Direct
Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities
Proceeds from sales of goods and services
Receipts from premiums and benefits, annuities and other benefits from written policies
Other receipts (payments) from operating activities
Payments to suppliers for goods and services
Payments to and on behalf of employees
Other payments for operating activities
Dividends paid
Dividends received
Interest received
Income taxes refunded (paid)
Other inputs (outputs) in cash
Cash flows from operating activities

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

15.284.631
53.012
188.745
(13.316.452)
(328.018)
(1.697.558)
(986)
6.844
3.097
(5.243)
10.928

10.784.669
40.117
157.360
(9.204.605)
(326.107)
(1.223.110)
(5.014)
6.974
602
13.181
2.410

199.000

246.477

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Cash flows used in the purchase of non-controlling interest
Other receipts from the sale of equity or debt securities of other entities.
Other payments to acquire interests in joint ventures
Loans to related entities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Cash advances and loans to third parties.
Purchase of long-term assets
Cash advances and loans to third
Collections to related entities
Interest received
Other outputs in cash

(201)
39
(5.600)
41
(386.078)
(128)
12.000
3.855
2.500
(76)

(33.000)
211
(20.098)
(6.000)
3.753
(410.589)
(3.081)
(1.986)
2.327
156
-

Cash flows used in investing activities

(373.648)

(468.307)

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities
Proceeds from long-term loans
Proceeds from short-term loans
Loans from related entities
Loan payments
Payments of finance lease liabilities
Interest paid
Other inputs (outputs) in cash

890.917
654.644
16.270
(953.633)
(1.311)
(184.863)
(17.507)

496.325
1.291.690
15.615
(1.479.864)
(3.495)
(144.382)
33.396

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents, before the effect of changes in the exchange rate

404.517
229.869

209.285
(12.545)

Effects of variation in the exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents
Effects of variation in the exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(8.428)
221.441

(1.845)
(14.390)

62.422

76.812

283.863

62.422

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETROLEO AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (hereinafter “ENAP” or the
“parent company”) is the parent entity of the group of
companies (the “ENAP Group”) referred to in these consolidated financial statements.
On October 4, 2002, ENAP was registered in the Securities
Register of the Superintendent of Securities and Insurances, (SVS, Superintendencia de Valores y Seguros), under
number 783. As such, ENAP is subject to the regulations
of the above Superintendent.
ENAP was created through Law 9,618, dated June 19, 1950
and is owned by the Republic of Chile, and its corporate
purpose is the exploration, production and marketing of
hydrocarbons and its by-products. The addresses of ENAP
address are Avenida Vitacura 2736 Floor 10, Las Condes in
Santiago and José Nogueira 1101 in Punta Arenas.
The Company’s financial statements for the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2011 were approved by the Board
of Directors at Regular Meeting #1067 held on March 27,
2012. The Company’s financial statements for the fiscal
year ending 2010 were approved by its Board of Directors
at Regular Meeting #1046 held on February 22, 2011.
2. DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS
According to the abovementioned law and its subsequent
amendments, ENAP’s main activity is exploring, operating
or monetizing ore deposits containing hydrocarbons, which
is authorized to be performed both inside and outside
the country.
Its main subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. (“ERSA”) is a closed
corporation, which officially began operating in January
2004. It was created according to an agreement that was
approved at the general meeting of shareholders of Petrox
S.A. Refinería de Petróleo (Petrox), on December 23, 2003,
under which this subsidiary of ENAP merged with Refinería
de Petróleo de Concón S.A. (RPC). Petrox, now ERSA was
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organized as a closed corporation on July 16, 1981, before
the notary Raúl Undurraga Laso, from Santiago, and its
registered address is Avenida Borgoño 25777, Concón. Its
line of business is the import, processing, storage and
marketing of hydrocarbons and its derivatives and all
other activities that are directly or indirectly related and
which are expressed in detail in the third article of the
existing social statute. Additionally, ERSA has distribution
and logistics operations, which it carries out through its
international subsidiary Manu Perú Holding S.A., established
in Peru to import fuel from Chile and sell it there and in
Ecuador, through the network of service stations of the
ERSA’s affiliate Primax.
The direct subsidiary ENAP Sipetrol S.A. execute outside the country one or more of the activities related to
the exploration, operations or monetization of ENAP’s
hydrocarbon-bearing deposits.
ENAP Sipetrol S.A. has branches in Ecuador and Venezuela
(the latter without any economic activity) and associates
in Argentina, the United Kingdom (UK), Ecuador, Uruguay,
and joint venture in Argentina and Egypt. ENAP Sipetrol
(UK) Limited (United Kingdom) is in the process of closing
down its operations, which is expected to be completed
in 2012.
The subsidiaries ENAP Refinerías S.A. and ENAP Sipetrol
S.A. are privately held corporations, voluntarily registered
in the Special Register of Reporting Entities of the SVS
under N° 95 and N° 187, respectively.
Petro Servicio Corp. S.A. is in the process of closing down,
which is expected to conclude during 2012. The Enap Group
wholly owns the capital in that subsidiary.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

sentation are converted using the following procedures:

3.1 Accounting principles

• Assets and liabilities: at the exchange rate prevailing on
the closing date of the financial statements.
• Items in the statement of income: using the average
monthly exchange rate.
• Net equity is kept at the historic exchange rate on the
date of acquisition or contribution and retained earnings
are kept at the mean exchange rate on the date of generation. Exchange differentials arising in the conversion
of the financial statements are recorded in “Reserves
for exchange differences for translation” within “Other
reserves” in Equity.

These consolidated financial statements are stated in
thousands of US dollars and were prepared based on the
accounting records kept by ENAP and its subsidiaries and
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, issued by
the International Accounting Standard Board (hereinafter
“IASB”).
Preparation of these consolidated financial statements
under IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions
by the Management of the ENAP Group. These estimates
are based on the best knowledge of the management on
the amounts reported, events or actions. The detail of
the significant accounting estimates is shown in Note 5.
The following describes the main accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been defined according to
the effective IAS and IFRS as of December 31, 2011, and
have been applied consistently in the years in which these
consolidated financial statements are presented.
a. Bases of preparation and period – This consolidated
financial statements of the ENAP Group include the
statement of financial position as of December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2010, the statement of comprehensive
income, of changes in equity and cash flows for the year
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, have been prepared in
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”). Certain reclassifications have been made to the
previous year’s financial statements for comparison purposes.
b. Bases of consolidation – The consolidated financial statements of ENAP include all the assets, liabilities, revenues,
expenses and cash flows of ENAP and ENAP–controlled
entities, whether subsidiaries or special–purpose entities,
after eliminating intercompany transactions.
The financial statements of a controlled entity whose
functional currency is different from the currency of pre-

When a company with a functional currency other than
the dollar is sold, the exchange differentials in relation
to that company that were deferred as a component of
equity are recognized in the income account at the same
moment when the income or loss on the sale is recognized.
The income or losses of businesses acquired during the
period are included in the consolidated financial statements from the effective date of acquisition; the income
or losses of businesses sold during the period are included
in the consolidated financial statements through the
effective date of sale. Earnings or losses are calculated
as the difference between the income earned on the sale
(net of expenses) and the assets attributable to the equity
interest that was sold.
i. Subsidiaries
The subsidiaries (including the Special Purpose Entities
- SPE) are those on which ENAP directly or indirectly
exercises control, with the latter being understood to
mean the ability to direct the financial and operational
policies of a company in order to obtain benefits from its
activities. This ability is generally, although not exclusively,
evidenced in direct or indirect ownership of 50% or more
of the company’s ownership rights. Similarly, this method
is used to consolidate those entities whose activities are
understood to be completed to the company’s benefit, while
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being exposed to all the risks and rewards of a dependent
entity, regardless the company not holding an ownership
interest of 50% or more.

less than the fair value of the net assets of the affiliate
acquired, the difference is recognized directly as income
in the income statements.

When assessing whether the ENAP Group controls another
entity consideration is given to the existence and the
effect of the possible voting rights currently exercised.
The subsidiaries are consolidated as of the date on which
the control is transferred to the Group, and they are excluded from consolidation on the date on which control
is no longer exercised.

The non-controlling interest in the equity and in the
comprehensive income of partially owned subsidiaries are
presented, respectively, in “Total Equity: Non-controlling
interest” in the statement of consolidated financial position, and in “Income (loss) attributable to non-controlling
interest” and “Comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interest” in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

To account for the acquisition of affiliates by the Group the
acquisition method is used. The cost of acquisition is the
fair value of the given assets, equity instruments issued
and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus the costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
Identifiable assets acquired and the identifiable liabilities
and contingencies assumed in a business combination are
initially measured at their fair value at their acquisition
date, irrespective of the extent of minority interests. The
excess of acquisition cost over fair value of the group´s
participation in the identifiable net assets acquired is
recognized as goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition is

Intercompany transactions are eliminated, as are balances
and unrealized earnings on intercompany transactions.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
is evidence of an impairment loss on the asset being transferred. The accounting policies of affiliates are amended
when necessary to ensure a uniformity of policies.
Detailed in the attached chart are the direct and indirect
subsidiaries (including the Special Purpose Entities – SPE),
which are included in the consolidation of the ENAP Group.

Relationship
with the parent company
Company

Domicile

Enap Refinerías S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol (UK) Limited
Sipetrol International S.A.
Sociedad Internacional Petrolera Enap Ecuador S.A.
Manu Perú Holding S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Éteres y Alcoholes S.A.
Petrosul S.A.
Productora de Diesel S.A.
Compañía de Hidrógeno del Bío-Bío S.A.

Chile
Argentina
Chile
Chile
Argentina
Reino Unido
Uruguay
Ecuador
Perú
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
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Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Special purpose entity

Shareholder
percentage
12.31.2011

12.31.2010

99,98%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
10,00%

99,98%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
100,00%
10,00%
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ii. Joint Ventures
A contract agreement through which two or more parties
perform an economic activity which is subject to common
control. The joint ventures can take on the form of: jointly
controlled operations; jointly controlled assets; or jointly
controlled entities.
• Jointly controlled operations: The operation of some joint
ventures implies the use of assets and of other resources of the participants, more than the constitution of a
company, association or any other entity, or of a financial structure which is separated from the participants
themselves. Each participant has its own property, plant
and equipment and maintains its own inventories. They
also incur in their own expenses and liabilities and they
obtain their own funding, which represents their own
obligations. The activities of the joint venture can be
carried out by the employees of the participant, together with similar activities of the participant. The joint
venture agreement usually provides the means to share
between the participants the ordinary income from the
sale of the joint product and any joint expense incurred.
• Jointly controlled assets: Some joint ventures imply a joint
control, and often the joint ownership, by the venturers,
of one or more contributed assets to, or acquired with
the purpose of, the joint venture and dedicated to the
purposes of the joint venture. These assets are used for
venturers to obtain benefits. Each venturer may obtain
a part of the asset production and assume the agreed
proportion of expenses.
• Jointly controlled entities: This is the joint venture which
implies the constitution of a company, association or
other entity in which each venturer has an interest. The
entity operates in the same manner as other entities, except that the contract agreement between the venturers

establishes the joint control over the economic activities
of the entity.
When the entity conducts its business in a jointly controlled operation and/or using jointly controlled assets,
the share in assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the
joint venture are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position and in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income according to the specific nature.
Jointly controlled entities are consolidated using the
proportional integration method. This means including
the proportional part of assets, liabilities, expenses and
income of these companies in the consolidated financial
statements based on the interest.
iii. Special Purpose Entity (“SPE”)
A Special Purpose Entity (SPE) is an entity set up for a
specific purpose or limited duration. These SPEs frequently
function as agent organizations. Such entities serve to
isolate financial risk.
Thus, although the ENAP Group’s ownership interest in
the Compañía de Hidrógeno del Bío-Bío S.A. (hereinafter
“CHBB”) is less than 50%, it is considered to be a “Subsidiary”, because, pursuant to agreements or covenants
between shareholders, or as a result of their structure, the
ENAP Group directly or indirectly exercises control over
the above company. The minority interests corresponding
to the percentage of third party participation in the Subsidiaries has also been recognized.
The accounting principles and procedures used by the
ENAP Group’s companies were standardized with those
of the Parent, in order to present consolidated financial
statements based on uniform valuation standards.
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iv. Transactions with minority interests
When there are changes in the proportion of capital representing a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary,
the Group adjusts the amounts of controlling and noncontrolling interests on the books to reflect the changes
in their relative interest in the subsidiary. The Group
recognizes any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to the non-controlling interest and the fair
value of the amount paid or received by owners of the
parent company directly in equity.
c. Functional Currency - The functional currency for each
entity of the ENAP Group is determined as the currency
of the main economic environment in which it operates.
Transactions other than those performed in the entity’s
functional currency will be converted at the exchange rate
in effect on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the
functional one will be converted again at the year end
exchange rates. Gains or losses from the reconversion will
be included in net income or losses for the year, within
other financial items.
d. Foreign currency translation and indexation - Assets
and liabilities denominated in Chilean pesos, in Unidades
de Fomento (UF) and other currencies are translated into
US dollars at the closing rates of exchange, as per the
following detail:

Chilean Peso
Argentine Pesos
GBP
Unidad de fomento
Euro

12-31-11
US$

12-31-10
US$

519,20
4,30
0,65
0,02
0,77

468,01
3,97
0,65
0,02
0,75

e. Offsetting balances and transactions – As a general
standard, assets and liabilities, income and expenses, are
not offset in the financial standards, except for those cases
in which offsetting is required or is allowed by some standard and the presentation is a reflection of the substance
of the transaction.
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Income or expenses originating in transactions, which, for
contractual or legal reasons, consider the possibility of offsetting and which the ENAP Group intends to liquidate for
their net value or realize the assets and pay the liabilities
simultaneously, are stated net in the statement of income.
f. Foreign currency – Transactions in a currency other
than a company’s functional one are considered to be
”foreign currency” transactions and they are recorded in
their functional currency at the exchange rate in effect on
the date of the operation. At each year end, the balance
sheet amounts of monetary items in a foreign currency are
valued at the year-end exchange rate, and the exchange
rate differences arising from such valuation are recorded
in the statement of comprehensive income.
g. Property, plant and equipment - Property, plant and
equipment are recorded at cost, excluding regular maintenance costs and less accumulated depreciation and value
impairment losses.
The cost of property, plant and equipment includes their
purchase price plus all costs directly related to the location
of the asset and getting it into an operating condition, as
provided for by management, and the initial estimate of
any cost involved in dismantling and removing the asset
or restoring the physical site where it is located.
Financing interest costs directly attributable to the purchase or construction of assets requiring a substantial
period of time before being ready for use or sale will also
be capitalized as a property, plant and equipment cost.
Repair, preservation and maintenance expenses are charged
to income for the year in which they occur. Some ENAP
Group property, plant and equipment elements require
regular inspections. In this regard, elements subject to
replacement are recognized separately from the rest of the
asset, detailed at such a level that they can be amortized
in the period from the current repair to the next one.
The exploration operations are recorded in conformity
with the standards established in IFRS 6 “Exploration for
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and Evaluation of Mineral Resources”.
The Hydrocarbon Exploration and Production operations
are recorded in conformity with the successful-efforts
method. The accounting treatment of the various costs
incurred under this method is as follows:
i) Costs originating in the acquisition of new rights or
interests in areas with proven or unproven reserves are
capitalized in Property, Plant and Equipment, when incurred.
ii) Costs involved in acquiring interests in exploration
areas are capitalized at purchase cost and amortized with
a charge to income in “Exploration costs”, in accordance
with the criterion specified. If no reserves are found, these
previously capitalized expenses are recorded as expenses
in the statement of comprehensive income. If the exploration produces positive results, leading to a commercially
workable discovery, the costs are reclassified in Property,
Plant and Equipment, at their net book value when so
determined. Wells are only classified as commercial, if they
are expected to generate sufficient volume of reserves to
justify their commercial development.
iii) The exploration costs, as for example geology and
geophysics expenses, costs associated with maintaining
unproven reserves and other exploration-related costs,
prior to drilling are charged to income when incurred.
iv) Drilling costs incurred in prospecting campaigns, including stratigraphic test wells, are capitalized and presented
in the item Property, Plant and Equipment, pending the
decision as to whether proven reserves justifying their
commercial development were discovered. If no proven
reserves have been found, these initially capitalized costs
are charged to profit or loss.

v) The drilling costs of wells leading to a positive discovery of commercially workable reserves are capitalized and
presented in Property, Plant and Equipment.
vi) Development costs incurred in extracting proven reserves and treating and storing the oil and gas (including
the drilling costs of production wells and developing dry
wells, platforms, recovery improvement systems, etc.) are
capitalized and presented in Property, Plant and Equipment.
vii) Costs for the future abandonment and dismantling of
oil fields are calculated on a field by field basis and capitalized at present value. This capitalization is calculated
with an offset to Non-current provisions.
Investments capitalized according to the above criteria
are amortized as follows:
• Investments involved in the acquisition of proven reserves are amortized over the estimated useful life of the
field indexed to the existing ratio between the year’s
production and the field’s proven reserves at the start
of the amortization period.
• Investments related to unproven reserves or fields in
the process of being evaluated are not amortized. These
investments are analyzed at least once a year, or earlier
if there is any indication of impairment, and in case of
impairment, this is recognized and charged to income
for the year.
• Costs originating in drillings and subsequent investments
made to develop and extract the reserves of hydrocarbons
are amortized over the estimated useful life of the field
indexed to the existing ratio between the year’s production and the field’s proven reserves at the start of the
amortization period.
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Changes in estimates of reserves are considered in calculating the amortizations on a prospective basis.
At the closing date, or whenever there is an indication that
there might be an impairment of the value of the assets,
their recoverable value is compared to their net book value.
Any impairment or reverse of impairment arising as a
result of such a comparison will be recorded and charged
or credited to net income for the year, as appropriate.
h. Depreciation - Property, plant and equipment, except
those related to hydrocarbon exploration and production
activities, are amortized using the straight line method
by distributing the acquisition cost of the assets less the
estimated salvage value over the estimated useful life of
the assets. The main components of property, plant and
equipment and their useful lives are presented below:
Years of
useful life
Buildings
Plants and equipment:
Plants
Equipment
Computer equipment
Fixed facilities and accesories
Motor vehicles
Improvements to leased assets - buildings
Investments in exploration and production
Other property, plants and equipment
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30 y 50
10 y 15
10 y 18
4y 6
10 y 20
7
10
depletion rate
3 y 20

Property, plant and equipment related to hydrocarbon
exploration and production activities are amortized using
the production unit amortization method (depletion rate).
The salvage value and useful life of the fixed assets are
reviewed every year and their depreciation begins when
the assets are in a condition to be used.
Land is recorded separately from any buildings or facilities
that may be constructed on it, and has an indefinite useful
life; therefore, it is not subject to depreciation.
At least every year, the ENAP Group evaluates the existence
of any possible impairment in the value of its property,
plant and equipment.
i. Investment property - The item “Investment property”
includes mainly buildings and land assets that are used
for earning income through leases or an increase in their
value when sold.
The investment properties are stated at their net acquisition value from their corresponding depreciation and
the impairment losses that they have experienced. The
investment properties, excluding the land, are depreciated
by distributing od the cost of the different elements that
make them up in accordance with the straight-line meth
within the years of useful life.
j. Associates or Affiliates – Associates or affiliates are
companies in which the ENAP Group can exercise a signifi-
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cant influence, but not control or a joint control, through
the power to participate in decisions on their operating
and financial policies. They are included in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method. In
general, a significant influence is presumed whenever the
Group holds more than 20%.
According to the equity method, the investment is recorded
initially at cost and is subsequently adjusted by changes
in the net assets of the investee subsequent to acquisition
by the investor. The consolidated income or loss from the
period includes the share in the earnings or losses of the
investee in the period, recorded under “Share in earnings
(losses) of associates accounted for by the equity method.”
Other comprehensive income includes its share in other
comprehensive income of the investee.
When the Group’s share in losses of an associate exceed
the investment in that associate, the Group discontinues
recognizing its share in further losses. Further losses are
only recognized when the Group incurs in legal or constructive obligations or has made payments in the name
of the associate.
Unrealized earnings on transactions between the Group
and its affiliates or associates are eliminated on the basis
of the percentage interest of the Group in those affiliates
or associates. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction is evidence of an impairment loss of the
asset being transferred. The financial information of associates and affiliates is adjusted when necessary to ensure
a uniformity with the policies adopted by the Group.
k. Non current assets or groups of assets held for sale
- Non-current assets or groups of assts are classified as
available for sale, if their book value is recovered through
a sale, not through their continued use. This condition is
only considered to be met when the sale is highly probable
and the asset is not available for sale immediately in its
current state. The sale is considered highly probable, if
it will be completed within one year of the classification
date. These assets are presented at the lesser of their book

value and their fair value less the cost of sale.
l. Impairment of other non-financial assets - The policy
defined by ENAP is that each time there exists objective
evidence that the book value cannot be recovered, as a
result of one or more events occurred after the initial
recognition, then impairment tests are performed.
An impairment loss is recognized for the excess of book
value of the assets over its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher between the fair value of
an asset less its costs of sale and its value in use.
In order to evaluate the value impairment losses, the
assets are grouped at the lowest level in which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).
This methodology is applied to the following assets:
• Fixed assets related to hydrocarbon exploration and
production operations.
• Investments in subsidiaries
m. Other financial assets – The ENAP Group classifies
its financial assets in the following categories: at the fair
value through profit or loss, loans and accounts receivable,
financial assets held to maturity and financial assets available for sale. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets are acquired and it is determined
at the time of initial recognition.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss: Financial assets at their fair value through profit or loss are
financial assets held for negotiations. A financial asset is
classified in this category if it is acquired mainly with the
purpose of selling in it in the short-term.
• Loans and accounts receivable: The loans and accounts receivable are non derivative financial assets with fixed or
calculable payments, which are not quoted on an active
market. They are included in current assets, except for
maturities over 12 months as of the date of the balance
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sheet that are classified non-current assets. The loans
and accounts receivable include the commercial debtors
and other accounts receivable.
• Financial assets held to maturity: The financial assets held
to maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or calculable payments and fixed maturities, which the
ENAP Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to
maturity. If the Group sells a significant portion of the
financial assets held to maturity, the complete category
would be reclassified as held for sale. These financial assets
are classified under other non-current financial assets,
except for those with a maturity of less than 12 months
as of the date of the Statement of Financial Position,
which are classified as current financial assets.
• Financial assets available for sale: Financial assets available
for sale are non-derivative financial assets designated
specifically in this category, or not classified in any other
category. They are included in non-current assets unless
the Management pretends to dispose of the investment in
the following 12 months after the date of the Statement
of Financial Position.
i) Impairment of financial assets: Financial assets, other than
those valued at fair value through profit and loss, are
assessed for indicators of impairment at the date of each
statement of financial position. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of
the investment have been affected negatively.
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the impairment loss corresponds to the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
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cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The financial investments of the
ENAP Group are maintained at institutions with the highest credit quality and maintained in the short-term, and
therefore they do not present at this date any impairment
indicator regarding their book value.
In order to determine whether equity securities classified
as available for sale have experienced impairment losses,
it will be taken into account whether there has been a
significant or prolonged drop in the fair value of securities
below their cost. If there is any evidence of this type, the
cumulative loss of financial assets held for sale, determined
by the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss in the value
of that financial asset previously recognized in retained
earnings, is reversed from equity and recognized in the
statement of income in “other expenses by function.” These
impairment losses of the security, recognized in the statement of income from equity instruments, are not reversed.
ii) Valuations at the time of initial recognition and sale: The
acquisition and sale of financial assets are recognized
on the negotiation date, i.e. the date when the ENAP
Group promises to acquire or sell the asset. Investments
in financial assets not classified at the fair value through
profit or loss are initially recognized at the fair value, plus
the transaction costs. The financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss are initially recognized at their
fair value and the transaction costs are carried to income.
Investments are retired from the books when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has substantially
transferred all risks and benefits resulting from holding them.
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iii) Subsequent valuation: Financial assets held for sale and
financial assets at the fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently recorded at their fair value. Loans and
accounts receivable and financial assets held to maturity
are recorded at the amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method.
Losses and earnings from changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are included
in the statement of income under “Other net income” in
the period in which they occur. Income from dividends
paid by financial assets at the fair value through profit
or loss are recognized in the statement of income under
“Other income” when the right of the Group to receive the
payment is established.
Changes in the fair value of financial investments in debt
securities denominated in a foreign currency, classified
as held for sale, are separated into exchange differentials
resulting from changes in the amortized cost of the securities and other changes in the carrying amount. The
exchange differentials are recognized in fiscal year income
and other changes in the book amount are recognized in
equity and these latter are reflected according to IAS 1
through the statement of other comprehensive income.
Exchange differentials in financial investments in equity
instruments held at fair value through profit or loss are
shown classified as financial assets available for sale,
for the earning or loss at the fair value. The exchange
differentials in investments classified as financial assets
held for sale are included in equity, in the corresponding
reserve account, and are reflected in the statement of
other comprehensive income.
When a security classified as available for sale is sold or
its value becomes impaired, the cumulative adjustments
for fluctuations in the fair value recognized in equity are
recognized in the statement of income under “Other income.”

Interest on securities available for sale calculated using the
effective interest method is recognized in the statement
of income under “other income by function.” Dividends
earned by instruments available for sale are recognized in
the statement of income under “other income by function”
when the right of the Group to receive the dividend payment has been established.
The fair value of traded investments is based on the current
purchase price. If the market for a financial asset is not
active (or the instrument is not exchange-traded), the ENAP
Group sets the fair value using valuation techniques that
include using reported prices in recent market transactions
between stakeholders, references to other substantially
similar instruments, an analysis of discounted cash flows
and option pricing models using, to the utmost, market
information and, as little as possible, specific internal information of the ENAP Group. If no such technique can be
used to set the fair value, the investments are recorded at
their acquisition cost, net of any impairment loss, if any.
n. Derivative and hedging financial instruments – The
ENAP Group usually holds derivative financial instruments,
such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps,
to hedge risks associated with fluctuations in the interest
rate and exchange rate; and also Time Spread Swap (former
Zero Cost Collar and Three Way Zero Cost Collar options);
they all correspond to hedge contracts, and therefore the
effects originated due to the changes in the fair value of
this kind of instruments, are recorded in hedge assets and
liabilities, as long as the hedging of this entry has been
stated as effective, in accordance with its hedge purpose.
The corresponding unrealized income or loss is recognized
in profit or loss for the year in which the contracts are
liquidated o when they do not longer comply with hedging
characteristics.
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Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which the derivative
contract is signed, and they are then marked to market to
fair value. The method to recognize the loss or gain depends
on whether the derivative has been appointed as a hedge
instruments and, if so, from the nature of the item that
is being hedged. The ENAP Group currently holds only
instruments appointed as fair value hedges of recognized
liabilities (fair value hedges), hedges of an actual risk
associated to a recognized liability or an expected highly
probable transaction (cash flow hedges).
The fair value of the currency forward contracts is calculated
in reference to other current forward exchange rates of
contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of
interest rate swap contracts is determined based on the
market values of similar instruments.
The total fair value of the hedge derivatives is classified as
a non-current asset or liability if the remaining maturity of
the hedged item is higher than 12 months and as a current
asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged
item is lower than 12 months.
i) Cash flow hedges: The effective portion of the changes in
fair value of the derivatives that are assigned and which
qualify as cash flow hedges are recognized in equity through
the statement of comprehensive income. The income or
loss related to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the statement of income.
The amounts accumulated in net equity are reclassified in
the statement of income when the hedged item affects
net income (for example, when the hedged forecasted sale
occurs or when the hedged flow is executed). However,
when the hedged foreseen transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset (for example inventories
or fixed assets), the gains or losses previously recognized
in net equity are reclassified as part of the initial cost of
the asset. The deferred amounts are finally recognized in
the costs of goods sold, in case of inventories, or in the
depreciation in case of fixed assets.
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When a hedge instrument matures or when it is sold,
or when it does not comply anymore with certain criteria to be recognized through the hedging accounting
treatment, any accumulated loss or gain in net equity to
this date stays in the net equity and is recognized when
the expected transaction affects the statement of income.
When a projected transaction is not expected to occur, the
accumulated gain or loss in equity is transferred to the
statement of income.
ii) Embedded derivatives: ENAP assesses the existence of
embedded derivatives in contracts of financial instruments
to determine whether their characteristics and risks are
strongly related with the host contract, as long as the
host contract is not measured at fair value. Embedded
derivatives are separated from the main contract, which
is not measured at fair value through profit or loss, when
the analysis shows that the financial characteristics and
risks of the embedded derivatives are not closely related
to the main contract.
o. Recognition of income and expenses - Income from
sales and services are recognized by the ENAP Group when
the relevant risks and benefits of ownership of the products are transferred to the buyer, and the products are
delivered to their agreed location. Revenue is measured at
the fair value of the consideration received or receivable,
and represents the receivable amounts for the rendered
services during the ordinary course of operations, net of
any discount or related tax.
The ENAP Group recognizes income when these can be reliably measured, and it is probable that the future economic
benefits will flow towards the Group, as described next:
i) Sale of assets: The sales revenues of assets are recognized when the Group has delivered the products to the
customer and when there exists no pending obligation to
be complied with which could affect the acceptance of
the products by the customer. The delivery will not occur
until the products have been sent to the location indicated
by the buyer, the obsolescence risks and loss have been

ENAP · ANNUAL REPORT 2011

transferred to the customer, and the customer has accepted
the products in conformity with the sales contract, the
acceptance period has expired, or when the ENAP Group
has objective evidence that the necessary acceptance criteria have been complied with. The sales are recognized
according to the price established in the sales contract,
net of volume discounts and the expected returns at the
sales date. It is presumed that there exists no significant
financing component, as the sales are performed with a
reduced average collection period, which is in line with
the normal practices of the market.
ii) Sale of services: The revenues from the sales of services
are recognized when they can be reliably estimated and
in accordance with the services actually provided at the
closing date of the financial statements.
iii) Income from dividends: Dividends are recognized when
the right of the ENAP Group to receive the payment is
established.
iv) Interest income: Interests are recognized by using the
effective interest rate method.
v) Deferred income: Deferred income corresponds to income
received in advance from an usufruct contract signed. This
income is amortized using the straight-line method on an
accrual basis.
p. Inventories – Raw materials, products in progress,
finished products and materials are valued initially at cost.
After initial recognition, they are valued at the lesser of
the net realizable value and cost. The ENAP Group uses
the first-in first-out (FIFO) method for all the inventory
items, except for materials which are valued using the
Weighted Average Price method.
The net realizable value represents the estimated price

of sale at year-end less all estimated finishing costs and
costs that will be incurred in the marketing, selling and
distributing processes.
q. Provision for employee benefits – Costs associated
with the employees’ contractual benefits, related to services rendered by employees during the year, are charged
to income for the respective period.
The obligations recognized for the concept of severance
payments arise as a consequence of the collective agreements signed with the employees of the Group, which
states the commitment agreed by the company. The ENAP
Group recognizes the cost of employee benefits according
to an actuarial calculation, as required by IAS 19 “Employee benefits”, which includes variables as for example the
life expectation, salary increases, etc. To determine this
calculation we have used a discount rate of 6.49% per year.
r. Provisions and contingent liabilities – Provisions are
recorded for current, legal or assumed obligations arising
as a result of a past event, whose payment is expected to
involve a disbursement of resources and whose amount
and time of payment can be reliably estimated.
Contingent liabilities are obligations arising from past
events, whose confirmation is subject to the occurrence
of events beyond the control of the company, or current
obligations arising from past events, whose amount cannot
be reliably estimated, or whose payment does not involve
a disbursement of resources; or because the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
The ENAP Group does not record contingent assets or
liabilities, except for those stemming from contracts with
valuable consideration, which are recorded as a provision
and then reviewed at each balance sheet date and, if necessary, adjusted to reflect the best estimate at the time.
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s. Income taxes and deferred taxes - The Parent Company
and its Chilean subsidiaries determine the tax base and
calculate their income taxes in conformity with the legal
provision in force during each period. In the case of the
foreign subsidiaries, these present individually their tax
returns, in conformity with current tax standards in the
operating country.
The deferred taxes generated by temporary differences
and other events giving rise to differences between the
accounting and tax base of assets and liabilities are recorded according to the indicated in IAS 12 “Income Taxes”.
The income tax is recorded in the Consolidated Profit or
Loss Account or in the net equity accounts of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position according to where
the profits or losses originating them were recorded. The
differences between the accounting value of the assets
and liabilities, and their tax base generate the balances of
deferred taxes for assets or liabilities which are calculated
using the tax rates that are expected to be in force when
the assets and liabilities are realized.
The variations generated in the year in the asset or liability
deferred taxes are recorded in the profit or loss account
of the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
or directly in the equity accounts of the Statement of
Financial Position, as corresponding.
The assets for deferred taxes are recognized only when
it is expect that the Company will dispose of sufficient
future tax income to recover the deductions for temporary
differences.
t. Other financial liabilities - The loans accruing interests
and the bonds payable and the financial liabilities of similar
nature are recognized initially at their fair value, net of any
transaction costs incurred. Subsequently they are valued
at amortized cost and any difference between the funds
obtained (net of necessary costs to obtain them), and the
reimbursement amount, is recognized in the statement
of income throughout the useful life of the financial debt
instrument, using the effective interest rate method.
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The financial obligations are classified as current liabilities unless the ENAP Group has the unconditional right
to defer its liquidation for at least 12 months after the
balance sheet date.
u. Financial leases - The policy of the ENAP Group states
that when the lessor transfers substantially all the inherent
risks and advantages of the ownership of the asset to the
lessee. The ownership of the asset, as the case may be,
may or may not be transferred. When ENAP acts as lessee
of an asset under a finance lease, the cost of the leased
assets is presented in the consolidated statement of financial position, according to the nature of the asset referred
to in the contract, and, simultaneously, a liability for the
same amount is recorded in the statement of financial
position. This amount will be the lesser of the fair value
of the leased asset and the sum of the current values of
the amounts to be paid to the lessor plus, if applicable,
the price of exercising the purchase option. These assets
are amortized using similar criteria to those applied to
the property, plant and equipment used by the Company
itself or within the term of the lease, whichever is shorter.
Financial expenses arising from the financial review of the
liability are charged to “Financial expenses” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
v. Issued capital – Issued capital is made up of contributions and/or capitalization of profits, authorized through
rulings and/or decrees issued by the Ministry of Finance,
which constitute the legal obligation that gives rise to
registration.
w. Distribution of dividends – The dividend distribution
policy used by ENAP is the one established through the
official letter and/or Law Decrees issued by the Treasury
Department, which constitutes the legal obligation that
originate their recording.
x. Environment – The policy of the ENAP Group is to capitalize the environmental expenses associated to projects
and to recognize with charge to profit and loss the rest of
the disbursements.
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y. Commercial debtors and other accounts payable - The
commercial debtors and other accounts payable are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently at amortized
costs by using the method of the effective interest rate
and later, if the nominal value of the accounts payable
differs significantly from its fair value, the recognition is
at nominal value.
z. Cash and cash equivalents – The cash flow statement
recognizes the cash movements throughout the year,
determined by the direct method. In these cash flow statements the following expressions are used in the sense
that they appear below:

Amendments to IFRS:

Mandatory effective date

IAS 24, Disclosure of Related Parties

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2011

IAS 32, Financial Instruments:
Presentation – Classification of
Rights Issues

Years beginning on or after February 1, 2010

Improvements to IFRS May 2010 –
collection of amendments to seven
International Financial Reporting
Standards

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2011

New Interpretations:
IFRSIC 19, Extinguishing financial Years beginning on or after July
liabilities with equity instruments. 1, 2010
Amendments and Interpretations:

• Cash and cash equivalents: The ENAP Group considers liquid
financial assets, deposits or liquid financial investments,
which may be easily converted into cash within no more
than three months and where the risk of a change in
their value is insignificant, to be cash equivalents.
• Operating activities: these are the activities that constitute the main source of ordinary income of the ENAP
Group, as well as other activities that cannot be classified
as investment or financing activities.
• Investing activities: these correspond to activities of
acquisition, sale or disposal through other methods of
long-term assets and other investments not included in
cash and cash equivalents.

IFRSIC 14, The limit on a defined
benefit asset, minimum funding
requirements and their interaction

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2011.

The adoption of these regulations, according to the mandatory application date each was applied from, did not
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements. However, they might affect the accounting
of future transactions or agreements.
b) New rules, interpretations and amendments issued, which
have not been adopted yet but have effective application
in the future.
New IFRS - IAS:

Mandatory effective date

IFRS 9, Financial instruments

• Financing activities: these are the activities that cause
variations in the composition of the net equity, and of
the financial liabilities.

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2015

IFRS 10, Consolidated financial
statements

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2013

IFRS 11, Joint arrangements

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2013

3.2 New accounting pronouncements

IFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in
other entities

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2013

IFRS 13, Fair value measurement

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2013

IAS 27, Separate financial statements

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2013

IAS 28, Investments in associates
and joint ventures

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2013

a) New Regulations and amendments to regulations adopted
by the company:
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These new IFRS and amendments can be applied early, but
they have not been applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. The potential impact of
adopting these standards and amendments in the financial
statements of the ENAP Group has not yet been determined.
c) New rules, interpretations and amendments issued, which
have not been adopted yet but have effective application
in the future.
Amendments to IFRS:

Mandatory effective date

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Sta- Years beginning on or after July
tements – Presenting Components 1, 2012
of Other Comprehensive Income.
IAS 12, Income Tax – Recovery of
Underlying Assets

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2012

IAS 19, Employee benefits (2011)

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2013

IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation – Clarifies requirements
for offsetting financial assets and
liabilities

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2014

During the normal course of its business and financing
activities, ENAP is exposed to different financial risks that
could have a significant effect on the economic value of
its cash flows and assets and, therefore, on its results.
The Group has an organization and information systems,
managed by the Corporate Finance Management, for identifying such risks, determining their magnitude, proposing
mitigating measures to the Board, implementing such
measures and controlling their effectiveness.
A definition of the risks faced by the Company is presented
next, including their characterization and quantification
for ENAP, as well as a description of the mitigating measures currently being used by the Company, if applicable.
i) Market risk

IFRS 1 (Revised), First-time adoption Years beginning on or after July
of international financial reporting 1, 2011
standards, (i) Removal of Fixed
Dates, (ii) Severe Hyperinflation.
IFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures of (i) Transfers of
Financial Assets; and (ii) Offsetting
financial assets and liabilities.

(i) Years beginning on or after July
1, 2011; and (ii) years beginning
on or after January 1, 2013.

New Interpretations

Mandatory effective date:

IFRSIC 20, Stripping costs in the
production phase of a surface mine.

Years beginning on or after January
1, 2013

The Group’s Management believes that the adoption of
the above Standards and Interpretations will not have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.
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This is the possibility that the fluctuations of market variables, such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange
rates, prices or indices of crude oil and by-products, etc.,
may cause financial losses due the devaluation of cash
flows or assets or the valuation of liabilities, as a result of
their being denominated in, or indexed to, such variables.
a) Interest rate risk – ENAP’s financing structure considers a mixture of sources of funds subject to a fixed rate
(mainly bonds) and variable rate (bilateral loans, syndicated
loans, notes payable or forfeiting, short-term bank loans
and suppliers credit).
The portion of financing subject to a variable interest
rate, usually consisting of the 3 or 6 month LIBOR floating
rate plus a spread, exposes the company to changes in its
financial expenses due to fluctuations in the LIBOR rate.
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ENAP’s total financial debt at December 31, 2011 is summarized in the table below, separating the fixed rate debt
from the floating rate debt:
In millions of US dollars

Fixed Rate Floating Rate

Current bank debt
Non-current bank debt
38
Financial lease (Corporate building)
22
International bonds
1.740
Local bonds
559
Total

2.359

440
1.134
-

such, a 1% increase in the applicable LIBOR rate (quarterly
or twice yearly, depending on the type of debt) would
generate an annual increase of about ThUS$6,480 in the
company’s financial expenses.

Total

-

440
1.172
22
1.740
559

-

1.574

Note: The data in the attached table correspond solely to the principal,
not to any accrued interest or other concepts. The international and
local bonds are presented at face value, and not on amortized cost basis
as in the balance sheet. As the interest rate is applied at face value
of the bonds, such value allows quantifying adequately the exposure
of the Group at fixed or variable rate, as observed in this section. The
local bonds denominated in UF are presented with their face value
equivalent in US$ as of December 31, 2011.

Risk mitigating instruments:
In order to reduce the variability of its financial expenses,
ENAP obtained several hedging instruments for some of
the debt items in the above table.
• Interest rate swaps were obtained to swap floating rate
of ThUS$801,000 long-term bank debt into fixed rate.
• Furthermore, interest rate collars were obtained to keep
the interest rate on ThUS$125 of the long-term bank debt
within a pre-defined range.
Residual risk exposure:
Considering the existence of the hedge instruments indicated above, the net balance of obligations of the Group
whose financing cost is fully subject to fluctuations in
the LIBO rate is ThUS$648,000, which amounts to 16.5%
of the total, and consists mainly of current bank debt. As

b) Exchange rate risk : The functional currency of the
ENAP Group is the US dollar. However, there are some
relevant items of the financial statements denominated in
local currency (Chilean pesos or UF - inflation index-linked
unit of account), as for example the sales invoicing and
the financial obligations. These are exposed to changes in
their dollar value as a result of fluctuations in the Chilean
peso/USD or UF/USD parities.
Mitigating measures:
The exposure of the exchange rate variations from invoicing
is minimized basically via a product pricing policy, based
on import parity pricing, a mechanism whereby the local
price of sale of the products is recalculated on a weekly
basis in accordance with the exchange rate in effect.
The main balance sheet items exposed are local bonds (denominated in UF - inflation index-linked unit of account)
and accounts receivable from local sales (denominated in
Chilean pesos). ENAP performs hedging operations to mitigate the exchange rate risks associated with both items.
The capital owed for ENAP’s local bonds at December 31,
2011 was UF 13 million. Based on that amount and the
CLP/USD and CLP/UF parities in effect on that date ($
519.20 and $ 22,294.03), a change of $10 in the CLP/USD
exchange rate would produce the following effects on the
measured value in dollars of the bonds:
Exchange rate
Increase $10 ($529,20)
Decrease $10 ($509,20)

Bond valuation ThUS$
10.548
(10.962)
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In order to mitigate this risk, ENAP has entered into crosscurrency swap contracts, whereby the company receives
cash flows in UF from the other parties equal to the cash
flows payable to the bond holders and pays them fixed
cash flows in US dollars, thereby being free from the above
exchange rate risk.
The balance of accounts receivable from local sales at December 31, 2011 was ThUS$654,559. As such an increase of
CLP $10 in the exchange rate would produce a reduction of
ThUS$23,823 in the dollar value of the accounts receivable.
In order to minimize this risk, ENAP has a hedging policy
in place, which consists of entering into weekly forward
exchange rate contracts for an amount equivalent to 95%
of the estimated sales for the corresponding week and
for terms relative to the estimated collection dates of the
respective invoicing.
c) Commodities price risk: The business of ENAP’s Refining & Logistics business line consists mainly of buying
crude oil in the international markets for refining and the
subsequent sale of its by-products in the domestic market,
based on import parity prices.
The refining mark-up obtained by ENAP is subject to the
fluctuation in the international prices of crude oil, of refined
products and the difference between them (international
margin or “crack spread”). Considering an average level of
refining of 72 million barrels per year, a variation of USD1/
barrel in the difference would, ceteris paribus, have an
effect on income of ThUS$72,000.
The central strategy of the ENAP Group to confront the
risk of a variation in the refining margin is to orient its
investments toward increasing its flexibility in production
and the quality of its products. As of December 31, 2011
and 2010, there were no financial derivative contracts to
set the refining margin, but the Company is constantly
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monitoring market price levels.
Moreover, due to the time elapsing between the purchase
of crude oil and the sale of refined products, ENAP is also
exposed to a time spread or risk that prices at the time of
sale of the products are below the price prevailing at the
time of purchase of the crude oil. Earnings or losses for this
reason increase the volatility of ENAP’s operating income.
On average, ENAP imports about 6 million barrels of crude
oil per month. A drop of USD 1/barrel in the price of the
by-product during the refining inventory cycle has an immediate effect of US$6 million on ENAP’s refining margin.
Starting September 1, 2011, ENAP changed its hedging
policy to mitigate the risk of an inventory devaluation.
Instead of contracting option collars to hedge the price of
a percentage of its crude oil shipments, it now contracts
time spread swaps, which are intended to move, financially, the pricing window of a crude oil shipment (which is
usually during the days that are near the loading date)
and adjust it to the dates when the refined products made
from that crude oil are priced. This will bring inventory
costs in line with the prices of the products that will be
sold. This mitigates quite well the time spread to which
the company is naturally exposed. This strategy is complemented by imported product swaps.
At this time, Brent crude oil is the most relevant marker
in the oil market and have direct effects in the prices of
the products that ENAP uses as reference to determinate
the sales prices of the products that we produce, because
these market as its prices are strongly correlated to the
price of this marker. For that reason, when the trading
area awards purchases of crude oil priced on the WTI, a
“differential swap” is contracted to financially transfer a
WTI position to a Brent position and thus maintain the
standard of optimization that prevailed at the time the
purchase of that crude oil was awarded.
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Furthermore, the business of the E&P Line (Exploration
and Production) consists mainly in the exploration and
exploitaition activities of hydrocarbon reserves and their
sales in the international market. Consequently, its results
are directly related with the international oil and gas prices.

In order to minimize the liquidity risk, ENAP holds a mixture of short and long-term debt in its financing structure,
diversified by type of creditor and market, and makes arrangements in advance to refinance its short-term obligations.
iii) Credit risk

In order to mitigate such risk, ENAP centers its efforts
in the constant operational improvement in order to
maintain a cost efficient structure. The Company does not
systematically use derivatives as a hedging mechanism for
the sales of its own production, although certain specific
operations of this kind have been performed.
ii) Liquidity risk
This risk is associated to the company’s ability to amortize
or refinance its financial commitments at fair market prices
and its ability to implement its business plans with stable
financing sources.
The table below shows the balance of current financial
obligations of ENAP and its affiliates at December 31, 2011:
In millions of US$

2012

2013

2014

2015

Current
bank debt

440

440

-

-

Non-current
bank debt

117

338

168

266

283

1.172

2

2

2

8

8

22

International
bonds

290

-

150

-

1.300

1.740

Local
bonds

140

-

-

-

419

559

Total

989

340

320

274

2.010

3.933

Financial lease,
corporate building

2016+

Total

440

This risk refers to the ability of third parties to fulfill their
financial obligations towards ENAP. There are 3 different
categories:
Financial assets - These are the balances of cash and cash
equivalent, time deposits, operations with repurchase
agreements and marketable securities as a whole. ENAP’s
ability to recover these funds at maturity depends on the
creditworthiness of the bank in which they are deposited.
In order to mitigate this risk, ENAP has a financial policy
specifying the creditworthiness parameters that must be
met by financial institutions in order to be considered
eligible as a depositary of the above products, as well as
each institution’s concentration ceilings.
Obligations of the other parties in derivatives - These
are the favorable ENAP market values of current derivative
contracts with banks.
In order to mitigate this risk, ENAP has a derivative management policy specifying creditworthiness parameters that
must be met by financial institutions in order to be considered eligible as the other parties to derivative contracts.
Trade debtors - The risk of uncollectibility of Group trade
debtors is significantly low, insofar as nearly all local sales
(>95%) are invoiced to the 4 main fuel distributors or
liquefied petroleum gas distributing companies.
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The incorporation of new clients is subject to an analysis
of their financial creditworthiness and their approval by
ENAP’s Credit Committee. This committee coordinates the
collection actions required, if payments are delinquent,
through Credit and Collection Units.
As of December 31, 2011, the total exposure of the Group
to the accounts receivable amounts to ThUS$851,698 as
indicated in Note 10.
There are no guarantees for significant amounts to cover
such exposure, because as indicated above, almost all sales
correspond to distributing companies of fuel or liquefied
petroleum gas, with whom the Group operates based on
credit sales without guarantees. The estimation of the
doubtful accounts as at December 31, 2011 amounts to
ThUS$1,282, which implies 0.1% of the total amount.
5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
Responsibility for the information and estimates made
The Senior Management of the ENAP Group is responsible for the information contained in these consolidated
financial statements.
In these consolidated financial statements the Senior Management of the ENAP Group and its consolidated entities
have used estimates to quantify some of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and commitments recorded therein.
Regardless of the fact that these estimates were made
with the best information available at the time, they may
possibly need to be revised in future years as a result of
future events; this would be done prospectively, as stipulated in IAS 8, by recognizing the effect of the change in
the estimate in the respective Comprehensive Income of
Statement.
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In applying the accounting policies of the ENAP Group,
which are described in Note 3, management makes future
estimates and judgments regarding the book values of its
assets and liabilities. The estimates and associated judgments are based on past experience and on other factors
considered relevant. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.
The Company should make estimates and judgments that
have significant effects on the figures presented in the
financial statements. The changes in assumptions and estimations could have a significant impact on the financial
statements. Next are detailed the estimation and critical
judgements used by the management:
1. Impairment of assets - At the closure date of each year,
or on such date on which it is considered necessary, we
analyzed the value of the assets to determine whether there
is any sign that such assets had suffered an impairment
loss. In case such evidence exists, an estimation of the recoverable amount of such asset is performed to determine,
in each case, the amount of the necessary correction. In
case of identifiable assets that do not generate independent
cash flows, the recovery of the Cash Generating Unit to
which the asset belongs is estimated.
In the case of the Cash Generating Units to which tangible
or intangible assets have been assigned with an indefinite
useful life, the recovery analysis is performed automatically by the system at year-end or under circumstances
considered necessary to perform such analysis.
The recoverable amount is the higher of the market value
less the necessary cost for its sale and the usage value,
understanding by this the present value of the estimated
future cash flows. For the calculation of the recovery value
of immobilized material, the usage value is the criterion
used by ENAP.
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To estimate the usage value, the Group prepares the future
cash flows provisions before taxes as of the most recent
budgets approved by Company Management. These budgets incorporate the best available estimations of income
and expenses of the Cash Generating Units using the best
estimates, prior experience and future expectations.
These flows are discounted to calculate the present value
at a certain rate, before taxes, considered by the cost of
business capital in which the Company operates. For its
calculation the current cost of capital and risk premiums
used in general by the business are considered.
In case the recoverable amount is lower than the net carrying amount of the assets, the corresponding provision
for impairment loss is recorded for the difference, charged
to the Profit or Loss Account.
The impairment losses recognized in an asset in prior years
are reversed when a change occurs in the estimations
over the recoverable amount increasing the value of the
assets with a credit to profit or loss with the limit of the
carrying amount that the assets would have had, had the
impairment not been performed.
2. Useful lives of Property, Plant and Equipment - ENAP
Group Management determines the estimated useful lives
and respective depreciation charges for its fixed assets.
This estimate is based on the projected life cycles of the
products for its high technology segment. This could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations in
response to severe sector cycles. Management will increase
the charge for depreciation when the useful lives are less
than the estimate or depreciate or eliminate technically
obsolete assets that were abandoned or sold. The ENAP
Group reviews the estimated useful lives of its property,
plant and equipment assets at the end of each annual
financial reporting year.
3. Reserves of crude oil and gas - Estimates of reserves
of crude oil and gas are an integral part of the ENAP

Group’s decision-making process. The volume of reserves of
crude oil and gas is used for calculating the depreciation,
using the production unit ratios, and also for evaluating
the recoverability of the investment in Exploration and
Production assets.
4. Fair value of derivative instruments and other
financial instruments - The fair value of the financial
instruments not traded in an active market is determined
using valuation techniques. The ENAP Group uses its judgment to select a variety of methods and make assumptions
based mainly on existing market conditions at each balance
sheet date. The assumptions for derivative financial instruments are based on market rates quoted and adjusted
to the specific characteristics of the instrument.
Other financial instruments are valued using the discounted cash flow analysis based on assumptions supported,
whenever possible, by observed market prices or rates.
5. Provisions for litigation and other contingencies
- The final cost for claims and lawsuits could vary due
to estimates based on different interpretations of the
regulations, opinions and final evaluations of the amount
of damages. Therefore, any change in the circumstances
involved in this contingency could have a significant effect
on the amount of the contingency provision recorded.
6. The ENAP Group makes estimates and relies on its
judgment when recording costs and stipulating provisions
for environmental remediation and clean-up. These estimates and judgments are based on current information
about expected remediation costs and plans. The costs of
environmental provisions could differ from the estimates
due to changes in laws and regulations, the discovery and
analysis of the conditions at the location, and also changes
in clean-up technology. Therefore, any change in the factors or circumstances involved in this provision, and also
in the standards and regulations, could have a significant
effect on the provisions recorded for such costs.

145

CHAPTER 6

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. Calculation of taxes on deferred tax benefits and
assets - Proper valuation of the taxes on benefits depends on
several factors, including rate estimates and the realization
of deferred tax assets and the timeliness of the payments
of taxes on benefits. Current charges and payments could
differ materially from such estimates due to changes in
tax regulations and unforeseen future transactions having
an impact on the Group’s tax balance sheets.

December 31, 2011

6. FINANCIAL ASSETS
The ENAP Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: at fair value through profit or loss, financial
assets held to maturity, loans and accounts receivable,
assets available for sale and hedge derivatives, as itemized
below as of December 31, 2011 and 2010:

Financial assets at fair
value through profit
and loss

Investment
held to
maturity

Loans and
accounts
receivable

Financial assets
available
for sale

Hedge
derivates

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

Cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Due from related companies

283.863
-

-

851.698
124.844

-

3.677
-

Total current assets

283.863

-

976.542

-

3.677

Other financial assets
Rights receivable
Due from related companies

-

34
-

19.370
9.433

13.762
-

17.740
-

Total non-current assets

-

34

28.803

13.762

17.740

Financial assets at fair
value through profit
and loss

Investment
held to
maturity

Loans and
accounts
receivable

Financial assets
available
for sale

Hedge
derivates

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

December 31, 2010

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Due from related companies

62.422
-

-

882.585
53.658

-

-

Total current assets

62.422

-

936.243

-

-

Other financial assets
Rights receivable
Due from related companies

-

74
-

24.905
11.942

13.763
-

67.504
-

Total non-current assets

-

74

36.847

13.763

67.504
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7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

8. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS CURRENT AND NONCURRENT

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 this item is composed of:
12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Cash
Bank
Time and overnight deposits
Mutual Funds

76
140.215
95.403
48.169

19.902
29.291
13.229
-

Total

283.863

62.422

Detail:

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 the detail of this is as
follows:
Currrent

El detalle del efectivo y equivalentes al efectivo en moneda
de origen es el siguiente:
Detail:
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Currency

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

US$
$
AR$
UK

235.706
46.411
1.664
82

55.290
5.402
1.648
82

283.863

62.422

Time deposits expire in a period of less than three months
from the date of acquisition and accrue market interest
for this type of investment. Repos are fixed income and
correspond to purchase agreements with a resale expiring
in less than 30 days. In cash and cash equivalents there
are no cash flows subject to restrictions.
There are no bank overdrafts in cash and cash equivalents.

12.31.2011 12.31.2010 12.31.2011 12.31.2010
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$

Details:
Hedging
derivatives

Non-Currrent

(a)

3.677

-

17.740

67.504

Investment in
other companies (b)

-

-

13.762

13.763

Scrow account

-

-

34

74

3.677

-

31.536

81.341

Total

(a) See detail in Note 21 (a)
(b) Investment in other companies - Detail of investment
in other companies at December 31, 2011 and 2010 is as
follows:
Detail:

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Terminales Marítimos
Patagónicos S.A.

7.664

7.664

Inversiones Electrogas S.A.

6.088

6.088

Asociación Gremial de
Industriales Químicos A.G.

7

8

Electrogas S.A.

3

3

13.762

13.763

Total

147

CHAPTER 6

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9. OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS CURRENT AND
NON- CURRENT

The fair values of trade receivables, sundry debtors and
other receivables correspond to the same book value.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 the detail of this is as
follows:

a) Age of accounts receivable past due but not impaired

Current
Details:

The maturity of non-impaired accounts receivable, is
detailed below:

Non-Current

12.31.2011 12.31.2010 12.31.2011 31.12.2010
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$

Prepaid
Supply of
Natural
Gas

7.331

5.367

-

-

Prepaid vessel
lease

3.556

3.760

-

-

Prepaid rights

761

1.548

-

-

Prepaid
expenses of
Torquemada S/S

581

2

6.446

6.882

-

-

4.196

5.897

156

316

-

-

12.385

10.993

10.642

12.779

Materials with
a low turnover
Others
Total

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Up to 90 days

51.068

51.262

Over 90 days to 1 year

22.833

14.844

2.212

5.643

76.113

71.749

Over 1 year
Total

The amounts included in this area bear interest, calculated
using the maximum conventional rate published in the
official newspaper for debts less than or equal to UF 5,000
and above UF 5,000.
The average collection period from customers at December
31, 2011 is 17 days, without considering sundry and other
debtors.

10. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

b) Allowances for doubtful accounts

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 this item is composed
as follows:

The amount of the allowances for doubtful accounts as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

Current
Details:

12.31.2011
ThUS$

Non-Current*

12.31.2011 12.31.2010 12.31.2011 31.12.2010
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$

Trade
debtors

764.540

701.005

-

-

Sundry
debtors

77.147

173.015

-

4.721

Other
receivables

11.293

9.847

19.370

20.184

Allowance for
doubtful accounts

(1.282)

(1.282)

-

-

19.370

24.905

Total

851.698

882.585

* This corresponds to “Rights receivable” in the Statement of
Financial Position.
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Over 1 year

(1.282)

12.31.2010
ThUS$
(1.282)

Considering the creditworthiness of borrowers and the
historical performance of the collection, the ENAP Group
has estimated that the provision for doubtful accounts at
December 31, 2011 is sufficient.
11. BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED
COMPANIES
The accounts receivable, accounts payable and transactions
with related parties are the following:
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a)

Accounts receivable

Current:
Tax Number

Relationship

Currency

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Chile

Affiliated

US$

54.096

14.106

Primax S.A.

Perú

Affiliated

US$

29.765

23.058

78.335.760-7

Petropower Energía Ltda.

Chile

Affiliated

US$

16.508

6.000

76.788.080-4

GNL Quintero S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

US$

16.365

-

Gasoducto del Pacífico Argentina S.A.

Argentina

Affiliated

US$

3.154

3.578

78.889.940-8

Norgas S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

US$

2.766

3.564

76.384.550-8

Sociedad Nacional Marítima S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

US$

761

-

96.971.330-6

Geotérmica del Norte S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

US$

631

986

81.095.400-0

Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

US$

584

883

Golfo de Guayaquil Petroenap Compañía de Economía Mixta

Ecuador

Affiliated

US$

214

143

96.655.490-8

Oleoducto Trasandino Chile S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

US$

-

951

99.577.350-3

Empresa Nacional de Geotermia S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

US$

-

339

76.069.258-1

C. Tecnológico de Biocombustibles S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

US$

-

50

124.844

53.658

76.418.940-K
0-E

0-E

0-E

Company

Country

GNL Chile S.A.

Total

Non Current:
Tax Number
96.856.650-4
76.418.940-K

Company

Country

Innergy Holding S.A.
GNL Chile S.A.

Chile
Chile

Relationship

Currency

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Affiliated
Affiliated

US$
US$

9.041
392

11.550
392

9.433

11.942

Total

b) Accounts payable
Current:
Tax Number
0-E
76.384.550-8
81.095.400-0
96.971.330-6
99.515.800-0
76.030.514-6
78.528.120-9
99.598.300-1
Total

Company

Country

Primax S.A.
Sociedad Nacional Marítima S.A.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A.
Geotérmica del Norte S.A.
SK Inversiones Petroquímicas S.A.
SK Converge S.A.
Inmobiliaria Mamaco Ltda.
Sigdo Koppers S.A.

Peru
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Relationship

Currency

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated

US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$

24.063
1.567
1.170
-

14.029
1.881
1.452
215
78
2
1
6

26.800

17.664
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The balances and transactions with related parties are
adjusted in accordance with Article 89 of Law No. 18.046,
which establishes that transactions between investees,
between the parent company and its subsidiaries, and

those with a publicly traded company have to be in arm’s
length terms, which means, performed under conditions
of mutual independence between the parties.

c) Transactions with related companies

Transacciones más significativas

Tax Number
76.418.940-K
O-E
78.889.940-8

Company

Country Relationship

GNL Chile S.A.

Chile

Primax S.A.
Norgas S.A.

78.335.760-7

Petropower Energia Ltda.

81.095.400-0

Sociedad Nacional de Oleoducto S.A.

76.384.550-8
96.856.650-4

Sociedad Nacional Marítima S.A.
Innergy Holding S.A.

76.788.080-4

GNL Quinteros S.A.

96.655.490-8

Oleoducto Trasandino Chile S.A.

79.069.258-1
96.971.330-6

Biocomsa S.A.
Geotermica del Norte S.A.

99.577.350-3

Empresa Nacional del Geotermia S.A.

O-E
96.762.250-8
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Gasoducto del Pacífico Argentina S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico S.A.

Description of the transaction

Affiliated Purchase of natural gas
Interests
Perú
Affiliated Sale of products
Chile
Affiliated Sale of products
Dividend
Chile
Affiliated Purchase of services
Sale of products
Expense reimbursement
Loans
Dividend
Interests
Chile
Affiliated Purchase of services
Dividend
Chile
Affiliated Purchase of services
Chile
Affiliated Purchase of natural gas
Loan Payment
Affiliated Decrease in capital
Services provided
Chile
Affiliated Purchase of services
Decrease in capital
Chile
Affiliated Contribution of capital
Chile
Affiliated Expense reimbursement
Contribution of capital
Interests
Sale of services
Chile
Affiliated Sale of services
Contribution of capital
Argentina Affiliated Dividend
Chile
Affiliated Dividend

12.31.2011
Effect in
Amount
Income
ThUS$
ThUS$
668.598
65
329.729
85.479
51.515
669
3.675
5.600
420
38.395
3.826
23.564
22.747
2.500
16.365
4.717
201
-

(561.847)
65
34.674
2.923
(43.290)
562
420
(32.265)
3.826
(19.802)
(19.115)
(3.964)
-

12.31.2010
Effect in
Amount
Income
ThUS$
ThUS$
255.601
59
209.437
69.527
627
61.825
6.000
202
143
40.680
3.439
37.255
27.947
1.856
3.842
15
9
129
30.887
276
360
267
2.113
253
250

(214.791)
59
8.375
4.983
627
(51.954)
202
143
(34.185)
3.439
(31.307)
(23.485)
(3.229)
276
253
250
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d) Remuneration of the Board of Directors
Name
Current members of the Board
Rodrigo Álvarez Zenteno
Hernán Cheyre Valenzuela
Felipe Morandé Lavín
Iván Pérez Pavez
Rodolfo Krause Lubascher
Ramón Jara Araya
Carlos Díaz Vergara

Tax Number

Position

8.283.133-9
6.375.408-0
7.246.745-0
6.902.930-2
4.643.327-0
5.899.198-8
7.033.701-0

President
Vice president
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

12.31.2011
ThUS$

Sub-total

12.31.2010
ThUS$

15
15
19
-

10
18
-

49

28

Tax Number

Position

12.31.2011
ThUS$

6.065.433-6
8.170.562-3
7.006.275-5
6.499.284-8
5.334.581-6
6.376.183-4
7.478.702-9
9.164.893-8
5.433.767-1
8.970.274-7

President
President
President
President
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

2
5
7
-

17
7
9
9
-

Sub-total

14

42

Total

63

70

Name

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Former members of the Board
Fernando Echeverria Vial
Laurence Golborne Riveros
Ricardo Raineri Bernain
Santiago González Larraín
Jorge Matute Matute
Manuel Francisco Gana Eguiguren
Axel Christensen de la Cerda
Eduardo González Yáñez
Miguel Moreno García
Carlos Álvarez Voullieme

-

Board compensation bears no relationship to the
Company’s performance.

payments paid to the key executives that provided services
during the informed years.

The accrued compensation for key management personnel
amounts to ThUS$3,815 for the year-ended December 31,
2011 (ThUS$3,853 for the year-ended December 31, 2010).
This compensation includes the salaries and an estimate of
the short-term benefits (annual bonus 2010) and severance

The positions considered in the amounts informed correspond to the 13 senior executives of the ENAP Group,
including the General Manager of ENAP and the executives
that report directly to him during the reported years.
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e) Incentive plans for key personnel

13. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FOR CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX

ENAP has a Variable Remunerations System (VRS) that is
applicable to all its executives, with the sole exception
of the General Manager.

a) Current tax assets and liabilities
The detail at December 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

The purpose of this system is to encourage them to add
value to the company, the improvement of teamwork and
individual performances.

The factors considered in this model for the determination
of the incentive plan are the following:
• The financial results obtained by the company:
• The results per area, which shows the compliance level
of goals, achieved for each of the management areas.
• The individual results.
12. INVENTORIES
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 this item was composed
as follows:
12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

363.314
256.017
729.585
28.274
109.465

311.577
20.210
631.621
31.305
94.902

Total

1.486.655

1.089.615

Additional Inventory Information

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Details
Crude oil in inventories
Crude oil in transit
Finished products
Products in transit
Material in warehouse and in transit

Inventory costs recognized
as expense during the year
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(9.868.232)

(7.395.180)

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

VAT fiscal credit (remanent)
Other foreign taxes
Recovery income tax
Specific tax on fuel
Custom duties
Monthly provisional payments
Other taxes

66.746
25.132
8.495
2.134
1.397
116
1.119

122.891
34.884
348
2.726
9.786
13.382

Total

105.139

184.017

VAT fiscal debit
Specific tax on fuel
Other foreign taxes
Withholding taxes
Income taxes payable
Other taxes

1.062
42.813
6.163
1.797
371
2.370

804
67.684
10.944
2.648
449

Total

54.576

82.529

Current tax assets:

Current tax liabilities:
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b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
The origin of the deferred taxes recorded at December 31,
2011 and 2010 is as follows:
Assets for deferred taxes:

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Related to tax losses
298.118
Related to financial lease
7.420
Related to reserves for cash flow hedges
37.767
Related to property, plant and equipment 25.331
Related to provisions
24.015
Related to amortizations
Related to other
2.647

182.591
8.502
29.651
26.387
26.708
20.711
-

Total

395.298

294.550

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Assets for deferred taxes, tax credits,
not recognized
Liabilities for deferred taxes:

12.31.2011
ThUS$

Related to leasing
Related to depreciations
Related to obligations for
post-retirement benefits
Related to deferred expenses
Related to other
Total

Movements in liabilities for
deferred taxes (presentation):

12.31.2010
ThUS$

8.631
45.297

8.383
60.395

8.333
19.760
20.244

7.348
11.026
6.351

102.265

93.503

12.31.2011

12.31.2010

ThUS$

ThUS$

93.503

286.175

8.762
8.762

(192.672)
(192.672)

102.265

93.503

Liabilities for deferred taxes, initial balance
Increase (decrease) in liabilities
for deferred taxes
Changes in liabilities for deferred taxes, total
Liabilities for deferred taxes, final balance

(9.674)

c) Current tax expenses
All companies of the ENAP Group present individually their
tax returns, in conformity with current tax standards in
the operating country.

The tax and deferred income (expense) for the year ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010 is the following:
Expenses for current taxes:
(Expense) income - current tax
Tax benefit from unrecognized
tax assets, previously used to
reduce the expense for current taxes

12.31.2011
ThUS$
(18.755)

12.31.2010
ThUS$
(9.765)

(22)

-

(4.769)

8.411

Other (expense) income for
current taxes

(24.706)

(16.561)

(Expense) income for current taxes,
net, total

(48.252)

(17.915)

Deferred (expense) income for taxes
related to the creation and reversal
of temporary differences

94.194

32.759

(Expense) income for deferred taxes,
net, total

94.194

32.759

(Expense) income for income taxes

45.942

14.844

Adjustments to current tax from
prior period

Expense for deferred taxes to the
income from foreign
and national parties, net

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

(Expense) income for deferred taxes,
net, foreign

(14.251)

(13.936)

(Expense) income for deferred taxes,
net, national

(34.001)

(3.979)

(Expense) income for deferred taxes,
net, total

(48.252)

(17.915)

12.31.2011
ThUS$
(Expense) income for deferred taxes,
net foreign

(390)

12.31.2010
ThUS$
(6.440)

(Expense) income for deferred taxes, net,
national

94.584

39.199

(Expense) income for deferred taxes,
net, total

94.194

32.759
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d) Reconciliation of the income tax rate

e) Results and tax rates

The reconciliation from the statutory tax rate in Chile to
the effective tax rate applicable to the ENAP Group is as
follows:

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

12.31.2011
Subtotal
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

12.31.2010
Subtotal
ThUS$

Income (loss)
before taxes

(112.900)

55.288

Current taxes

17.813

26.654

Income tax

(10.115)

3.890

Deferred tax

42.882

36.700

(14.954)

(13.936)

(Expense) income for taxes
using the legal rate

22.580

(9.399)

Tax effects of rates in other
jurisdictions

2.030

(30.261)

18.611

27.442

(15.643)

(17.544)

Tax - decree
Law N°2398

Tax decree
Law N°2398

28.129

(11.810)

Income tax
(40%)

(23.183)

(7.869)

Other increase (decrease) in
charge for legal taxes

(9.765)

56.416

Deferred tax
(40%)

51.312

(3.941)

Adjustment to tax expenses using
the legal rate, total

23.362

24.243

(Expense) income for taxes using
the effective rate

45.942

14.844

Tax effect of ordinary income,
not taxable
Tax effect of expenses,
not deductible from taxes

In relation to other adjustments made to the statutory
tax rate, these correspond to permanent differences in the
year, mainly arising from the profits earned in subsidiaries
and related companies and the tax of ENAP mentioned in
the previous point.
The taxes for the foreign companies are calculated according to the tax rates in the corresponding jurisdictions.
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Foreign
Tax
Income (loss)
after current taxes

Net income (loss)

The tax rates applicable to the ENAP Group are of 20%
corporate tax, according to current legislation for 2011
and 17% for 2010,. Additionally, in the case of the Parent
Company, ENAP, this is increased by an extra 40% tax, due
to Law Decree 2.398.

Total
ThUS$

(95.087)

81.942

28.129

(11.810)

(66.958)

70.132

On July 31, 2010, the ministry of finance enforced law N°
20,455, whose objective is to “amend various laws to obtain resources for financing for the reconstruction of the
country”. The most important part of this law, for ENAP is
the temporary increase in the income tax rate as follows:
a) To 20% (twenty per cent) for incomes which are paid
or accrued during the 2011 calendar year.
b) To 18.5% (eighteen per cent) for incomes which are paid
or accrued during the 2012 calendar year.
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14. NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FORSALE

classified as held-for-sale” at their book value.

In May 2011, the ENAP Group started a sales process for
the 49% participation it holds in Empresa Nacional de
Geotermia S.A. and the 48.6% participation it holds in
Geotérmica del Norte S.A., which should be completed within
twelve months. This sale is consistent with the long-term
strategy of the Company. As a result of this decision, as of
December 31, 2011 the associated investments for a total of
ThUS$ 50,508 have been reclassified as “non-current assets

15. INVESTMENTS RECORDED USING THE EQUITY
METHOD

Companies
A&C Pipeline Holding
Biocomsa S.A.
Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A.
Empresa Nacional de Geotermia S.A.
Energia Andina S.A.
Forenergy S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Chile) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico Argentina S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico Cayman Ltd.
Geotermica del Norte S.A.
GNL Chile S.A.
GNL Quintero S.A.
Golfo Guayaquil Petroenap Cía. de E.
Innergy Holding S.A.
Norgas S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Argentina) S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile ) S.A.
Petropower Energía Ltda.
Primax Holding S.A.
Primax S.A.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoducto S.A.
Sociedad Nacional Maritima S.A.

a) Detail of the investments
Below is a description of the investments accounted for
using the equity method and their movement as of December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Main Activity

Country

Investment and financing in general
Production of biomasses and their transformation into biofuels
Exploration and exploitation projects related to oil, gas and derivatives
Exploration, development and exploitation of geothermal energy
Exploration, development and exploitation of geothermal energy
Biodiesel production project as of the forestry biomass
Technical and commercial operation of a pipeline system to transport natural gas
Technical and commercial operation of a pipeline system to transport natural gas
Company dedicated to investing and financing in general.
Investigation, exploration, development and exploitation of geothermal energy
Storage, processing and regasification capacities of liquid natural gas
Operation and maintenance of a LNG regasification terminal
Execution of activities in all and any of its phases of the oil industry
Build and exploit and operate all kinds of transport networks of natural gas
Import, export and purchase of liquid petroleum gas and its bulk sale to large distributors
Construction and exploitation of an oil pipeline between Argentina and Chile
Construction and exploitation of an oil pipeline between Argentina and Chile
Generation of energy and processing of fuels.
Purchase of shares, ownerships and rights in other companies on its own behalf.
Activities and services related to the hydrocarbon sector, including natural gas
Transport fuels and their derivatives to demand centers
Transport fuels and their derivatives to demand centers

I.Cayman
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Argentina
I.Cayman
Chile
Chile
Chile
Ecuador
Chile
Chile
Argentina
Chile
Chile
Ecuador
Peru
Chile
Chile

Ownership Percentage
2011
2010
Currency
%
%
USD
CLP
CLP
CLP
USD
CLP
USD
USD
USD
CLP
USD
USD
USD
USD
CLP
USD
CLP
USD
USD
USD
USD
USD

36,25
32,00
40,00
49,00
0,00
40,00
25,00
22,80
22,80
48,60
33,33
20,00
40,00
25,00
42,00
35,79
35,83
15,00
49,00
49,00
10,06
12,97

36,25
32,00
40,00
49,00
40,00
40,00
25,00
22,80
22,80
48,60
33,33
20,00
40,00
25,00
42,00
35,79
35,83
15,00
49,00
49,00
10,06
12,97

b) Movement of investments
The following is a detail of the main investments in investees recorded under the equity method as of December

31, 2011 and 2010:
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December 31, 2011
Companies

A&C Pipeline Holding
Biocomsa S.A.
Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A.
Empresa Nacional de Geotermia S.A.
Energia Andina S.A.
Forenergy S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Chile) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico Argentina S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico Cayman Ltda.
Geotérmica del Norte S.A.
GNL Chile S.A.
GNL Quintero S.A.
Golfo Guayaquil Petroenap Compañía de Economía Mixta
Innergy Holding S.A.
Norgas S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Argentina) S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile ) S.A.
Petropower Energía Ltda.
Primax Holding S.A.
Primax S.A.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoducto S.A.
Sociedad Nacional Marítima S.A.
Total

Opening
balance
2011

Addition

Equity in
earning (loss)

Dividends
received

Translation
difference

Other
Increase
(Decrease)

Final
Balance
2011

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

152
88
379
2.076
5.093
278
5.047
5.857
1
50.584
1
6.161
10
1
3.954
3.469
4.519
14.118
1
60.980
17.816
3.142

201
-

41
6
(971)
72
1.630
(1.196)
943
8.395
3.076
18
(595)
(11)
6.911
622
14.346
3.799
80

(3.517)
-

(37)
(390)
(2.039)
-

(49)
(49.388)
(943)
(14.555)
(3.076)
(221)
(277)
(118)
29
(41)

152
211
348
278
5.119
7.438
1
1
1
10
1
3.582
2.874
4.287
20.752
505
75.355
16.059
3.181

183.727

201

37.166

(3.517)

(2.466)

(74.956)

140.155

Opening
balance
2010

Addition

Equity in
earning (loss)

Dividends
received

Translation
difference

Other
Increase
(Decrease)

Final
Balance
2010

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

(119)
(1.005)
(5.093)
-

December 31, 2010
Companies

A&C Pipeline Holding
Biocomsa S.A.
Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A.
Empresa Nacional de Geotermia S.A.
Energia Andína S.A.
Forenergy S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Chile) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico Argentina S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico Cayman Ltda.
Geotérmica del Norte S.A.
GNL Chile S.A.
GNL Quintero S.A.
Golfo Guayaquil Petroenap Compañía de Economía Mixta
Innergy Holding S.A.
Norgas S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Argentina) S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile ) S.A.
Petropower Energia Ltda.
Primax Holding S.A.
Primax S.A.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoducto S.A.
Sociedad Nacional Marítima S.A.
Totales
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84
79
388
944
5.418
278
5.203
6.552
216
22.525
1
19.971
10
1
3.853
4.086
1.154
10.432
64
47.011
-

(34)
(909)
(248)
94
290
(632)
534
(4.982)
2.505
499
(617)
(118)
4.263
614
11.175
7.861
2.330

(250)
(627)
(202)
(4.317)
-

30
(72)
(2.196)
229
1.567
-

128.270

22.625

(5.396)

(442)

68
9
(5)
2.113
(77)
(985)
(215)
30.887
(534)
(8.828)
(2.505)
3.483
(375)
(677)
2.794
12.705
812

152
88
379
2.076
5.093
278
5.047
5.857
1
50.584
1
6.161
10
1
3.954
3.469
4.519
14.118
1
60.980
17.816
3.142

38.670

183.727
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c) Additional information on investments accounted
for by the equity method.
Fair Value
None of the investments accounted for by the equity method is traded publicly, so the fair value is not disclosed.
Interest below 20% in Sonacol S.A. and Sonamar S.A.
The ENAP Group exercises a significant influence in Sonacol S.A. and Sonamar S.A. even though it holds less than
20%. The reason is the relatively important transactions
between the investor and the investee. It also is involved
in commercial and financial decisions.
Starting in 2010, the ENAP Group reclassified the investments
in Sonacol S.A. and Sonamar S.A. from other non-current
non-financial assets to Investments accounted for by the
equity method. The effects of that change were recorded
in Other Reserves in Equity.
Investments for US$ 1
The interests in GNL Quintero S.A., GNL Chile S.A. and
Innergy Holding S.A. are shown at US$ 1 since they had a
negative equity on the closing date.
Changes and/or modification in share in associates
- On May 5, 2011, ENAP sold all of its interests in Energía Andina
S.A. for ThUS$ 12,000.
- On December 13, 2011, the Special Shareholders Meeting of GNL
Quintero S.A. approved a capital decrease of ThUS$ 81,824.57.
The ENAP Group recognized the respective account receivable
as of December 31, 2011. Payment was made in January 2012.
- The following capital contributions were made during the
2010 fiscal year:

46,017 on July 5, 2010, corresponding to 20,115,463,598
new shares. ENAP subscribed and paid for 10,052,577,163
shares in this increase by capitalizing debt for ThUS$ 15,469
and contributing cash for ThUS$ 7,054. That increased its
share to 48.53%.
On December 1, 2010, the capital of Geotérmica del Norte S.A. was increased by ThUS$ 17,017, corresponding to
6,875,035,947 new shares. ENAP subscribed and paid for
3,368,767,614 shares in that increase by contributing cash
of ThUS$ 8,338. That increased its interest to 48.60%.

Empresa Nacional de Geotermia S.A.: The capital of this
company was increased on October 15, 2010 by ThUS$
4,312, corresponding to 1,659,072 new shares. ENAP
subscribed and paid for 812,945 shares in that increase
by contributing cash of ThUS$2,113.
Biocomsa S.A.: A capital contribution of US$ 9. The equity
interests remained the same because no shares were issued.
- The following capital contributions were made in the
2011 fiscal year:
Biocomsa S.A.: A capital contribution of US$201 was made.
The equity interests remained the same as no shares were
issued.
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Empresa Nacional de Geotermia S.A. (49%) and Geotérmica
del Norte S.A. (48.6%): These investments were reclassified
in June 2011 to non-current assets classified as held for sale.
Goodwill
Primax S.A.: The goodwill determined by the company is
included in the book value of the investment, which was
ThUS$ 8,896 at December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Geotérmica del Norte S.A.: Its capital was increased by ThUS$
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12.31.2011
ThUS$

Statements of financial position

The summary of the main balances of the financial statements
of the investees with significant influence is as follows:

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Total assets current
Total assets non-current

926.486
1.995.408

673.593
1.905.376

Total assets

2.921.894

2.578.969

Total liabilities current
Total liabilities non-current
Total equity

724.276
1.724.304
473.314

533.844
1.515.710
529.415

Total equity and liabilities

2.921.894

2.578.969

Statements of comprehensive income

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Total income
Total expenses

4.577.593
(4.353.835)

3.239.791
(3.186.035)

Net income

223.758

53.756

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Changes in property, plant and equipment items at December 31, 2011 and 2010 are presented below:
Land

Buildings,
Net

Plant and
Equipment,
Net

Installations

Works in
Progress

Investment in
Exploration
and Production

Other

Total

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

Initial balance at 01.01.2011
Additions
Abandonment exploratory dry holes
Withdrawals and write-offs
Depreciation expenses
Other increases (decreases)
Trasnfer
Change, Total

231.524
4
4

19.845
89
(1.779)
(1.690)

1.121.269
36.727
(1.562)
(141.124)
753
40.238
(64.968)

34.340
520
(120)
(5.362)
1.364
436
(3.162)

273.515
131.062
(4.009)
(7.758)
119.295

698.211
207.284
(77.552)
(99.005)
(2.697)
28.030

255.775
30.309
(7.024)
(9.082)
(21.100)
(32.916)
(39.813)

2.634.479
405.995
(77.552)
(12.715)
(256.352)
(21.680)
37.696

Ending Balance at 12.31.2011

231.528

18.155

1.056.301

31.178

392.810

726.241

215.962

2.672.175

Land

Buildings,
Net

Plant and
Equipment,
Net

Installations

Works in
Progress

Investment in
Exploration
and Production

Other

Total

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

Initial balance at 01.01.2010
Additions
Transfers of non-current assets and
disappropiation groups
Abandonment exploratory dry holes
Withdrawals and write-offs
Depreciation expenses
Other increases (decreases)
Trasnfer
Change, Total

231.547
-

20.823
248

1.041.123
38.140

31.567
418

396.927
99.207

661.395
116.212

214.854
72.522

(33.318)
(128.285)
7.617
195.992
80.146

(4)
(3.824)
6.183
2.773

(2.821)
(33.662)
(186.136)
(123.412)

(22.522)
(97.754)
40.880
36.816

(1.959)
(5.393)
(10.969)
(3.349)
(9.931)
40.921

Ending Balance at 12.31.2010

231.524

1.121.269

34.340

273.515

698.211

255.775

Current year

Prior year
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(23)
(23)

(1.829)
528
75
(978)
19.845

2.598.236
326.747
(1.982)
(22.522)
(41.536)
(242.661)
18.197
36.243
2.634.479
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The balances of the items as of December 31, 2011 and
2010 are presented below:

Additional information
a) Works in progress

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Land
Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Fixed Installations
Works in Progress
Investment in Exploration
and Production
Others

231.528
70.243
2.234.812
71.173
392.810

231.524
70.154
2.158.656
68.973
273.515

3.245.162
304.332

3.118.127
335.063

Total

6.550.060

6.256.012

Property, Plant and Equipment,
Acumulated Depreciation

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Land
Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Fixed Installations
Works in Progress
Investment in Exploration and
Production
Others

52.088
1.178.511
39.995
-

50.309
1.037.387
34.633
-

2.518.921
88.370

2.419.916
79.288

Total

3.877.885

3.621.533

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

c) Decommissioning, withdrawal or restoration costs

Land
Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Fixed Installations
Works in Progress
Investment in Exploration
and Production
Others

231.528
18.155
1.056.301
31.178
392.810

231.524
19.845
1.121.269
34.340
273.515

As part of its fixed asset costs the Group maintains decommissioning costs of platforms and oil fields, for a net
amount at December 31, 2011 of ThUS$ 15,460 and at
December 31, 2010 of ThUS$ 19,290.

726.241
215.962

698.211
255.775

Total

2.672.175

2.634.479

Property, Plant and Equipment, Gross

Works in progress at December 31, 2011 corresponded to:
a. an alkylation plant at the Aconcagua refinery, amounting
to ThUS$ 153,139;
b. works at the San Vicente maritime terminal and
adaptation of the plant to refine heavy crude oil,
both at the Biobío refinery, for ThUS$ 179,940, and
c. other minor works amounting to ThUS$ 59,731.
b) Leased assets
The following assets acquired under financial leases are
presented in Other Property, Plant and Equipment:
Corporate offices acquired under a financial leasing with
Banco Santander Chile. At December 31, 2011, the net value
is ThUS$ 13,964 and at December 31, 2010 it amounted to
ThUS$ 14,706. Payments are made in monthly basis and
the contract terminates in August 2018.

There exist no assets corresponding to the property, plant
and equipment granted in guarantee, whether as mortgage
or as pledge.
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d) Interest compounding
The ENAP Group capitalized interest on the following projects in assets, which forms part of the costs of property, plant
and equipment:
Item
Works in progress
Works in progress
Works in progress
Works in progress
Exploration and production

Project
Alkylation Unit
San Vicente’ Terminal
Oil Plant Adaptation
Miscellaneous
Pampa del Castillo

Company
Enap Refinerias S.A.
Enap Refinerias S.A.
Enap Refinerias S.A.
Enap Refinerias S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Total
Applied rate

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

5.670
5.104
2.963
903
1.734

2.754
3.289
2.366
369
2.191

16.374
4,91%

10.969
4,48%

e) Insurance

f) Depreciation cost

The Group has insurance policies to cover any potential
risks to property, plant and equipment, as well as any
potential claims that could be filed in connection with
their use. These insurance policies are sufficient to cover
any pertinent risks.

The charge to income for depreciation of fixed assets included in exploitation costs and administrative and selling
expenses is as follows:
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12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

In cost of sales
In administrative expenses

250.752
5.600

240.300
2.361

Total

256.352

242.661
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g) Investment in exploration and production
The balances of investments in exploration and production at December 31, 2011 and 2010, are as follows:

Joint Ventures

Ownership
percentage
2011
ThUS$

Net amount of the
investment, before
impairment losses

2010
ThUS$

2011
ThUS$

2010
ThUS$

Less:
impairment
losses
2011
ThUS$

Net amount of the
investment in
joint ventures

2010
ThUS$

2011
ThUS$

2010
ThUS$

a. Exploitation
Área Magallanes (*)
Campamento Central Cañadón Perdido (*)
Cam 2A Sur (*)
East Rast Qattara (*)

50,00
50,00
50,00
50,50

50,00
50,00
50,00
50,50

120.955
48.343
12.755
36.243

92.507
49.125
12.760
29.963

12.217
-

12.217
-

120.955
48.343
538
36.243

92.507
49.125
543
29.963

b. Exploration
E2 (ex CAM3 y CAM1) (*)
La Invernada (*)
Bloque 2 - Rommana (*)
Bloque 8 - Sidi Abd El Rahman (*)
Bloque Mehr (*)

33,33
40,00
30,00
33,00

33,33
40,00
30,00
33,00

5.424
5.892
27.262

2.400
7.710
27.262

4.095
5.892
27.262

7.710
27.262

1.329
-

2.400
-

256.874

221.727

49.466

47.189

207.408

174.538

Total
Other business

Net amount of the
investment, before
impairment losses

Less:
impairment
losses

Net amount of the
investment
Net amount

Pampa el Castillo (*)
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (*)
Mauro Dávalos Cordero (*)

174.542
22.089
100.623

156.934
25.828
75.040

-

-

174.542
22.089
100.623

156.934
25.828
75.040

Total

297.254

257.802

-

-

297.254

257.802

Investments in exploration and production by ENAP in the Magallanes Region totaled ThUS$ 221,579 at December 31,
2011 and ThUS$ 265,871 in 2010.
(*) Notes 18 and 19 explain and provide the status of each of these projects.
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17. IMPAIRMENT LOSS AND PROVISIONS
i) Impairment loss – Earthquake
There were no impairment losses recorded as of December
31, 2011. During the year 2010 as a consequence of the
damages caused by the earthquake of February 27, 2010 in
the south-central area of Chile, the results of the Company
as of December 31, 2010 were negatively affected due to
the requirement that ENAP recognize impairment losses
to property, plant and equipment located in the Bío Bío
Refinery located in the district of Hualpén and to a lesser
extent at the Aconcagua Refinery located in the district of
Concón. The above situation resulted in the recognition
as of December 31, 2010 an effect for amounts claimed in
the statements of comprehensive income for the sum of
ThUS $98,375 (income), of which ThUS$ 38,709 reduce from
costs of sales (business interruption) and ThUS$ 38,019
are registered in other income (losses), corresponding to
ThUS 59,666 for insurance claims for physical damage and
ThUS$ 21,647 for the impairment of damaged fixed assets.

remuneration fee, according to the terms stipulated in the
Exploration Services Contract signed by the consortium
and NIOC.
In spite of the above mentioned, and taking into account
management’s judgment and analysis, the ENAP Group,
constituted a provision for the amount of the investment
of ThUS$ 27,262, in December 2008, which is presented as
net of the amount of the investment.
On October 21, 2010, the NIOC informed the operator of
the block (OMV) of the acceptance of the exploration costs
incurred by the consortium.
iii) Abandonment of dry exploratory wells with no
commercially exploitable reserves
The item Investments in Exploration and Production shows
decreases as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 due to the
abandonment of dry exploratory wells with no commercially
exploitable reserves that were drilled by the ENAP Group.
They are itemized below:

ii) Provisions
In the Investments in Exploration and Production item
there is a reduction registered in connection with the
Mehr Block.
OMV, as operator of the Mehr block and representing
the consortium constituted by Repsol and ENAP Sipetrol
S.A., through its subsidiary Sipetrol International S.A.,
delivered a letter addressed to the Exploration Director
of the National Iranian Oil Company (NIOC) on January
24, 2009, reporting that a unanimous decision had been
made to not continue with the negotiations for developing
the Band-e-Karkheh field. This decision is due to the fact
that it has not been possible to reach an agreement with
NIOC regarding the Development Plan needed to exploit
this discovery made by the consortium.
Considering that contractual obligations were fulfilled, the
consortium informed NIOC that it would be activating the
clause entitling it to recover exploration expenses and the
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12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Dry well - Egypt
Exploratory dry holes and
exploratory campaigns

3.000

7.710

74.552

14.812

Total

77.552

22.522

The charges mentioned here are included in the statements
of comprehensive income under the section other expenses
by function.
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18. PARTICIPATION IN JOINT VENTURES

(d) East Rast Qattara

Detail of the main joint ventures of exploitation and exploration operations through which revenues are obtained
and expenses are incurred, is presented below.

As part of the bidding process opened in 2002 by the
Egyptian General Petroleum Company (EGPC) for tenders
to be submitted for various blocks in the Western Desert,
the East Rast Qattara block was awarded to the subsidiary
Sipetrol International S.A., together with the Australian
company Oil Search Ltd., on April 16, 2003.

a) Exploitation
(a) Area Magallanes
On January 4, 1991, Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and Yacimientos
Petrolíferos Fiscales S.A. entered into a Unión Transitoria
de Empresas (UTE, similar to a joint venture) contract,
for hydrocarbon development and drilling activities in
the Area Magallanes Block, located in the eastern mouth
of the Magallanes Strait, Argentina.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A., as operator of this contract,
is responsible for performing all operations and activities
in this area.

The contract was signed on March 30, 2004 in the presence
of the Egyptian Oil Ministry, with an ownership interest
of 50.5% for Sipetrol International S.A., Egyptian branch,
as the operator, and 49.5% for Oil Search Ltd.
The exploitation stage started in December 2007.
On August 28, 2008, Oil Search sold its full ownership
interest to Kuwait Energy Company.
b) Exploration

(b) Campamento Central - Cañadón Perdido
(a) E2 (Formerly CAM 3 and CAM 1)
In December 2000, ENAP Sipetrol S.A. signed an agreement
with YPF S.A. whereby the latter assigns and transfers
to ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. 50% of the concession
that YPF S.A. holds for exploiting hydrocarbons in the
areas known as Campamento Central - Cañadón Perdido,
in the province of Chubut, Argentina, which is subject to
Law 24,145 and its enabling regulations. In this case, the
operator is YPF S.A.
(c) Cam 2A Sur
Regulatory decision 14 of January 29, 1999, awarded YPF and
ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. the right to explore the area
known as CAM 2A Sur. On October 7, 2002, ENAP Sipetrol
Argentina S.A. and YPF S.A. entered into a UTE (similar to
a joint venture) in the Tierra del Fuego Provinces.

The CAM-1 (Cuenca Austral Marina 1) area was awarded on
September 4, 2003 to ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and
Repsol-YPF S.A. by the Energy Secretariat of the Ministry
of Federal Planning, Public Investments and Services, which
accepted the tender submitted by the companies during
the International Public Bidding called for this project.
The area is located in the Atlantic Ocean in southern
Argentina and is adjacent to other concessions where
ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. is currently exploring and
producing hydrocarbons.
ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and YPF have formed a UTE
(similar to a joint venture) to carry out hydrocarbon
explorations in this area and exploit it commercially, if
oil is found.
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In October, 2005, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. was informed
by the Energy Secretariat that the CAM-1 exploitation area
would be registered to ENARSA (a State-owned company).
This was based on the fact that the area had been awarded
to ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and YPF S.A. in 2003 by
the Energy Secretariat, but approval by administrative
decree issued by the Executive was pending.
On September 26, 2006, ENARSA, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and YPF S.A. signed a joint venture agreement,
whereby the parties agreed to enter into a UTE with each
party holding a 33.33% interest. ENARSA, as the owner of
CAM 1 (hereinafter E2), contributed this block, and ENAP
Sipetrol Argentina S.A., jointly with YPF S.A., contributed
the CAM 3 block. ENAP Sipetrol and Repsol YPF expressly
reversed CAM-3 to the Energy Secretariat, so that the latter
could then award it to the new the consortium.
Within the framework of the agreement signed between
ENARSA, YPF S.A. and ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. for the
joint exploration, development and possible exploitation
of the new E2 area, the Energy Secretariat accepted the
transfer of the CAM-3 area to ENARSA, which, together
with the former CAM-1 area, now make up the E2 area that
is the subject of the agreement. Likewise, the Energy
Secretariat accepted offsetting the promised investments
pending in the CAM-3 area with the promise to drill a
second exploration well in the new E2 area.
On March 31, 2008, the parties signed the E2 Area Hydrocarbon Exploration and Exploitation UTE (similar to a
joint venture), with the purpose of regulating the rights
and obligations of ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A., YPF S.A.
and Energía Argentina S.A. (ENARSA) as partners and coparticipants in exploring and exploiting the E2 area. This
UTE was registered on April 17, 2008 with the Corporate
Records Office under number 63, Book 2 of the Company
Joint Venture Contracts.
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(b) La Invernada
On August 14, 2009, WIAR was notified by the Undersecretariat of Hydrocarbons and Energy of the Province of
Neuquén regarding the Decree No. 1338, dated August 6,
2009, which approves the total reversal of the La Invernada
Area. Nevertheless, such Decree only made reference to
WIAR, reason why Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. requested
formally together with WIAR through a note, dated September 9, 2009, whether the scope of the mentioned decree
could be extended also to Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
On November 30, 2009 the Province of Neuquén notified
the Provincial Decree No. 2175/09 which modifies Article
2 of the Provincial Decree No. 1338/09, and which reads
now as follows: “The Contract signed with the company
Wintershall Energía S.A. on November 11, 2003 is hereby
terminated, as well as the rights and obligations which
correspond to the company Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
in its role as co-owner, for the Exploration Permit over
La Invernada Area, as of November 11, 2008 due to the
application of article 19 paragraph a) of the Contract, in
conformity with the arguments stated in the Considerations
included in this document.”
Because of this, on March 4 2010, the final act was signed
with the members of the joint venture of La Invernada
approving the final liquidation balance, the proposed distribution, and the management of the operator. As well as
this, on the same date, the termination of the joint venture
contract and the request for cancellation of registration
of the joint venture was agreed.
On May 6 2010, the liquidation of the joint venture in
the IGC (General Inspection of Justice) was signed and on
May 20, 2010, the registration was cancelled in front of
the federal administration of public revenues (AFIP). This
signified the end of existence of the joint venture.
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(c) Area 2 - Rommana

begin on March 18, 2011.

At the end of December 2006, through its subsidiary Sipetrol
Internacional S.A., ENAP Sipetrol S.A. was awarded two
exploration contracts, subject to the terms, procedures and
approvals required by the Egyptian authorities.

ENAP Sipetrol S.A., PTTEP and EDISON, the Operator, gave
unanimous official notice in March 2011 that they will not
continue with the following stage of exploration pursuant
to the contract.

Block 2 on land will be operated by Sipetrol Internacional
S.A., with a 40% interest in a consortium made up of
PTT Exploration and Production Public Company Limited
(“PTTEP”) and Centrica, each with a 30% interest. This
area is located to the north of SINAB, covering a surface
area of 6,200 km2.

(e) Block Mehr

On September 18, 2007, the Concession Agreement for the
block was signed and the exploration stage began.
(d) Block 8 - Sidi Abd El Rahman
At the end of December 2006, through its subsidiary Sipetrol
Internacional S.A., ENAP Sipetrol S.A. was awarded two
exploration contracts, subject to the terms, procedures and
approvals required by the Egyptian authorities.
Block 8, off-shore, will be operated by Edison International
SPA, with a 40% interest in the consortium made up of
PTT Exploration and Production Public Company Limited
(“PTTEP”) and Sipetrol International S.A., each with a 30%
interest. This area is located in the northeast of Egypt,
in the Mediterranean Sea, and covers a surface area of
4,294 km2.
On September 18, 2007, the Concession Agreement for the
block was signed and the exploration stage began.
The drilling of two exploratory wells that had been committed concluded at the end of 2010. There was no profitable
economic outlook for the block, so there was no technical
reason to continue with the second phase of exploration
which, according to the concession agreement, was to

Through its subsidiary Sipetrol International S.A., ENAP
Sipetrol S.A. holds a 33% interest in the Mehr Block, in
partnership with Repsol YPF and OMV, with the latter acting
as operator. Since obtaining the concession in 2001, the
area has been in its exploration phase and one discovery
has been made.
On December 31, 2007, the NIOC (National Iranian Oil
Company) declared the Block to be commercially viable,
thereby kicking off negotiations for a development plan
for the area and the respective development contract.
In December, 2008, a document was received from NIOC
containing comments on the development plan proposed
by the consortium. Since it was not economically viable for
the companies composing the consortium (Sipetrol, OMV
and Repsol), a unanimous decision was made to withdraw
from the negotiation process, reserving the right to demand
reimbursements of expenses incurred in the exploration
stage, as stipulated in the exploration services contract.
OMV, as operator of the Mehr block and representing
the consortium constituted by Repsol and ENAP Sipetrol
S.A., through its subsidiary Sipetrol Internacional S.A.,
delivered a letter addressed to the Exploration Director
of the National Iranian Oil Company (NIOC) on January
24, 2009, reporting that a unanimous decision had been
made to not continue with the negotiations for developing the Band-e-Karkheh field. This decision is due to the
fact that it was not possible to reach an agreement with
NIOC regarding the Development Plan needed to exploit
this discovery made by the consortium.
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Considering that contractual obligations were fulfilled, the
consortium informed NIOC that it would be activating the
clause entitling it to recover exploration expenses and the
remuneration fee, according to the terms stipulated in the
Exploration Services Contract signed by the consortium
and NIOC.
Regardless, based on management’s judgments and estimates, the subsidiary Sipetrol International S.A. has deemed
it appropriate to record a provision of ThUS$ 27,262 in
December 2008 for the amount of the investment.

Current assets in
joint ventures

Joint ventures
Exploitation
Área Magallanes (a)
Campamento Central Cañadón Perdido (b)
Cam 2A Sur (c)
East Rast Qattara (d)
b. Exploration
E2 (ex CAM3 y CAM1) (a)
Bloque 2 - Rommana ( c)
Bloque 8 - Sidi Abd El Rahman (d)
Bloque Mehr ( e)
Total
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On October 21, 2010, the NIOC informed the operator of
the block (OMV) of its acceptance of the exploration costs
incurred by the consortium.
The consortium is currently negotiating with NIOC the
reimbursement of the exploratory expenses as well a payment fee for the exploration services.
The assets, liabilities of each of the joint ventures are
detailed next:

Non-current assets in
joint ventures

Current liabilities in
joint ventures

Non-current liabilities in
joint ventures

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

20.624
17.298
2.661
59.495

19.144
16.056
2.470
21.499

107.820
90.430
13.912
33.263

112.787
94.596
14.553
28.959

47.863
40.143
6.176
4.667

34.550
28.978
4.458
6.425

16.921
14.192
2.183
25.242

15.818
13.266
2.041
23.166

666
228
150
-

618
129
865
-

3.478
4.009
419
-

3.021
2.431
2.644
-

1.544
645
5
-

1.115
428
34
-

546
13.162
28.271
-

510
7.379
22.889
-

101.122

60.781

253.331

258.991

101.043

75.988

100.517

85.069

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$
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The amounts specified below detail the net sales, costs of sales and results of each of the joint ventures.
Ingresos ordinarios

Joint ventures
a. Exploitation
Área Magallanes (a)
Campamento Central Cañadón Perdido (b)
Cam 2A Sur (c)
East Rast Qattara (d)
b. Exploration
E2 (ex CAM3 y CAM1) (a)
La Invernada (b)
Bloque 2 - Rommana ( c)
Bloque 8 - Sidi Abd El Rahman (d)
Bloque Mehr ( e)
Total

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Gastos ordinarios
12.31.2011
ThUS$

Resultados

12.31.2010
ThUS$

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

19.376
36.359
17
45.437

42.764
40.250
4.059
42.283

34.058
49.446
4.215
16.601

38.358
37.098
5.342
18.390

1.197
478
(1.703)
27.983

(624)
470
(552)
22.728

109
-

184
-

68
4
-

375
-

(117)
(1.739)
155
-

(639)
(12)
(5.201)
(8.155)
-

101.298

129.540

104.392

26.254

8.015

99.563

c) Joint Ventures Agreements of ENAP in Chile

Lenga Block

Dorado Riquelme Block:

On July 24 2008 the General controller of the Republic
“gave evidence” of the Special Operations Contract (CEOP)
for the exploration and exploitation of the hydrocarbon
reservoir, Lenga block, signed between the government of
Chile and the companies Apache Chile Energía Spa and the
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP). On June 15, 2009,
the Joint Operating Agreement was signed between the
parties partaking in the Block with a 50% participation of
ENAP and 50% from Apache Chile Energía Spa, the latter
being the operator.

On August 26 2009, the Special Operations Contract was
entered into for the exploration and exploitation of the
hydrocarbon reservoirs, called the Bloque Dorado Riquelme, between the government of Chile and Methanex Chile
S.A. and the Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (national oil
company), and the Joint Operating Agreement between the
parties involved in the block operation was endorsed, with
50% participation from Methanex and 50% from ENAP, the
latter being the operator.
As of December 2011, investments in the Dorado Riquelme
CEOP totaled US$160 million, net of VAT.
The Block is currently in the third year of the contract
for the first exploratory period and has a production capacity of 390 thousand cubic meters of gas per day. 588
million cubic meters were delivered to the region through
December 31, 2011.

Operations were conducted during 2011 to evaluate the
crude oil production potential of the Carmen A-1X exploratory well drilled during 2010, together with the Carmen
B-1X exploratory well. No economically interesting results
were obtained.
The results obtained from the studies of the area, although
not favorable to traditional oil exploration, suggest that
an exploratory plan could be elaborated to evaluate the
potential of the area for unconventional drilling (shale
gas/oil).

167

CHAPTER 6

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At the end of the second half of 2011, Apache Chile Energía
SpA decided to transfer its equity interest in the CEOP,
temporarily making ENAP the Lenga Block Operator. This
transfer and change in operator is subject to approval of the
Ministry of Energy. The Operator had made investments for
ThUS$ 30,800 in the Lenga Block from the CEOP effective
date (July 2008) through December 31, 2011, according to
information provided by Apache Chile Energía SpA.

Caupolicán Block

Coirón Block

According to the terms of the contract, ENAP will only make
36% of all investments in this Block’s exploration phase.
The operator will make the remaining 64% of investments
in the exploration phase.

On July 24 2008, the General Controller of the Republic
“gave evidence” of the Special Operations Contract (CEOP)
for the exploration and exploitation of the hydrocarbon
reserve Coirón Block, signed between the government of
Chile and the companies Pan American Energy Chile Limitada and ENAP. Subsequently, on November 10, 2008, the
Joint Operating Agreement was signed between the parties
involved in the block operation with a 50% participation
from ENAP and 50% from Pan American Energy Chile Ltda.,
the latter being the operator.
As a consequence of exploration conducted in 2010, in May
2011 the Consortium presented a statement of saleable oil
in the Los Cerros sector of the Coiron Block to the State of
Chile. Development is planned to begin in 2012 and includes
drilling wells and building surface production facilities.

On April 28, 2009, the General Controller of the Republic
“gave evidence” of the Special Operations Contract (CEOP)
for the exploration and exploitation of the hydrocarbon
reserve Caupolicán Block, signed between the government
of Chile and the companies Petro Magallanes Operaciones
Ltda. and ENAP.

At this time, the CEOP for the Caupolican Block is in the
third year of the contract for the first exploration period.
The minimum exploration commitment is pending, consisting of the acquisition, processing and interpretation of
300 km2 of 3D seismic surveying and the drilling of two
exploratory wells.
19. OTHER BUSINESS
The main operations for the exploitation activities are
detailed below.
a) Pampa del Castillo - La Guitarra

During the first exploration period in December 2011, the
Consortium also began drilling exploratory well El Fierro
1, to explore for gas and oil in stratigraphic targets in the
Tertiary rock.
The cumulative investment in exploration by the Coiron
Block Operator since the CEOP effective date (July 2008)
was ThUS$ 29,600 at December 31, 2011, according to
reports by PAE.
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On September 25, 2001, Pecom Energía S.A. assigned to
Sipetrol Argentina S.A. 100% of the rights to the exploitation concession of the hydrocarbon area referred to as
Pampa del Castillo - La Guitarra, located in the province
of Chubut, Argentina.
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b) Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito y Mauro Dávalos Cordero
e Intracampos
On October 7, 2002, a contract was signed with Empresa de
Petróleos del Ecuador - PETROECUADOR and its subsidiary
Empresa Estatal de Exploración y Producción de Petróleos
del Ecuador - Petroproducción, to exploit and develop the
oilfields Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (PBH) and Mauro Dávalos Cordero (MDC), located in the eastern Ecuador basin.
By means of this specific service contract, the Company
committed to making investments in the development of
these fields for an amount estimated in US$90 million,
which include drilling 16 wells (9 in PBH and 7 in MDC),
the construction of a production station in MDC, the
adaptation of facilities and a camp. At the same time, it
acquired the exploration and operations rights, assuming
100% of the operation and management costs of the fields.
On August 08, 2006, the MD field contract with PETROECUADOR was modified, and ENAP SIPEC agreed to increase the
investment program to include the drilling of 7 wells and
expansion of production facilities. These new wells will
certify additional reserves, increasing current reserves
from 31.6 to 57.0 million barrels of crude oil.
These contracts stipulated that Enap Sipetrol S.A. could
exploit a maximum of 57 million barrels in MDC and 20.1

million barrels in PBH.
On July 27, 2010, the Reform to the Hydrocarbon Law and
the Internal Taxation Law was enacted in Ecuador. The
first transitory provision provides that existing contracts,
including for MDC and PBH, had to be amended within
180 days and the reformed model had to be adopted for
hydrocarbon exploration and exploitation services contained
in Article 16 of the Hydrocarbon Law.
According to the aforesaid first Transitory Provision, Enap
Sipetrol S.A. began the renegotiation of the MDC and PBH
contracts, which concluded on November 23, 2010 with the
signature of two amendments to the Service Contracts for
the Exploration and Exploitation of Hydrocarbons (crude
oil) in the Mauro Dávalos Cordero (MDC) Block and Paraíso,
Biguno, Huachito and Intracampos (PBHI) Block in the
Ecuadorian Amazon Region.
According to governing law, those amendments were registered with the Department of Hydrocarbons on December
15, 2010. The effective date of the amendment was January
1, 2011. Accordingly, the terms of the contracts signed on
October 7, 2002 were in effect through December 31, 2010.
The terms of the amendments governed became effective
on January 1, 2011.
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The summarized financial information of each of the projects in which the ENAP Group participates through Enap Sipetrol
S.A. as at December 31, 2011 and 2010, is as follows:
Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Pampa el Castillo (a)
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (b)
Mauro Dávalos Cordero (b)

24.765
6.302
23.706

22.950
8.300
31.223

131.651
25.833
97.181

137.786
21.432
80.624

58.155
3.178
11.955

41.883
4.126
15.522

20.226
251
944

22.950
317
1.193

Total

54.773

62.473

254.665

239.842

73.288

61.531

21.421

24.460

Proyects

Ordinary incomes
12.31.2011
ThUS$

Proyects

12.31.2010
ThUS$

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Cost of sales
12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Net Income (loss)
12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Pampa el Castillo (a)
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (b)
Mauro Dávalos Cordero (b)

115.679
46.340
12.582

88.109
59.952
16.288

98.513
23.960
8.151

63.249
27.306
9.410

4.320
15.047
2.851

11.146
21.901
4.584

Total

174.601

164.349

130.624

99.965

22.218

37.631

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
The detail and movements in investment properties of the ENAP Group at December 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:
12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Opening balance
Depreciation expense

2.061
(6)

2.066
(5)

Final Balance

2.055

2.061

The depreciation method in use is the straight-line method
and the useful life period assigned to such items fluctuates
between 10 and 20 years. The amount of the accumulated
depreciation increased to ThUS$ 54 and ThUS$ 48 as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Income amounted to ThUS$ 51 at December 31, 2011 (ThUS$ 27 in 2010). All those assets were leased under an operating
lease.
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21. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Details of the ENAP Group’s financial liabilities at December 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:
Financial
liabilities held for
negotiation
ThUS$

Financial liabilities at fair
value through
profits and loss
ThUS$

Loans and accounts
payable
ThUS$

Other current financial liabilities
Trade debtors and other accounts payable
Due to related companies

-

-

1.037.821
1.309.544
26.800

14.096
-

Total current liabilities

-

-

2.374.165

14.096

Other non-current financial liabilities
Other accounts payable, non-current

-

-

2.913.590
9.958

71.546
-

Total non-current liabilities

-

-

2.923.548

71.546

Financial
liabilities held for
negotiation
ThUS$

Financial liabilities at fair
value through
profits and loss
ThUS$

Loans and accounts
payable
ThUS$

Other current financial liabilities
Trade debtors and other accounts payable
Due to related companies

-

-

1.037.821
1.309.544
26.800

14.096
-

Total current liabilities

-

-

2.374.165

14.096

Other non-current financial liabilities
Other accounts payable, non-current

-

-

2.913.590
9.958

71.546
-

Total non-current liabilities

-

-

2.923.548

71.546

December 31,2011

December 31,2010

Hedge
derivates
ThUS$

Hedge
derivates
ThUS$

Hedging derivatives
The ENAP Group, in compliance with financial risk management
policy described in Note 4, acquires financial derivatives to
cover its exposure to the interest rate variations, currency
(exchange rate) and fuel prices.
The interest rate derivatives are used to establish or limit
the variable interest rate of the financial obligations and
correspond to interest rate swaps and zero-cost collars.
The currency derivatives are used to establish the exchange
rate of the US dollars in comparison to the Chilean peso (CLP)

and Unidad de Fomento (UF), due to investments or existing
obligations in currencies other than the US dollar.
These instruments correspond mainly to Forwards and Cross
Currency Swaps.
Crude oil derivatives are intended to hedge against a negative variation in the price of crude oil shipments from the
moment of purchase until the sale of the products refined
from that crude oil.
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Import swaps are also made, which are used mainly to mitigate
exposure to the variation in the prices of imported products
from the moment of purchase to sale.
In “normal” inventory cycles this risk is mitigated by fixing

sales prices at import parity, as the price of purchase is fixed
with the same methodology as the sale price. Therefore, this
instrument is only used in cases when a there is a decrease
in demand, or in situations where the inventory is above
the target level.

i) Presentation of assets and liabilities
The detail of the hedging assets and liabilities, considering the nature of the operations, is as follows:
12.31.2011
Hedge assets
Exchange rate hedging
Cash flow hedge

Diferential Swap WTI
/ Brent hedging
Cash flow hedge

Total

Current
ThUS$
-

12.31.2010

Non-Current
ThUS$
17.740

Current
ThUS$

12.31.2011

Non-Current
ThUS$

-

67.504

Hedge assets
Exchange rate hedging
Cash flow hedge

3.677

-

17.740

-

-

-

67.504

Non-Current
ThUS$

Current
ThUS$

Non-Current
ThUS$

632

-

3.928

-

13.464

71.546

11.649

77.199

Oil hedging
Cash flow hedge

-

-

25.050

-

Product of hegde
Cash flow hedge

-

-

424

-

14.096

71.546

41.051

77.199

Interest rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
3.677

Current
ThUS$

12.31.2010

Total

ii) Fair value of hedging derivatives
The detail of the hedging instruments portfolio of ENAP is as follows:
Detail of hedge
instruments

Cross-Currency Swap
Cross-Currency Swap
SWAP
Zero Cost Collar
Zero Cost Collar
3W Zero Cost Collar
Swap FO N°6
TSS
SDI
Forward
Total
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Description hedge
instruments

Exchange rate and interest rate
Exchange rate and interest rate
Interest rate
Interest rate
WTI/BRENT
WTI
Fuel Oil N°6
Petroleum Crude
Diferential WTI - Brent
Exchange rate

Description of instruments
against which is hedged

Unguaranteed obligations (bonds)
Leasing
Bank loans
Bank loans
Inventories
Inventories
Inventories
Inventories
Inventories
Trade receivables

Fair value of instruments against
wich is hedged
12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

13.053
2.900
(78.472)
(4.064)
1.982
1.008
(632)

61.331
4.625
(79.836)
(7.463)
(6.558)
(18.492)
(425)
(3.928)

(64.225)

(50.746)
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iii) Effect in profit and loss of hedging derivatives
The amounts recorded in the comprehensive income as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 that were transferred from net
equity to the income statement during the period were as follows:
12.31.2011
ThUS$
Debit (credit) charge in other comprehensive income during the year

12.31.2010
ThUS$

(3.249)

Debit (credit)transfer from equity to net income during the year

(26.035)

(213.408)

28.887

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, ENAP has recognized in profits and losses the following amounts for ineffectiveness and
for the value of money in time of the derivatives:
Detail of hedge
instruments

Description hedge
instruments

Detail

12.31.2011
ThUS$

Zero Cost Collar
SWAP
Forward

Interest rate
Interest rate
Exchange rate

Debit for in time value
Debit for ineffectiveness
Debit (credit) for ineffectiveness

Total

12.31.2010
ThUS$

(11)
(457)
621

(7.706)
(79)

153

(7.785)

iv) Other data on financial instruments
The maturities of hedges are detailed below:
December 31, 2011

Financial derivates

National
Fair
value
ThUS$

2012
ThUS$

15.953

137.576

2014
ThUS$

2015
ThUS$

2016
ThUS$

2017
ThUS$

After at
2018
ThUS$

1.729

1.794

386.768

1.931

2.004

1.377

533.179

2013
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Exchange rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Interest rate hedging
Cash flow hedge

(83.168)

1.087.920

304.751

36.639

38.550

38.190

38.112

125.413

1.669.575

Total

(67.215)

1.225.496

306.480

38.433

425.318

40.121

40.116

126.790

2.202.754

WTI/Brent hedging: Cash flow hedge

Fair
value
ThUS$

Thousand
of barrels
ThBbl

2.990

10.580
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December 31, 2010

National

Exchange rate hedging

Fair
value
ThUS$

2011
ThUS$

2012
ThUS$

Exchange rate hedging
Cash flow hedge

62.027

566.715

Interest rate hedging
Cash flow hedge

(87.299)

Total

(25.272)

WTI hedgingI: Cash flow hedge
Product of Hedge - Swap FO N°6: Cash flow hedge

2013
ThUS$

2014
ThUS$

2015
ThUS$

2016
ThUS$

After at
2017
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

137.688

1.846

1.916

1.987

2.062

388.517

1.100.731

147.073

292.919

304.750

36.639

38.550

38.190

163.526

1.021.647

713.788

430.607

306.596

38.555

40.537

40.252

552.043

2.122.378

Fair
value
ThUS$

Thousand
of barrels
ThBbl

(25.050)

9.635

(424)
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The contractual notional amount of the contracts entered into does not represent the risk taken on by ENAP, as this
amount only corresponds to the nominal basis on which the settlement of the derivative is calculated.

v) Hierarchies of the Fair Value
The ENAP Group calculates the fair value for the financial
derivatives by using market parameters, which are adjusted
to the maturity profile of each operation.
The forward operations hedging the exchange rate exposure
of the accounts receivable from sales invoices in Chilean
pesos are recorded using as reference the forward peso-US
dollar curve available in the market.
The cross currency swap operations hedging the exposure
to the fluctuation of the US dollar of the financial liabilities
denominated in UF are recorded as the present value of
the future flows in UF (asset) and US dollar (liability). To
calculate such present values the rate curves of the UF and
market LIBOR are used, which are adjusted to the relevant
dates of the flows included in each operation.
The interest rate swap operations hedging the exposure to
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the fluctuation of the LIBO rate of the financial liabilities
that accrue a variable rate based on LIBOR are recorded as
the present value of future flows. To calculate such present
values the rate curves of the market LIBOR are used, which
are adjusted to the relevant dates of the flows included
in each operation.
The operations with options on WTI, hedging the exposure
to the variation of the international price of the crude oil
imports of ENAP, are recorded by using calculation tools
provided by financial information platforms. Such tools
use the future curves of the WTI prices in the market,
adjusting these to the maturity profile of each operation.
The Refining Crack Swap transactions are intended to set
the relative reference price of the basket of products from
the Gulf of Mexico that are used to determine the sale
prices of products refined by the ENAP Group in relation
to the price of crude oil.
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The financial instruments recognized at fair value in the
statement of financial situation, are classified according
to the following hierarchies:
Level 1: Quoted price (not adjusted) in an active market
for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: Different inputs to the quoted prices which are
included in Level 1 and which are observable for assets
and liabilities, whether directly (as price) o indirectly (as
derived from a price); and ; y
Level 3: Inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based
on observable market information (non-observable inputs).

Financial instruments rank

Total
12.31.2011
ThUS$

Level 1
ThUS$

Level 2
ThUS$

Level 3
ThUS$

Hedge assets - Cash flow hedge

21.417

-

21.417

-

Hedge Liabilities - Cash flow hedge

85.642

-

85.642

-

Financial instruments measured at fair value

b) Loans accruing interest
i) Summary of loans - The detail of the loans accruing interest as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 is the following:

Current
12.31.2011
ThUS$

Non-Current
12.31.2010
ThUS$

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Not guaranteed
Borrowings from financial institutions

462.042

436.916

716.612

519.743

Bonds payable

465.164

35.175

1.844.818

1.824.116

-

22.292

-

-

1.773

1.741

10.722

13.200

Subtotal

928.979

496.124

2.572.152

2.357.059

Guaranteed
Borrowings from financial institutions

108.842

110.702

341.438

384.330

Subtotal

108.842

110.702

341.438

384.330

1.037.821

606.826

2.913.590

2.741.389

Credit lines
Financial lease

Total
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ii) Detail of loans accruing interest - The detail per currency and maturity of the loans from financial entities (guaranteed and not guaranteed) accruing interest as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, is the following:

December 31, 2011

Name creditor
BNP - Paribas (1)
Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau
BNP - Paribas
BNP - Paribas
BNP - Paribas (Cesce)
Société Générale
“Banco Latinoamericano
de Exportaciones S.A. (4)”
Société Générale ( 6 )
BNP Paribas ( 6 )
Scotiabank
BBVA
Banco de Chile
JP Morgan Chase Bank (2)
Calyon N.Y Branch (3)
The Bank of Tokyo (7)

Current

Non-Current
Total
ThUS$

5 years
and more
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Payment
interests

Nominal
rate

Effective
rate

Nominal
value

Up to 1
month

Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly

3,75%
6,98%
3,10%
6,04%
4,38%
6,43%

3,75%
6,98%
3,10%
6,04%
4,38%
6,43%

410.000
20.554
34.459
13.917
53.215
21.981

-

21.448
1.578
2.050
575
2.748
2.484

14.465
1.380
1.700
530
2.295
-

35.913
2.958
3.750
1.105
5.043
2.484

130.258
1.428
13.388
4.240
20.267
5.771

161.509
1.788
2.789
-

291.767
1.428
13.388
6.028
23.056
5.771

Single time
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Single time

4,48%
1,48%
4,07%
0,85%
1,21%
1,34%
0,70%
0,60%
1,53%

4,48%
2,29%
5,19%
0,85%

65.000
100.000
68.964
100.000

-

3.779
-

57.589
17.113
3.602
100.421

57.589
17.113
7.381
100.421

64.875
28.135

16.219
31.736
-

81.094
59.871

1,21%
1,34%
0,97%
0,96%
1,73%

55.000
230.000
220.000
150.000
300.000

-

55.110
530
-

231.033
50.045
409

55.110
231.033
530
50.045
409

226.213
51.209
298.225

-

226.213
51.209
298.225

90.302

480.582

570.884

844.009

214.041

1.058.050

Single time
Single time
Single time
Half-yearly
Half-yearly

Total

From 1 to 3 From 3 to
month
12 months

From 1
to 5 years
ThUS$

The nominal interest rates presented are annual.
Other information - Other information related to the financial entity loans as of December 31, 2011:
Name creditor

Tax number

Currency

Country

Company

Tax number

Country

Guarantee

BNP - Paribas (1)
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau
BNP - Paribas
BNP - Paribas
BNP - Paribas (Cesce)
Société Générale
“Banco Latinoamericano
de Exportaciones S.A. (4)”
Banco de Chile
Scotiabank
BBVA
JP Morgan Chase Bank (2)
Calyon N.Y Branch (3)
Banco HSBC (5)
BNP Paribas (5)
Banco Santander (5)

0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E

US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars

Estados Unidos
Alemania
Alemania
España
España
España
Francia

Enercon
Etalsa
Petrosul
Prodisa
Prodisa
Prodisa
CHBB

99519820-7
96913550-7
96969000-4
99548320-3
99548320-3
99548320-3
99519810-K

Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Guarantee
Guarantee
Guarantee
Guarantee
Guarantee
Guarantee
Guarantee

0-E
97.004.000-5
0-E
97.032.000-8
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E

US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars

Panamá
Chile
Canada
Chile
Estados Unidos
Estados Unidos
Estados Unidos
Estados Unidos
Estados Unidos

Enap Sipetrol Argentina
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP

0-E
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6

Argentina
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
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December 31, 2010

Name creditor
BNP - Paribas (1)
Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau
Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau
BNP - Paribas
BNP - Paribas
BNP - Paribas (Cesce)
Société Générale
“Banco Latinoamericano
de Exportaciones S.A. (4)”
Banco de Chile
Scotiabank
BBVA
JP Morgan Chase Bank (2)
Calyon N.Y Branch (3)
Banco HSBC (5)
BNP Paribas (5)
Banco Santander (5)

Current
From 1 to 3 From 3 to
month
12 months

Total
ThUS$

5 years
and more
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Payment
interests

Nominal
rate

Effective
rate

Nominal
value

Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly

3,75%
4,52%
6,98%
6,04%
3,10%
4,38%
6,43%

3,75%
4,52%
6,98%
6,04%
3,10%
4,38%
6,43%

410.000
29.940
20.554
13.917
34.459
53.215
21.981

584
2.024
2.732
-

21.405
2.524
1.553
2.532

14.091
2.450
1.400
530
1.601
2.198
-

35.496
4.974
2.953
1.114
3.625
4.930
2.532

123.731
4.280
4.240
14.644
19.408
8.080

196.484
3.180
2.094
8.189
-

320.215
4.280
7.420
16.738
27.597
8.080

Single time
Single time
Single time
Single time
Single time
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Single time

4,48%
1,82%
1,20%
1,79%
4,27%
5,84%
2,60%
2,10%
2,59%

4,48%
1,82%
1,20%
1,79%
4,30%
5,90%
2,40%
2,80%
2,10%

65.000
130.000
100.000
70.000
220.000
150.000
50.000
100.000
150.000

1.967
597
1.174
506
41
25
38
68

-

55.078
130.000
100.000
70.000
50.000
32.500
50.000
-

55.078
131.967
100.597
71.174
506
50.041
32.525
50.038
68

227.086
100.478
17.144
25.100
149.935

-

227.086
100.478
17.144
25.100
149.935

9.756

28.014

509.848

547.618

694.126

209.947

904.073

Total

Up to 1
month

Non-Current
From 1
to 5 years
ThUS$

The nominal interest rates presented are annual.
Other information- Other information related to the financial entity loans as of December 31, 2010:

Name creditor

Tax number

Currency

Country

Company

Tax number

Country

Guarantee

BNP - Paribas (1)
Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau
Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau
BNP - Paribas
BNP - Paribas
BNP - Paribas (Cesce)
Société Générale
“Banco Latinoamericano
de Exportaciones S.A. (4)”
Banco de Chile
Scotiabank
BBVA
JP Morgan Chase Bank (2)
Calyon N.Y Branch (3)
Banco HSBC (5)
BNP Paribas (5)
Banco Santander (5)

0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E

US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars

Estados Unidos
Alemania
Alemania
España
España
España
Francia

Enercon
Etalsa
Petrosul
Prodisa
Prodisa
Prodisa
CHBB

99519820-7
96913550-7
96969000-4
99548320-3
99548320-3
99548320-3
99519810-K

Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Guarantee
Guarantee
Guarantee
Guarantee
Guarantee
Guarantee
Guarantee

0-E
97.004.000-5
0-E
97.032.000-8
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E

US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars

Panamá
Chile
Canada
Chile
Estados Unidos
Estados Unidos
Estados Unidos
Estados Unidos
Estados Unidos

Enap Sipetrol Argentina
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP

0-E
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6

Argentina
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee

177

CHAPTER 6

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) BNP – PARIBAS
On June 15, 2005, Energía Concón S.A. signed a 15-year
Loan Agreement for ThUS$ 410,000 with a bank syndicate
led by BNP Paribas, Citigroup and Calyon.
(2) J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK
On June 15, 2006, ENAP refinanced 220 million US dollars
of the existing syndicated loan, with a September 5, 2006,
effective date. Through this operation, ENAP signed a
contract with fifteen international banks under the laws
of New York called Second Amended and Restated Term
Loan Agreement, which modifies the August 31, 2004 credit
contract, which at the time modified a previous August
29, 2003, contract. The current modifications refer to:
(i) the consolidation in a single loan of the principal due
from 2007 to 2009 of the current credit’s two existing
tranches (Tranche 1 and Tranche 2) and (ii) the modification of principal maturity dates into a 7 year term single
payment (“bullet”), with a September 2013 maturity date.
The interest rate applied to the operation was LIBOR+0.20%
for the first four years, LIBOR+0.225% for years five and
six and LIBOR+0.25% for year seven.

ENAP signed a syndicated loan contract (called Term
Loan Agreement) with 12 international banks under the
laws of New York. The loan has a 7 year term and will be
amortized in 6 equal semiannual installments, the first
due on June 14, 2011.
The annual interest rate applied to the operation is LIBOR+0.175% for the first three years, LIBOR+0.20% for years
four and five and LIBOR+0.225% for years six and seven.
(4) BANCO LATINOAMERICANO DE EXPORTACIONES S.A.
(BLADEX).
On June 30, 2009, Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. obtained
a loan of ThUS$ 65,000 which matures originally on June
28, 2010, with payment of capital upon maturity and semiannual payments of interests. This loan is guaranteed
by the ENAP Group. The interest rate is LIBOR+3.5%.
This credit final maturity has been extended in several
times, the last one on December 23, 2011, Enap Sipetrol
Argentina S.A. extends the maturity of the mentioned
loan to December 27, 2012 agreeing an interest rate of
LIBOR (6m) + 2.75%
(5) BANCO SANTANDER, BNP AND HSBC

The change in the loan’s term, which originally matured
between 2006 and 2009, provided additional funds to
finance ENAP’s investments for the coming years. The
interest rate spread remains practically unaltered regarding
the original loan (LIBOR+0.20% between 2006 and 2008
and LIBOR+0.225% in 2009). Since it is a refinancing of
liabilities, this transaction did not affect ENAP’s liability
level.
(3) CALYON NEW YORK BRANCH
In December 2006, the Company obtained a ThUS$ 150,000
syndicated loan from a group of banks, with Calyon Bank
New York Branch as the agent. Through this operation,
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As of September 17, 2009, ENAP entered into three loan
agreements, each with a 3 year term, with Banco Santander for ThUS$ 150,000, BNP Paribas for ThUS$ 100,000
and HSBC for ThUS$ 50,000, with amortization starting
from the second year and annual interest of LIBOR plus
a spread with a range from 1.25% to 1.50%. These three
loan agreements were refinanced on November 23, 2011
through a syndicated bank loan for ThUS$ 300,000 lead
by The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ (see (7) on this note).
The sum of the outstanding notional of the mentioned
loans on the date which the refinancing takes place was
ThUS$ 235,000.
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(6) BNP PARIBAS AND SOCIETE GENERALE
On September 30, 2010, ENAP entered into two loan
agreements, with BNP Paribas and Société Générale for
ThUS$ 78,258 and ThUS$ 100,000 where each hold 50%
of the participation, in order to construct an alkylation
plant for Refinería Aconcagua. Both credits function as
revolving credit lines, from which they can make partial
withdrawals when they comply with certain conditions.
The disbursements ended on December 31, 2011, closing
the loans at ThUS$68,431 and ThUS$100,000, respectively.

On November 23,2011, ENAP has refinanced three existing
bilateral long-term bank credits (with BNP Paribas, HSBC
and Santander), through entering into a syndicated loan
for ThUS$ 300,000 from a group of banks, acting as agent
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ. Through this operation,
ENAP signed a syndicated loan contract (called Term Loan
Agreement) with 7 international banks under the laws of
New York. The loan has a 5 year term and will be amortized in 3 equal semiannual installments, the first due on
November 29, 2015.
The interest rate of this loan is LIBOR + 0.8%

(7) THE BANK OF TOKYO

iii) Detail of Bonds Payable
The detail and maturities of the bonds payable is indicated in the following table:

Name creditor

Country

Currency

Nominal
Value

Payment
Interests

Amortization
Capital

Nominal Effective
Rate
Rate

Guarantee

Period
in years

Current

12. 31.2011 12. 31.2010
ThUS$
ThUS$
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Banco de Chile
Banco de Chile
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon

Name creditor

EE.UU
EE.UU
Chile
Chile
EE.UU
EE.UU
EE.UU

Country

US$
US$
UF
UF
US$
US$
US$

Currency

290.000.000
150.000.000
3.250.000
9.750.000
300.000.000
500.000.000
500.000.000

Nominal
Value

Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly

Payment
Interests

Upon maturity
Upon maturity
Upon maturity
Upon maturity
Upon maturity
Upon maturity
Upon maturity

Amortization
Capital

6,75%
4,88%
4,25%
4,33%
6,25%
5,25%
4,75%

7,50%
5,77%
5,08%
4,28%
6,58%
5,46%
5,12%

Nominal Effective
Rate
Rate

No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee

Guarantee

10
10
10
10
10
10
10

Period
in years

291.388
2.194
141.452
8.913
9.068
10.500
1.649

2.620
2.169
1.606
9.570
9.018
10.192
-

465.164

35.175

Non-Current

12. 31.2011 12. 31.2010
ThUS$
ThUS$
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Banco de Chile
Banco de Chile
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon

EE.UU
EE.UU
Chile
Chile
EE.UU
EE.UU
EE.UU

US$
US$
UF
UF
US$
US$
US$

290.000.000
150.000.000
3.250.000
9.750.000
300.000.000
500.000.000
500.000.000

Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly

Upon maturity
Upon maturity
Upon maturity
Upon maturity
Upon maturity
Upon maturity
Upon maturity

6,75%
4,88%
4,25%
4,33%
6,25%
5,25%
4,75%

7,50%
5,77%
5,08%
4,28%
6,58%
5,46%
5,12%

No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee

10
10
10
10
10
10
10

147.843
422.581
296.340
492.490
485.564

287.989
148.838
147.640
451.514
295.726
492.409
-

1.844.818 1.824.116
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Other information related to public obligations as of December 31, 2011 and 2010:

Nominal value Currency
290.000.000
150.000.000
3.250.000
9.750.000
300.000.000
500.000.000
500.000.000

US$
US$
UF
UF
US$
US$
US$

Name creditor
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Banco de Chile
Banco de Chile
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon

Tax number

Placement

0-E
0-E
97.004.000-5
97.004.000-5
0-E
0-E
0-E

Foreign
Foreign
Local
Local
Foreign
Foreign
Foreign

a) Local bonds
1. On October 4, 2002, the Company registered at the
Securities Record of the Superintendency of Securities and
Insurance under No. 303, the issuance of adjustable bonds
in Unidades de Fomento (UF) in the local market, which
was executed on October 22, 2002. This placement was
performed in two subseries A-1 and A-2, with the following
characteristics:
The placement of bonds in the local market amounted to
UF 3,250,000. The maturity period is of 10 years, the
payments of interests are semiannual, the annual interest
rate is of 4.25% and the amortization of the principal is
at the end of the period (bullet).
2. On January 15, 2009, the Company registered at the
Securities Register of the Superintendency of Securities
and Insurance under No. 303, the issuance of adjustable
bonds in UF in the local market.
The placement of bonds in the local market was performed in
January and amounted to UF 9,750,000. The maturity period
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Company

Country

Tax number

Payment
Interests

Amortization
Capital

Guarantee

ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP

Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6

Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly

Upon Maturity
Upon Maturity
Upon Maturity
Upon Maturity
Upon Maturity
Upon Maturity
Upon Maturity

No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee

is of 10 years, the payments of interests are semiannual,
the annual interest rate is of 4.33% and the amortization
of principal is at the end of the period (bullet).
b) International bonds:
1. On November 5, 2002, the Company issued and placed
144A bonds in the US market, at an annual interest rate
of 6.75%, in an amount of US$290 million.
2. On March 16, 2004, the Company issued and placed
144 A bonds in the US market, at an annual interest rate
of 4.875%, in an amount of US$150 million. The maturity
period of both placements is 10 years. Interests are paid
on a semiannual basis and the amortization of capital will
be performed upon maturity (bullet).
3. On June 30, 2009, the Company issued and placed 144
A bonds in the US market, at an annual interest rate of
6.25%, in an amount of US$300 million. The maturity
period is of 10 years. Interests are paid on a semiannual
basis and the amortization of capital will be performed
upon maturity (bullet).
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4. On August 5, 2010, the company carried out the issuance
and placement of a type 144 A bond in the US market, at
a yearly interest rate of 5.25% for an amount of ThUS$
500.000. The maturity period is 10 years. Interest payments
are paid on a semiannual basis and the amortization of
capital will be performed upon maturity (bullet).

5. On December 1, 2011, ENAP issued and placed a
ThUS$500,000 144 A bond in the US market at an interest
rate of 4.75% annually.
The bond issue expires in 10 years. Interest payments
are semi-annually and the principal will be amortized at
maturity.

iv) Financial leases
The present value of future payments under financial leases is:
12.31.2011

Up to one year
From 1 to 5 years
6 years and more
Total

12.31.2010

Gross
ThUS$

Interest
ThUS$

Present Value
ThUS$

Gross
ThUS$

Interest
ThUS$

Present Value
ThUS$

2.201
8.405
3.490

(428)
(1.063)
(110)

1.773
7.342
3.380

2.262
11.182
3.728

(521)
(1.591)
(119)

1.741
9.591
3.609

14.096

(1.601)

12.495

17.172

(2.231)

14.941
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22. TRADE DEBTORS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

23. OTHER ACCRUALS

a) The detail is as follows:

i) Detail - As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 the detail
is as follows:

Current

Current

Non-current

12.31.2011 12.31.2010 12.31.2011 12.31.2010
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$

Detail

1.298.689

1.106.225

5.295

3.139

Provision for
contracts

Other
creditors

7.216

1.613

332

-

Other
payables

3.639

18.990

4.331

1.309.388

1.126.828

9.958

Trade accounts
payable

Total

12.31.2011 12.31.2010 12.31.2011 12.31.2010
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$
13.437

-

-

-

Dismantling,
restoration and
rehabilitation costs(a)

-

-

51.929

51.407

2.711

Income tax provision
(Decree Law 2398)

-

-

33.554

13.192

5.850

Equity in loss
of investments

20.805

5.598

-

-

2.652

2.807

-

-

(b)

Demurrage

b) Detail of future maturities
12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Up to 30 days

732.931

549.749

Between 31 and 60 days

231.906

144.439

Between 61 and 90 days

165.954

311.103

Between 91 and 180 days

178.753

121.492

-

45

1.309.544

1.126.828

Over 180 days
Total

Non-current

Onerous
contracts

(c)

-

-

11.015

13.243

Other
provisions

(d)

-

4.941

-

1.602

36.894

13.346

96.498

79.444

Total

a) Under this kind of provision the estimated disbursements which the Group should perform in the future for
the concepts of environmental remediation, platforms and
wells are considered. These are supported by a detailed
activities plan which is currently being applied.
b) Corresponds to the provisions for negative equity of
the investments held in Innergy Holding S.A., GNL Chile
S.A. and GNL Quintero S.A.
c) Correspond to the recognition of obligations for the
concept of onerous contract with Gas Valpo S.A.
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ii) Movement: Movement of provisions, described by concept, was as follows:
December 31, 2011
Provision for
contracts
ThUS$

Dismantling
restoration
and
rehabilitation costs
ThUS$

Onerous
contracts
ThUS$

Negative
equity
ThUS$

Other
Provisions
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Total provision, Initial balance at 01.01.11
Additional provisions
Used provision
Reversal of provision
Other increase (decrease)

13.437
-

51.407
4.594
(374)
(3.698)
-

13.243
(2.228)
-

5.598
16.946
(1.739)
-

22.542
46.227
(26.983)
(5.580)
-

92.790
81.204
(29.585)
(11.017)
-

Total provision, final balance at 12.31.11

13.437

51.929

11.015

20.805

36.206

133.392

Provision for
contracts
MUS$

Dismantling
restoration
and
rehabilitation costs
MUS$

Onerous
contracts
ThUS$

Negative
equity
ThUS$

Other
Provisions
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

8.099
777
(8.876)
-

69.474
2.339
(20.406)
-

18.115
(4.872)
-

9.129
5.015
(8.546)
-

31.290
15.309
(15.494)
(8.565)
2

136.107
23.440
(49.648)
(17.111)
2

51.407

13.243

5.598

22.542

92.790

December 31, 2010

Total provision, Initial balance at 01.01.10
Additional provisions
Used provision
Reversal of provision
Other increase (decrease)
Total provision, final balance at 12.31.10

-

24. ACCRUALS FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The detail of the accruals for employee benefits as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, is the following:
Current

Non-current

12.31.2011 12.31.2010 12.31.2011 12.31.2010
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$

Concept
Severance
payments

(a)

785

22.413

109.670

114.542

Share in profits
and bonds for
employees

(b)

15.587

23.031

-

-

Others provisions (c)

19.222

27.389

246

229

Total

35.594

72.833

109.916

114.771

a) This corresponds to the all events severance payments
held by ENAP with its employees, which are detailed in
the collective agreements active as of such date.
b) Correspond to all benefits associated to bonuses and participation in results that ENAP has to pay to its employees
and that is established in the current collective agreement
contracts or employment contracts, as appropriate.
c) The amounts recorded in this item correspond to other
benefits to personnel, as for example vacations, rewards,
year-end bonus, etc.
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December 31, 2011

Current

Non current

Share in
profits and
bonds
for employees
ThUS$

Severance
payments
ThUS$

Other
provisions
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Severance
payments
ThUS$

Total provision initial balance at 01.01.11
Additional provisions
Used provision
Increase (decrease) in the foreign currency exchange
Other increase (decrease)

23.031
68.780
(75.424)
(800)
-

22.413
18.577
(40.156)
(49)
-

27.389
14.998
(22.329)
(836)
-

72.833
102.355
(137.909)
(1.685)
-

114.542
13.201
(7.078)
(10.883)
(112)

229
17
-

Total provision, final balance at 12.31.11

15.587

19.222

35.594

109.670

246

785

December 31, 2010

Current

Other
provisions
ThUS$

Non current

Share in
profits and
bonds
for employees
ThUS$

Severance
payments
ThUS$

Other
provisions
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Severance
payments
ThUS$

Total provision initial balance at 01.01.10
Additional provisions
Used provision
Increase (decrease) in the foreign currency exchange
Other increase (decrease)

19.717
31.808
(29.234)
740
-

25.057
(8.218)
12
5.562

22.406
38.893
(34.530)
620
-

42.123
95.758
(71.982)
1.372
5.562

160.355
11.648
(47.153)
5.344
(15.652)

109
120
-

Total provision, final balance at 12.31.10

23.031

22.413

27.389

72.833

114.542

229

Other
provisions
ThUS$

25. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

that was made effective on November 10, 2008.

a) Changes in equity:

Through Order No. 64 of January 23, 2009 the Ministry of
Finance authorized the following:

Article 2 of Law No. 20,278 authorized the Ministry of
Finance to perform for a single time, an extraordinary
contribution of capital to ENAP in the amount of ThUS$
250,000, which will be financed with available resources
in financial assets of the National Treasury. Such contribution was carried out through Supreme Decree No. 1,389 of
October 29, 2008 through which the Treasury Department
proceeded to the modification of the current budget of the
National Treasury which allowed the capital contribution
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a) Temporarily suspend for 2009, the transfer policy of
100% of the annual dividends of the subsidiaries to ENAP,
corresponding to those for the year ended December 31,
2008;
b) Temporarily suspend for 2009, the transfer policy of
profits from ENAP to the Chilean Government (for the
profits generated in 2008).
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The dividend distribution policy that governs ENAP, established by Treasury Resolution No. 25 of August 11, 2005,
which established that ENAP had to transfer a minimum
amount of resources to the Chilean State, whether as income
tax (40%) and/or as anticipated revenues, corresponding
to 14% of profitability over equity, with retained earnings
from prior periods.
On December 23, 2010, the Ministry of Finance, according
to Ord. N° 1495, authorized the profits corresponding to
2007 to be capitalized, for ThUS$ 49,632, whose transfer to
tax was temporarily suspended by Ord. N° 1272 from 2007.
b) Paid-in capital
The detail of the paid in capital as of December 31, 2011
and 2010 is the following:
12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Paid-in capital

1.232.332

1.232.332

Total

1.232.332

1.232.332

• Ensure the normal functioning of its operations and the
continuity of its business in the long-term.
• Ensure the financing of new investments in order to
maintain a continuous growth in the future.
• Maintain an adequate capital structure according to
the economic cycles that impact the business and the
corresponding nature of the industry.
• Maximize the value of the ENAP Group in the long and
medium term.
According to the above, ENAP’s capital requirements are
determined based on the financing needs of the ENAP
Group, trying to maintain an adequate liquidity level and
comply with the financial requirements established in the
current debt contracts and in the commitments agreed
on with the lenders. The ENAP Group manages its capital
structure and performs adjustments based on prevailing
economic conditions, in order to mitigate risks associated
with adverse market conditions and to take advantage of
opportunities that could improve the liquidity position
of the ENAP Group.
c) Other Reserves
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 this item is composed
as follows:

ENAP is a state-owned company (100% property of the
Republic of Chile) and its capital is not divided into shares.
Capital management
ENAP engages in capital management, in order to:

Detail
Transalation of foreign currency (ii)
Held to sale
Cash flow hedge (i)
Other sundry reserves (iii)
Total

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

(73.394)
1.190
(99.784)
29.729

(70.765)
1.190
(77.152)
10.741

(142.259)

(135.986)
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i) Cash flow hedging
Total
12.31.2010
ThUS$

Transfers
ThUS$

Movement 2011
ThUS$

Total
12.31.2011
ThUS$

Income /(loss) recognized in the cash flow hedges of:
Cross-currency swap / Bonds and financial leases
Crude Option Swap
SWAP and Option ZCC interest rate bank loans
Forward and foreign exchange contracts
Swap investee in associates
TSS y SDI
Deferred income tax derivatives

(12.244)
(17.766)
(53.653)
(3.848)
(26.017)
36.376

(23.353)
3.970

(9.879)
17.766
4.544
2.595
(15.318)
2.989
(5.946)

(22.123)
(72.462)
(1.253)
(41.335)
2.989
34.400

Total

(77.152)

(19.383)

(3.249)

(99.784)

ii) Translation reserves of foreign currencies
12.31.2011
ThUS$

iii) Other sundry reserves

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Balance at the beginning of the year
Result of changes in investees
with accounting in local currency

(70.765)

(70.683)

(2.629)

(82)

Total

(73.394)

(70.765)

12.31.2011
ThUS$
Initial balance

19.763

Equity adjustment in
Petropower Energia Ltd.

-

Adjustment to reserves in
Manu Peru y Primax Holding

-

1.893

Adjustment to reserves in Gas de Chile S.A

-

2.536

Adjustment to reserves in
Oleoducto Trasandino Chile S.A

-

3.443

Adjustment to reserves in Sonamar S.A

-

(753)

Adjustment to reserves in Innergy Holdings S.A.

-

59

SPE’s buys
Others
Total

186

10.741

12.31.2010
ThUS$

19.383
(395)
29.729

(374)

(15.826)
10.741
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d) Accumulated earnings (losses)

27. OPERATING SEGMENTS

12.31.2011
ThUS$

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Balance at the beginning of the year
Adjustment Sipetrol Argentina (a)
Income (loss) for the year
Net variation retained
earnings (accumulated loss)

(651.972)
(68.798)

(680.044)
(31.931)
61.394

(1.775)

(1.391)

Total

(722.545)

(651.972)

a) The adjustment corresponds to the effects of calculations’
revision of the deferred taxes associated with fixed assets,
arising from the first adoption of IFRS carried out by the
subsidiary Enap Sipetrol Argentina.

Segment criteria - The segment structure used by ENAP
and defined by the Board of Directors of ENAP, is firstly
related to its business lines and secondly, according to its
geographical distribution.
The aforementioned lines of business are Exploration and
Production; and Refining, Logistics and Distribution.
Main business segments of the consolidated group:
• Exploration and production, including the exploration
operations of hydrocarbons (oil and natural gas) and of
geothermal resources, as well as its development, production and marketing.

26. NON – CONTROLLING INTEREST
The detail per company of the effects originated by the
participation of third parties in the equity and results of
the subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, is the
following:

Non-Controlling
Interest

Entity

12.31.2011 12.31.2010 12.31.2011 12.31.2010
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$

Other companies
(SPEs)
Enap Refinerías S.A. 94
Total

Equity in
income

13.383
116
13.477

11.962
(23)
12.078

1.863

8.732

6
1.840

8.738

• Refining, logistics and distribution, including the activities destined to the acquisition of crude oil and other
supplies for the production; development of the fuel
production (gasoline, diesel, fuel oil, kerosene, liquid
gas, among others) and other products derived from
crude oil (solvents, bases for the production of asphalt,
ethylene and other petro-chemical products); the storage,
transportation and marketing of these products in the
local and international markets, including the wholesale
distribution business in Peru.
The Board of Directors and the General Manager of ENAP
are in charge of the decision making process regarding the
administration, allocation of resources and regarding the
performance assessment of each of the above described
operating segments.
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Segment information of these businesses as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows.

December 31, 2011
Revenues
Revenues, intercompanies
Cost of sales
Cost of sales, intercompanies

Exploration and
Production
(E&P)
ThUS$

Refining, Logistics
and Distribution
(RL&C)
ThUS$

Other
(1)
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

421.602
167.780
(404.300)
(30.498)

10.413.241
591.885
(10.258.255)
(729.394)

(759.665)
759.892

10.834.843
(10.662.555)
-

154.584
1.545
(29.385)
(79.841)
22.667
180

227
4.067
(23.346)
(904)
6.541
3.083

172.288
36.007
(84.667)
(89.248)
29.245
4.244
(98.220)

(69.805)
3
(399)

17.477
30.395
(31.936)
(8.503)
37
981
(7.290)
(175.315)
18.465
(24.828)

18.698
(17.393)

37.166
(42.620)

62.064

(96.132)

(78.832)

(112.900)

(Expense) revenues for income taxes

(16.516)

14.982

47.476

45.942

Income (loss)

45.548

(81.150)

(31.356)

(66.958)

Income (loss) attributable to:
Income (loss) attributable to owners of the parent company
Income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests

45.528
20

(82.970)
1.820

(31.356)
-

(68.798)
1.840

Income (Loss)

45.548

(81.150)

(31.356)

(66.958)

Gross margin
Other operating revenues
Administrative expenses
Other sundry operating expenses
Other income (loss)
Financial revenues
Financial costs
Equity in earnings (loss) of associates
Foreign currency exchange differences
Income (loss) after taxes
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Exploration and
Production
(E&P)
ThUS$

Refining, Logistics
and Distribution
(RL&C)
ThUS$

Other
(1)
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

441.728
126.315
(328.339)
(59.743)

7.738.161
755.015
(7.605.505)
(821.153)

(881.330)
880.896

8.179.889
(7.933.844)
-

Gross margin
Other operating revenues
Administrative expenses
Other sundry operating expenses
Other income (loss)
Financial revenues
Financial costs
Equity in earnings (loss) of associates
Foreign currency exchange differences

179.961
5.896
(36.376)
(34.053)
(4.195)
632
(5.825)
(17)
(1.465)

66.518
17.996
(44.990)
(5.358)
38.224
2.215
(110.452)
14.170
49.972

(434)
8.651
(22.860)
(7.651)
792
(64.854)
8.472
319

246.045
32.543
(104.226)
(47.062)
34.029
3.639
(181.131)
22.625
48.826

Income (loss) after taxes

104.558

28.295

(77.565)

55.288

(Expense) revenues for income taxes

(28.019)

30.695

12.168

14.844

Income (loss)

76.539

58.990

(65.397)

70.132

Income (loss) attributable to:
Income (loss) attributable to owners of the parent company
Income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests

76.488
51

48.030
10.960

(63.124)
(2.273)

61.394
8.738

Income (Loss)

76.539

58.990

(65.397)

70.132

December 31, 2010
Revenues
Revenues, intercompanies
Cost of sales
Cost of sales, intercompanies

(1) This line presents the elimination adjustments in consolidation, being the most relevant items the transactions of
revenues and costs for the purchase/sale of products and raw material between the companies of the ENAP Group and
corporative transactions.
Below is a detail of income from sales to third parties:
12.31.2011

12.31.2010

Exploration
and Production
ThUS$

Refining,
Logistics and
Distribution
MUS$

Total
MUS$

National
Foreign

81.373
340.229

9.977.057
436.184

10.058.430
776.413

Total

421.602

10.413.241

10.834.843

Geographical sales

Refining,
Logistics and
Distribution
MUS$

Total
MUS$

133.437
308.291

7.464.559
273.602

7.597.996
581.893

441.728

7.738.161

8.179.889

Exploration and
Production
MUS$
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12.31.2011
Exploration and
Production
ThUS$

Refining,
Logistics and
Distribution
ThUS$

Crude
Gas
Liquefied petroleum gas
Gasoline
Kerosene
Diesel
Fuel Oil
Petrochemical
Other products
Sale of services, national
Venta de Servicios, extranjeros
Other income, national
Other income, foreign

247.051
58.917
227
10.756
91.670
9.091
3.890

Total

421.602

Sale of products

12.31.2010

Total
ThUS$

Exploration
and Production
ThUS$

Refining,
Logistics and
Distribution
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

118.319
495.377
694.529
2.521.556
670.661
4.543.761
948.833
156.893
245.635
4.037
10.099
3.541

365.370
554.294
694.756
2.521.556
670.661
4.543.761
948.833
156.893
245.635
14.793
91.670
19.190
7.431

198.170
91.084
1.575
32.424
87.656
9.928
20.891

199.988
518.973
1.824.145
655.098
3.438.074
821.890
86.351
179.380
14.262
-

198.170
291.072
520.548
1.824.145
655.098
3.438.074
821.890
86.351
179.380
32.424
87.656
24.190
20.891

10.413.241

10.834.843

441.728

7.738.161

8.179.889

The marketing of refined products by Enap Refinerías S.A.
(ERSA), is channeled through wholesale distribution companies of fuels and other products. The subsidiary ERSA
maintains supply contracts with its major clients, ensuring
an adequate supply of fuel throughout the country.

28. REVENUES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Along with the abovementioned, in 2011 ERSA continued
selling part of its production to regional markets, in particular Peru, Ecuador and Central America.

Detail

The ENAP Group’s main clients at a national level are
Copec, Petrobras, Terpel, Shell, Lipigas, Abastecedora de
Combustibles and Methanex.
Assets and liabilities for Operating Segments
Currently the ENAP Group does not maintain a control and
register of the assets for reportable segments in its internal
reporting system; consequently such information is not
used by the Board as part of de decision-making process
and allocation of resources. The financial liabilities of ENAP
are centralized and controlled at the corporate level and
are not presented by reportable segments.
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The detail of this item at December 31, 2011 and 2010 is
as follows:

Sale of crude oil
Sale of gas
Sale of refined products
Sale of oil services
Other operating income
Total

12.31.2011

12.31.2010

ThUS$

ThUS$

365.370
554.294
9.782.095
106.463
26.621

198.170
291.072
7.525.486
120.080
45.081

10.834.843

8.179.889

ENAP’s statement of income reflects a drop in revenues
because of the drop in gas sales in the twelfth region
as compared to the rest of the country. As of December
31, 2011 management has estimated this reduction to be
approximately ThUS$ 46,000 (ThUS$ 48,000 prior year).
These figures are not a part of the accounting and consequently are not audited by our external auditors.
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29. FINANCIAL COSTS

31. EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

The detail of this item at December 31, 2011 and 2010 is
as follows:

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the detail of the assets and
liabilities generating exchange differences are as follows:

Concepts

12.31.2011

12.31.2010

ThUS$

ThUS$

Interests from overdraft and bank borrowings 38.208
Interests from bonds payable
102.019
Interests from lease obligations
515
Expenses for interests accounts payable
19.619
Expense for other
4.305
Total expenses for interests

164.666

36.104
85.235
528
14.231
13.368
149.466

Income / Loss for liquidations from
derivatives (swap)
20.509
Other effects for the valuation of
derivatives (time value and ineffectiveness)
468
Accrued interests for swap
6.046
Less:
Capitalized interests
(16.374)

(10.969)

Total

181.131

175.315

38.073
(843)
5.404

Cash and cash equivalents

12.31.2011

12.31.2010

ThUS$

ThUS$

Wages and salaries
Short term benefits for employees
Other personnel expenses
Other long-term benefits

162.392
113.817
6.371
27.788

158.859
123.810
6.470
34.707

Total

310.368

323.846

ThUS$

(2.939)

(35)

(31.949)

42.074

Trade and other receivables

(58.002)

55.247

Forward income (loss)

11.907

(20.968)

Due from related companies,
current

(5.423)

3.495

9.498

(4.925)

20.733

(11.978)

2.789

(2.638)

11.291

(11.003)

(39.205)

68.360

39.198

(69.298)

Income tax payable
Trade debtors and other
accounts payable

Non-current accruals

The detail of this item at December 31, 2011 and 2010 is
as follows:

12.31.2010

ThUS$

Other non-financial assets, current

Current accruals

30. PERSONNEL COSTS

12.31.2011

Other financial liabilities, current
and non-current
Income (loss) hedging other financial
liabilities, current and non-current
Other
Total

(518)

495

(42.620)

48.826
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32. FOREIGN CURRENCY
Funcional
Currency

Currency

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Chilean Pesos
Argentine Pesos
British Pound
Chilean Pesos
Chilean Pesos
UF
$ Argentinos
Chilean Pesos
Chilean Pesos
UF
$ Argentinos
$ Reajustable
Chilean Pesos
$ Reajustable
Chilean Pesos
$ Reajustable
$ Argentinos
$ Reajustable
Chilean Pesos

Other non-financial assets, current
Trade and other receivables, current

Due from related companies, current
Current tax assets, current

Other financial assets, non-current
Other non-financial assets, non-current
Rights receivable, non-current

Investments recorded using the equity method
Deferred taxes assets

Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars

Total

12.31.2011

Other financial liabilities
non-current
Other accounts payable, non-current
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current accruals for
employee benefits
Total
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5.402
1.648
82
1.823
663.773
1.112
17.504
3.734
22.990
123.409
19.031
73.637
12.779
20
24.885
543
197

944.860

972.569

12.31.2010

91 days to
1 year

Chilean Pesos
UF

Dollars
Dollars

1.869

150.859

-

-

10.019

2.898

-

-

Chilean Pesos
Argentine Pesos
Chilean Pesos
Chilean Pesos
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentine Pesos

Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars

137.352
38
1.567
96
46.848
4.101

515
-

-

-

144.234
223
3.332
64
71.314
121
1.698

237
-

-

-

Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentine Pesos

Dollars
Dollars
Dollars

11.010
2.149

753
15.670
-

-

-

21.915
1.909

41.463
-

-

-

UF
Chilean Pesos
Chilean Pesos
Argentine Pesos

Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars

-

-

2.913
171
39.198

422.581
-

-

-

160.840
5.507
195
39.520

451.514
- -

Chilean Pesos
UF

Dollars
Dollars

-

-

15.985
16.846

41.288
35.797

-

-

29.879

3.646
81.017

205.030

167.797

75.113

499.666

254.829

44.598

235.941

536.177

Other financial liabilities, current

Current accruals for
employee benefits

96.157
1.610
82
7.331
706.083
1.165
18.003
2.781
3.293
60.057
6.821
18.427
9
220
20.016
32
2.773

Up to 90
Days

Currency

Due to related companies, current
Other short-term accruals
Deferred tax liabilities

12.31.2010
ThUS$

Funcional
Currency

Liabilities

Trade debtors and other
accounts payable

12.31.2011
ThUS$

1 year up
to 5 years

More than
5 years

Up to 90
Days

91 days to
1 year

1 year up More than
to 5 years 5 years
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33. ENVIRONMENT ACTIVITIES
The detail of the expenses incurred for of environmental activities as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, is as follows:

Project

Classification Description

Liquid industrial residues
Normalization of facilities
Procurement of environmental permits
Environmental liabilities project
Environmental restorations
Handling of residues
New alkylation unit
Extension of production capacity of
diesel low sulphur
Installation of double seals process pumps
“Improvement in tank drainage
handling for gasoline and kerosene”
Improvement in treatment system for oil water
Installation at a system to handle drainage
Monitoring of odors
2008 – 2012 Environmental agreement: soil
2008 – 2012 Environnmental agreement:
air quality
Environmental services
Depreciation
Disposal of residues
Acid plant
Sulphur plant
Desulphuration plant of gasoline
Desulphuration plant of diesel
Striper acid waters
Treatment of effluents
Sanitation environmental liabilities
Sanitation environmental liabilities
Sanitation environmental liabilities
Sanitation environmental liabilities
Sanitation environmental liabilities
Implementation of environmental
management system
Remediation of environmental liabilities
Remediation of environmental liabilities
Remediation of environmental liabilities
Remediation of environmental liabilities
Total

12.31.2011
ThUS$

Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Asset

Transport of reinjection water Isla Tierra del Fuego
Handling of sewage water Bahía Laredo
Obtaining of environmental permits for projects
Remediation of pits
Environmental work by the Island - Continent Administration
Contract for thedisposal of solid industrial and dangerous residues
Construction, advisories, material and equipment contracts

Asset
Asset

12.31.2010
ThUS$

114
57
625
40
921
536

38
530
381
1.574
514
307
31.847

Construction, advisories, material and equipment contracts
Construction, advisories, material and equipment contracts

-

8.986
630

Asset
Asset
Asset
Expense
Expense

Construction, advisories, material and equipment contracts
Construction, advisories, material and equipment contracts
Construction, advisories, material and equipment contracts
Construction, advisories, material and equipment contracts
Construction, advisories, material and equipment contracts

145
41

10
103
21
32
-

Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense

Construction, advisories, material and equipment contracts
Advisories
Depreciation
Advisories
Operating costs of the plant
Operating costs of the plant
Operating costs of the plant
Operating costs of the plant
Operating costs of the plant
Operating costs of the plant
Mauro Dávalos Cordero (Ecuador)
Mauro Dávalos Cordero (Ecuador)
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (Ecuador)
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (Ecuador)
Area Magallanes

328
708
273
887
498
73
4.716
167
13
706
519
511
740
534
454

183
68
1.370
498
166
4.596
110
217
642
494
760
330
317
645

Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense
Expense

Area Magallanes
CCCP
PDC
CAM2
Egypt

251
578
1.006
5
23

316
462
940
10
8

15.469

57.105
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The detail of disbursements after December 31, 2011 is as follows:
Amount
ThUS$

Estimated
dates of
disbursements

Proyect

Classification

Description

Normalization of facilities
Procurement of environmental permits

Expenses
Expenses

214

Year 2012

Environmental liabilities project
Sanitation drill cuttings buried in the CPF in 2004 drilling
campaign in MDC. It will the first phase
of remediation 25% gravel
Sanitation environmental liabilities E. PARADISE
Tank inspection (Res 785/05)
Capturing gas emissions
Revegetation of disturbed areas
Environmental monitoring
Export management elect material. c / PCB
Reconstruction of marine outfall
Campus platea chemicals
Oil waste treatment
Research, monitoring and simulation

Assets

Handling of sewage water Bahía Laredo
Environmental work by the Isla Tierra del
Fuego and Continent Administration
Mauro Dávalos Cordero (Ecuador)

40
296

Monthly payments
Debit to proyect

Expenses
Expenses
Expenses
Expenses
Assets
Expenses
Expenses
Assets
Assets
Expenses
Expenses

Mauro Dávalos Cordero (Ecuador)
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (Ecuador)
Pampa del Castillo
Pampa del Castillo
Pampa del Castillo
Pampa del Castillo
Pampa del Castillo
Área Magallanes
Área Magallanes
Área Magallanes
Área Magallanes

222
222
300
240
40
45
200
75
75
70
97

Debit to proyect
Debit to proyect
Debit to proyect
Debit to proyect
Debit to proyect
Debit to proyect
Debit to proyect
Debit to proyect
Debit to proyect
Debit to proyect
Debit to proyect

The rest of the companies that belong to the consolidated group have not made expenditures on environmental
activities during the year.
34. LAWSUITS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS
There are various lawsuits and legal actions that against
ENAP, which are derived from its operations and the industry in which they operate. In general, these judgments
are caused by civil, tax, labor actions.
At the time of preparation of these consolidated financial
statements, no accounting provisions have been made because in the opinion of management and its legal counsel,
these lawsuits do not represent a probable material loss and
there is less probability of a present obligation than the
probability of non-existence or this probability is remote,
under the terms stated in IAS 37.
The details of the main trials and status as of the date
of these consolidated financial statements are as follows:
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In Chile:
There are 48 cases reported for an unspecified amount for
compensation claims for damages for extra contractual
responsibility during the oil spill incident occurred on
May 25, 2007 in the Bay of San Vicente, the Biobío Region,
during unloading of oil from the ship “New Constellation”
at Terminal B of the Bío Bío Refinery, owned by ERSA.
The demands are primarily from fishermen and gatherers
of seaweed and shellfish. There was also a claim filed by
the State Defense Council, and two cases in the Courts
of Letters of Talcahuano, one by Talcahuano Municipality
Docket 3020, which the amount of the claim is indeterminate and a civil suit for damages filed by certain owners
of restaurants in Caleta Lenga, Docket 2099, amounting
to ThUS$ 722.
ENAP has classified these judgments as non-essential,
because it has enough evidence and legal arguments to
reasonably estimate the cost of the legal action that will
be required to conclude them. In connection with trials, it
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is worth mentioning that the Conception’s Court of Appeals
opinion dated November 14, 2007, which was confirmed by
the E. Supreme Court on December 18, 2007, rejected all
appeals for protection filed against ERSA related to the oil
spill. ENAP has a liability insurance that has been activated
and could cover this eventual contingency.
Pantaleon Perez Perez vs. ENAP, Docket No,: 766-2010, 1
Court of Letters of Punta Arenas, damages claim due to
an accident, status: given transfer to replicate, amounts
ThUS$ 579.
Constructora Extreme South Ltda. vs. Empresa Nacional
del Petróleo. Case No. C – 1921-2010, before the 3rd
Court of Punta Arenas. A claim for specific performance
in 2009. ENAP must file the respondent’s rejoinder and
the counterclaimant’s replication. Amount: ThUS$ 405.
Maldonado vs. Empresa Nacional del Petróleo. Case No.
O-3724 -2011, before the 2nd Labor Court of Santiago. An
indemnity claim for a work accident. Awaiting the initial
hearing. Amount: ThUS$ 385.
Rodrigo Ojeda Osorio vs. ENAP, Docket No,: 726-2010, Court
or place: 1st Court of Letters of Punta Arenas, damages
claim in connection with an accident at work in 2009,
status: dilatory exception is welcomed by ENAP, amended
complaint, pending notification, amount ThUS$ 375.
Other domestic subsidiaries:
Labor cases: 16 cases, of which 7 correspond to subsidiary
and /or joint liability for an amount of up to ThUS$ 945
(one of them indeterminate) 2 for simulation up to ThUS$
883, one for compensation for a work related accident up
to ThUS$ 577 and seven employee entitlements amounting
to ThUS$ 530 (one of them undetermined).
Civil cases: two cases, one for fatality compensation
amounting to ThUS$ 925 and one in compensation for
damages for ThUS$ 148.

Overseas:
For overseas operations, the ENAP Group has the following
suits:
Argentina
Directorate General of Customs (DGA) in Rio Grande,
Tierra del Fuego Province, Expte, DGA 13289-328 - 2010,
adjustment process of export settlements for a claimed
amount of ThUS$ 5,280. On January 7, 2010 a response was
presented against the charges. The evidentiary period has
began and an official letter was sent to the Department
of Energy of Argentina.
National Tax Tribunal, File No, 26203-A (General Directorate
of Customs in Rio Gallegos, 13289-31034-2006 File No,),
amount claimed ThUS$ 3,235, an appeal was filed before
the Tax Court’s Office against the resolution that confirms
the disputed charges, dated September 4, 2009, to date,
the Court has not reached a resolution.
Instituto de Energía Santa Cruz (Santa Cruz Energy Institute), Case File 000.130/10. Gasoline Royalties. Amount
claimed: THUS$ 1,423. The Energy Institute of the Province
of Santa Cruz (IESC) did not accept the answer provided
by the company and requested payment of the amount.
An appeal was filed with the President of the IESC. A
compensation and payment agreement was signed with
the Province of Santa Cruz under which both Enap Sipetrol
Argentina S.A. and the Energy Institute of the Province
of Santa Cruz mutually offset credits owed by each other.
IESC offset the Claim for Gasoline Royalties and Enap Sipetrol Argentina the credit for the sale of natural gas to
the provincial government-owned public utilities company.
As a result, the administrative proceeding regarding the
claim for gasoline royalties ended and was quashed and
only a balance is owed to Enap Sipetrol Argentina that is
being gradually automatically offset against the hydrocarbon royalties that the company must pay to the Province
based on its sales.
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Internal Revenue Office of Chubut. Case File IRO 779/08.
Decision ex officio according to the terms of Order No.1
/2008 of the Office of the Fuels Undersecretary (SSC) for
the payment of royalties totaling ThUS$ 1,266. ENAP filed
an action seeking a declaration of certainty with the National Supreme Court of Justice. It simultaneously petitioned
for a no-change order that will allow it to continue paying
the royalties pursuant to law until the dispute is heard
and there is a firm decision. The Supreme Court sustained
the no-change order. The action filed by ENAP was still
pending on the date of these financial statements.
District Civil Court and Federal Commercial Court No. 10,
Clerk’s Office No. 9, Case File 12,500/07, “Succession of
Granson, Peter vs. Enap Sipetrol Argentina SA regarding
Easements,” which is a damage indemnity claim. The claim
amount is ThUS$ 1,210. The amplification of the claim
was answered and new evidenced was offered. The court
decided to bear this evidence in mind. The evidentiary
stage began. At the close of the financial statements, a
preventive attachment had been placed in the amount of
ThUS$ 1,047.
The General Customs Office of Rio Gallegos. Case File No.
13289-2302-2007 (Contest 02/2007). These proceedings
are to adjust export settlements corresponding to customs
charges 126 to 130. The amount involved is ThUS$ 812.
The company has proven that it filed Report Requests with
the Department of Energy of Argentina.

1000293P, 1000169R and 1000326M. A contest was filed.
The customs house declared that the appeal could be
heard and ordered an evidentiary file opened. ThUS$ 537
is claimed.
First Instance Civil, Commercial, Labor and Mining Court
2 of the City of Río Gallegos. Case 13476/10, García Omar
Miguel vs. Nuevo Cerro Dragón SA et al., dismissal and
collection of salary differential. The amount claimed is
ThUS$ 460. Enap Sipetrol Argentina is being sued as a
joint and several debtor. The evidentiary hearing was held
on March 10, 2011.
Central Bank of the Republic of Argentina (BCRA), BCRA
Exchange Inquests 3221 and 3582, Case Files 40288/02
and 21427/04, “Sipetrol Argentina SA et al. under Law
19,359.” Presumed infringements of letters e) and f) of
article 1 of the Criminal Exchange Act occurring in 2002.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina SA did not pay/convert all of the
foreign currency from its sale of petroleum products on
the local market because it considered that the Freely
Available Foreign Currency System was in effect and there
was a consequent obligation to pay/convert only 30% on
the local market. The BCRA concluded the hearing stage
(charges, defenses, presentation of evidence, pleas) and
the case files were sent to the Criminal Courts, where they
are in an inquest stage.
Ecuador

AFIP vs. Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. Case 836/10, The
National First Instance Tax Criminal Court, hearing and
official determination of debt for failure to pay income tax
in 2004 and 2005. ThUS$ 571 is claimed. The first instance
decision was in favor of Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and
the government’s petition was dismissed. AFIP appealed to
the Appellate Chamber, where a new proceeding has begun.

A number of tax cases, in different stages of objections to
the investments, revenues and expenditures costs based
on specific service contracts that Sipetrol S.A. have in the
fields Mauro Davalos Cordero (MDC) and Paraiso Biguno
Huachito (PBH) for the years 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005,
2006, 2007, for a maximum of ThUS$ 10,000, in the event
of losing all trials and in all instances.

The General Customs Bureau of Rio Grande, Province of
Tierra del Fuego, Case SIGEA 12817-208-2011. Charges were
made regarding exports under shipments EC 0 10000275P,

There are 65 labor lawsuits against Enap Sipetrol S.A.,
presented in the Labor Courts of Pichincha, which demand
compensation for 15% of profits earned by the subsidiary
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between the years 2003 to 2010, the amount is up to ThUS$
500 each, and the lawsuits are in the testing process.

piration of the agreement (2018) or on any other date
agreed by the parties.
2. GNL Chile S.A.

Commercial Commitments:
The Company has the following commercial commitments
related to its operations:

On May 31, 2007, Enap Refinerías S.A. signed a natural
gas sales contract with GNL Chile S.A. that guarantees
the necessary supply for the operation of its Aconcagua
Refinery in the district of Concón.

1. Petropower Energía Ltda.
Upon celebration of the partners’ agreement between
Enap Refinerías S.A. and Foster Wheeler related to the
project Petropower in January 1996, Enap Refinerías S.A.
granted a liability statement regarding the obligations
arising from such agreement. In relation to the project
Petropower, the Parent Company entered in 1994 into an
agreement committing itself to the payment of an annual
processing fee of approximately US$17.4 million for the
right to operate its delayed coking and hydrotreatment
plant and an annual fee of approximately ThUS$ 9.9 for
the supply of certain energy products. This agreement is
subject to annual increases until the expiration of the
agreement in 2018.
Other conditions in the agreement require, in case of a
reduction in the annual income defined in the processing
contract and business agreements and after the Operator
of the plant has contributed 10% of such shortfall that
ENAP and its subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. participate
in 50% and Foster Wheeler in 50% of the balance of such
shortfall, which should not exceed ThUS$ 1.400 per year.
In addition, Enap Refinerías S.A. is obligated to either
purchase or arrange for the sale of assets of Petropower
Energía Ltda. for not less than ThUS$ 43.000 at the ex-

This contract is for a 21-year period as of the ECOD, and
it allows accessing a degasification capacity of 3.2 million
cubic meters per day, and to the same amount of natural
gas, as long as it has the corresponding contracts for the
LNG supply. On the same date, GNL Chile S.A. signed a
contract with BG allowing Enap Refinerías S.A. to access
a maximum annual contractual amount of LNG, equivalent
to 2.2 million cubic meters of natural gas per day. The
supply of liquefied natural gas began in August 2009. The
contract obligations for Enap Refinerías S.A. under the
natural gas supply contract have been guaranteed by its
parent company Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP).
On June 15, 2010, this contract was amended to include
the Truck Loading Facility that will give Enap Refinerías
S.A. access to an additional amount of approximately 1,085
cubic meters of liquefied natural gas per day.
This sales contract is part of a series of commercial contracts
of the LNG Project that were definitely signed on May 31,
2007. This project has the purpose of purchasing liquefied
natural gas (LNG) abroad, storing it and regasifying it in
the Regasifying Facility located in the municipalities of
Quinteros and Punchuncaví in the country’s Region V, and
the supply of natural gas to the south and central zone
of the country.
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3. Petróleos Marinos de Chile Ltda.
On May 1, 2006, Enap Refinerías S.A. (ERSA) signed two
contracts with Petróleos Marinos de Chile Ltda. (PMC),
one for Oil Pipeline transportation and another for product supply.
The oil pipeline transportation agreement consisted of
PMC transporting Fuel Oil, IFOS and Cutter Stock by an
oil pipeline that connects ERSA’s Quintero Terminal to the
fuel terminal located in Greda Alta, owned by Puerto Ventanas S.A. Under this contract, ERSA undertook to move
a minimum 550,000 MT in all events in each year of the
contract. This contract was terminated on April 30, 2011.
Under the supply contract, ERSA undertook to sell and
deliver the following marine fuel or Bunkering products
continuously: IFO 380 RMG 35; IFO 180 RME 25; Diesel
Oil. This contract was replaced on July 1, 2010 by a new
supply contract for IFO 380 and IFO 180 only, that was
then terminated on April 30, 2011. On May 1, 2011, ERSA
and PMC signed a new supply contract for one year under
which ERSA promised to deliver only IFO 380 continuously.
4. Empresa de Gas de la V Región S.A.
On February 9, 2005, Empresa de Gas de la V Región S.A.
(GasValpo) and Enap Refinerías S.A. (ERSA) signed a natural
gas supply contract, through which GasValpo would supply
natural gas to ERSA for use in its production processes in
the V Region and who’s expiration date is April 25, 2018.
In April 2009, due to the starting of operations of the storage
and degasification terminal owned by the company GNL
Quintero S.A., which allows ERSA to purchase natural gas
at better commercial conditions. ERSA became a supplier
of that product to GasValpo. As a result, GasValpo made
the terms and conditions of the Argentine Natural Gas Su-
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pply Contract more flexible by eliminating the take-or-pay
obligation once it began receiving natural gas from GNL;
and by adding the payment of a sales fee that will give it
the right to natural gas from Argentina at the same price
that GasValpo pays its supplier, should ERSA need it and
the gas be available. Nevertheless, ERSA shall continue
paying the corresponding transport tariff.
During 2009, the company achieved a decrease in the
transportation tariff of 55.05%, maintaining the same
available capacity for ERSA and from October 2010, a
new agreement was made through which ERSA obtained a
new reduction in the monthly cost, reducing the available
capacity from 500 Mm3/d to 297 Mm3/d.
5. New commercial contracts
During the last quarter of 2010, the ENAP Group, within
a new Commercial Policy, started a negotiation process
with the distributing companies among which Copec,
Terpel, Petrobras and Shell are included, among others.
The main purpose of this new policy, together with the
signing of new contracts, is to sell products with one-year
contracts, in order to plan and guarantee the delivery of
fuel, according to the volumes and dates programmed by
our customers. This would allow the granting of discounts
for programming according to the signed agreements. As of
March 2011, the signature of Terpel, Petrobras, Shell, Cabal,
Santa Elena, COPEC, Gasco and others had been obtained
in these negotiations, of benefit to all parties so that they
can operate more optimally and safely.
Restrictions:
ENAP - At December 31, 2011, the Company has no restrictions or covenants to comply with its creditor banks
and public bonds.
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Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. - According to applicable
Argentine legislation the company must allocate 5% of the
year’s income to building a statutory reserve, which is an
account forming part of the net shareholders’ equity, until
such reserve is equal to 20% of the adjusted paid-in capital.

tificates of deposit from suppliers or contractors to guarantee compliance of service and construction contracts,
for ThUS$ 13,086.
35. GUARANTEES COMMITTED WITH THIRD PARTIES

Pledges from third parties:
a) Direct Guarantees Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
ENAP - On December 31, 2011, ENAP Group received cerCreditor of the guarantee

Description

Type of Guarantee

Subsecretaria de Mineria

Guarantees compliance with investment and block work of
CEOP Caupolicán ThUS$ 4,428, valid until April 2012

Bank Guarantee Ballot

Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas,
valid until January 31, 2012

Letter of Credit Banco Chile

14.099

Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas,
valid until January 31, 2012

Letter of Credit Banco Chile

13.617

Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas,
valid until March 1, 2012

Letter of Credit BNP

19.310

Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas,
valid until March 1, 2012

Letter of Credit BNP

6.926

Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas,
valid until March 1, 2012

Letter of Credit BNP

5.527

Garantiza el costo de retiro de las obras o construcciones adheridas al suelo
concesionado, conforme a A.D.S (M) N ° 297 de 2007, boleta bancaria emitida
en pesos por el Banco Chile, válida hasta el 22 de mayo de 2012.

Bank Guarantee Ballot

380

Guarantee full compliance with the contract for the sale of electric power,
valid until February 28, 2013

Bank Guarantee Ballot

4.200

Pledge of shares in Petrosul S.A. owned by ENAP Refinerías S.A., to guarantee repayment
of credit obtained for funding of project for ThUS$20,921, current up to year 2012.

Pledge of shares

-

Pledge of shares in Etalsa S.A. owned by ENAP Refinerías S.A., to guarantee repayment
of credit obtained for funding of project for ThUS$30,500, current up to year 2012.

Pledge of shares

-

Pledge on 22.199.866 shares of Productora de Diesel S.A. owned by ENAP to guarantee
the repayment of credit obtained to finance the project, amount to ThUS$110.451
which is valid until 2016.

Pledge of shares

-

Pledge on 100.000 shares of Compañía de Hidrogeno del Bío Bío S.A. owned by ENAP to
guarantee the repayment of credit obtained to finance the project, which is valid until 2015.

Pledge of shares

-

Pledge of 1.010.000 shares of Energía Concón S.A. shares owned by ENAP Refinerias S.A.,
guaranteeing the payment of the loan obtained to finance the project until 2020.

Pledge of shares

-

EGAS

Guarantee for the minimum exploration obligation for Area 2- Rommana in Egypt.

Stand by

Secretaría de Hidrocarburos
Ecuador (SHE)

A 20% guarantee for Jambelí 3 Block investments and activities

An on-demand guarantee

BG LNG Trading, LLC-GNL
BG LNG Trading, LLC-GNL
BG LNG Trading, LLC-GNL
BG LNG Trading, LLC-GNL
BG LNG Trading, LLC-GNL
Director General del
Territorio y Marina Mercante
Pacific Hydro Chile S.A.
Banco KfW
Banco KfW
Banco BNP Paribas

Société Généralé
Citigroup

ThUS$
4.428

10.000
2.300
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36. CONSOLIDATION ENVIRONMENT
a) Below is a detail of the percentage interest held in companies that have been consolidated:
Ownership
pecentage

Percentage with
voting rights

Company

Country

Currency

12.31.2011

12.31.2010

12.31.2011

12.31.2010

Enap Refinerias S.A.
Enap Sipetrol
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Manu Perú Holding S.A.
Éteres y Alcoholes S.A.
Petrosul S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Productora de Diesel S.A.
Cía. de Hidrógeno del Bío - Bío S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol (UK) Limited
Sipetrol International S.A.
Sociedad Internacional Petrolera Enap Ecuador S.A.

Chile
Chile
Argentina
Chile
Perú
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Argentina
Reino Unido
Uruguay
Ecuador

US dollar
US dollar
US dollar
US dollar
US dollar
US dollar
US dollar
US dollar
US dollar
US dollar
US dollar
US dollar
US dollar
US dollar

99,98%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
10%
100%
100%
100%
100%

99,98%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
10%
100%
100%
100%
100%

99,98%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
10%
100%
100%
100%
100%

99,98%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
10%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Relación
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Special purpose entity
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary

On December 20, 2010, ENAP Group, through ENAP Refinerias S.A., carried out the following shares purchases:
• 515,106 shares of Energía Concón S.A. (ENERCON), representing 51% of the shares of the company. With this
purchase, Enap Group holds 100% of ENERCON´s shares
at December 31, 2010.
• 5,826 shares in Éteres y Alcoholes S.A. (ETALSA), representing 58.26% of the shares of the company. With this
purchase, Enap Group holds 100% of ETALSA´s shares at
December 31, 2010.
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• 5,261 shares in Petrosul S.A., representing 52.61% of the
shares of the company. With this purchase, Enap Group
holds 100% of Petrosul S.A´s shares at December 31, 2010.
• 12.209.926 shares in Productora de Diesel S.A. (PRODISA),
representing 55% of the shares of the company. With this
purchase, Enap Group holds 100% of PRODISA´s shares
at December 31, 2010.
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b) The business of consolidated companies:

Company

Activity

Enap Refinerias S.A.

Purchase and refining of crude oil and by-products

Enap Sipetrol S.A.

Exploration, production and marketing of hydrocarbons and render advisory services in Chile and abroad

Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.

Petroleum services

Gas de Chile S.A.

Import, export and operation in general of all kinds of fuels and by-products, specially natural gas in any of its phases.

Manu Perú Holding S.A.

Import and marketing of fuels and lubricants through wholesalers

Éteres y Alcoholes S.A.

Manufacturing of other chemical products N.C.P.

Petrosul S.A.

Data processing services

Energía Concón S.A.

Feasibility study

Productora de Diesel S.A.

Processing and construction services of refineries, by-products

Cía. de Hidrógeno del Bío - Bío S.A.

Construction and operation of an industrial plant, located in the facilities of Enap Refinerías S.A., in the district of Talcahuano and
destined to the production of high quality hydrogen

Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.

Generation of Uniones Transitorias de Empresas (UTE) [similar to Joint Ventures], collaboration groups, joint venture, consortiums or
other kinds of associations to explore, exploit and transport hydrocarbons

Enap Sipetrol (UK) Limited

Prospections, explore, develop, maintain and work with land, wells, mines and mining exploitation rights, drilling rights and concessions
in areas containing oil, gas or other minerals.

Sipetrol International S.A.

Make and administrate investments. One or more of the activities related to the exploration, exploitation or benefits from fields
containing hydrocarbons.

Sociedad Internacional
Petrolera Enap Ecuador

Exploration, exploitation, processing, distribution, marketing, transport and oil services
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c) Summary financial information on subsidiaries, including the special-purpose entity.
December 31, 2011

Company
Enap Refinerias S.A.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Manu Perú Holding S.A.
Éteres y Alcoholes S.A.
Petrosul S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Productora de Diesel S.A.
Cía. de Hidrógeno del Bío - Bío S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol (UK) Limited
Sipetrol International S.A.
Sociedad Internacional Petrolera Enap Ecuador

Assets
Current
ThUS$

Company
Enap Refinerías S.A.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Manu Perú Holding S.A.
Éteres y Alcoholes S.A.
Petrosul S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Productora de Diesel S.A.
Cía. de Hidrógeno del Bío - Bío S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol (UK) Limited
Sipetrol International S.A.
Sociedad Internacional Petrolera Enap Ecuador

Non-current
ThUS$

2.321.783
164.654
1.686
703
89.590
998
2.778
38.444
13.286
4.179
65.172
1.215
62.521
6

December 31, 2010

Liabilities

2.297.377
519.272
32
2.773
75.377
17.739
19.151
407.236
57.284
24.049
346.450
41.552
-

Current
ThUS$

Non-current
ThUS$

Revenues
ThUS$

Expenses
ThUS$

3.499.749
260.041
117
4
64.158
646
3.237
43.025
11.395
3.377
153.039
168
9.060
25

627.280
173.505
2.642
4.006
402.816
47.356
9.982
53.226
29.117
-

10.407.604
336.994
1.241
370.914
3.283
2.221
30.718
7.737
4.477
187.929
67.321
-

(10.437.706)
(255.700)
(1.023)
(360.295)
(550)
(700)
(5.200)
(2.640)
(1.210)
(186.315)
(23.124)
-

Income
of the year
ThUS$
(116.962)
51.319
(16)
190
20.876
1.937
860
5.129
1.832
2.070
4.016
36.462
-

Liabilities

Assets
Current
ThUS$

Non-current
ThUS$

Current
ThUS$

Non-current
ThUS$

Revenues
ThUS$

Expenses
ThUS$

1.936.683
46.705
1.761
754
74.347
4.011
2.842
36.868
13.010
3.092
60.396
1.215
34.460
6

2.241.276
402.725
104
2.890
62.666
18.594
23.095
434.532
75.675
26.084
302.199
37.607
-

2.941.693
88.446
248
2
40.128
4.979
3.334
41.232
10.432
3.521
110.218
168
8.318
25

656.849
111.604
3.533
8.518
424.137
68.025
12.363
51.025
30.315
-

7.953.821
86.117
1.154
254.295
3.742
2.365
32.651
8.311
3.768
187.071
47.027
-

(7.926.185)
(43.268)
(931)
(241.492)
(568)
(700)
(5.150)
(2.601)
(1.210)
(154.131)
(18.861)
-

Income
of the year
ThUS$
29.903
37.295
98
12
18.504
1.965
1.137
7.682
1.832
2.208
10.206
11.943
(1)

37. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On March 20, 2012, we learned that YPF S.A. have been notified of a decree issued by the Government of the Province
of Chubut in the Republic of Argentina declaring that the
Exploitation Concession for the Cañadón Perdido–Central
Camp oil field was invalid, which was operated and held
by YPF jointly in equal proportions with our subsidiary,
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
ENAP is evaluating the validity, scopes and eventual
effects of this measure and the possible legal actions and
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mechanisms to fight it.
As of December 31, 2011, the net investment in this area
of operation was 48 million dollars. No provisions have
been made.
From January 1, 2012 up to the issue date of these financial
statements, there have been no others subsequent events
that could significantly affect the reasonability of them.
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